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Corporate Information (Continued)

AFEH (W)
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Financial Summary
MEIHE

Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December

2023 2022 2021 2019

—E_=E “E--F “E-—% —E-NE

+=B=+-B T A=T B t-A=t H +-A=1+—H

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TER TET TET TAT TAT

Revenue Wiz 35,207 18,898 23427 25,689 42,005

(Loss)/Profit hefore tax BHA (B18) /B (23,755) (12.902) 2,683 1,108 10,219

Income tax (expense)/credit B (i) /#H% 926 (1,406) 958 919 (757)

(Loss)/Profit for the year TEE (BR) /B (22,829) (14,308) 3,641 2,027 9,462

(Loss)/Profit attributable to AR EHEA

owners of the Company it (B8) /BH (22,829) (14,308) 3,641 2,027 9,462

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAR

As at As at As at As at As at
31 December | 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—E-= —F-- —E-F —E-FF —E-NE
+ZA=+-8 +zZA=t+-A +ZB=t-B t+zZA=+-A +=R=1-H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FER TET TET TAT TAT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES ~2ERE&fE
Total assets BEEE 390,200 414,437 441,761 439,508 430,302
Total liabilities BEEE (11,281) (11913) (12,100) (16,604) (19,148)
Net assets FEE 378,919 402,524 479,661 422 904 411,154
PER SHARE DATA sERET
As at As at As at As at As at
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
it S 3 i Sl -2 “E--F “E-FF “E-N\E
tZA=+-B tZA=+t-B +ZA=+-H tZA=+-A tZA=+-H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FABL THL TET THL
(Loss)/Earnings per share BR(58) /B (1.99) (1.25) 0.32 0.18 083
Net book value per share BREMFE (1.99) 35.14 3751 3692 3589

4 FUJIAN HOLDINGS LIMITED e« ANNUAL REPORT 2023



Financial Summary (Continued)
MHHE (8)

(LOSS)/PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY

ARRBEAEM(BR)BR

(excluding extra-ordinary items)

(T EREFETEIERE)
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Financial Summary (Continued)
MHHE (1])

As of 31 December 2023 2022 Changes
R+=—A=+—H —E-=F = :
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Financial highlights MEEE
Revenue & 35,207 18,898 86.30
Loss for the year KEFHE (22,829) (14,308) 59.55
Loss per share S EE
(HK cents per share) (FARAAL)
Basic BN (1.99) (1.25) 59.20
Diluted i (1.99) (1.25) 59.20
RMB RMB
AR AR
Average daily room rate FHEREE 340 305 11.48%
Hotel occupancy rate B IE AE & 67% 26% 157.69%
Liquidity ratios REBELLLE
Current ratio M ED b 2 3.68 3.82
Average trade receivables ¥ 8 F EIRFIE
turnover days® R R EO 19.63 9.88
Capital ratio B =x
Gearing ratio? BEEBEKLER 3% 3%
Notes: B

Q] Average trade receivables turnover days is equal to the average of the
beginning and closing trade and bills receivables balance divided by
turnover and multiplied by the number of days in the year.

2 Gearing ratio equals total liabilities divided by total equity.
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Chairman’s Statement
EREE

On behalf of the Board (the “Board”) of Directors (the
“Directors”) of Fujian Holdings Limited (the “Company”), |
hereby present the annual report and the audited condensed
consolidated financial statements of the Company together
with its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 December 2023 (“reporting year” or the “year
under review”) to the shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”).

BUSINESS REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group recorded
a turnover of approximately HK$35.21 million, representing
an increase of approximately 86.30% as compared to
approximately HK$18.90 million in the corresponding period
last year.

Net loss attributable to Shareholders was approximately
HK$22.83 million for the reporting year (2022: Net loss
attribute to Shareholders was approximately HK$14.31
million).

Loss per share was approximately 1.99 HK cent for the
year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Loss per share was
approximately 1.25 HK cent).

Net assets (Total assets less total liabilities) decreased by
approximately HK$23.60 million to approximately HK$378.92
million as at 31 December 2023 compared with HK$402.52
million as at 31 December 2022.

DIVIDENDS

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2023.

PROSPECTS

Looking ahead, despite the ongoing adjustments in the real
estate market, full recovery of the leisure travel and business
travel are expected to take a long time. However, with the
gradual elimination of domestic and external uncertainties
as well as the gradual recovery of consumer confidence,
we will cautiously maintain an optimistic view of the market
prospect in the future as China’s economy is still expected
to improve and is poised for a strong recovery. We will seize
the opportunities for upgrading and transformation and the
long-term development trends of the green environmental
industry, cultural tourism, and related industries, relying on
our advantages in Fujian Province, we will persist in seeking
progress while maintaining stability. We will strengthen
coordination and actively promote transformative integration,
continuously enhancing the intrinsic driving force and long-
term competitiveness for the sustained development of the
Group.

AANEREBEBERBRAA (F$’&TJ)
%%’WT%%AJ&F%%JH ERN/N]
HfE AR (8 *mFZIKEJ)EYI_y_E
$+:ﬂf+ Bk (TR & 8] ok [ o] B8
H1]) 2 FERE R EZXE PR S M5 HR
RUHEARBBRR(BRDEE

0|

KEO B

BE_T_=—F+-"A=t+—HILZFE"
AEBMEEBHRINEEB T BEFH
H%1,890 BB TTLLE - £ TH4986.30%

R|EH  KRBFHAE ARIHEE2,283
BET(ZZE-__F EHEBEBEN1INE
BIT) e

BE-_Z-_=—F#+-_A=+—HIZ75E "
EREBIOBIN(ZE-—F : §REIA
#431.25%40) -

FEE(BEERBREBR I KEBEE-_ZE -
F+-A=Z+—B1-2402528 B T T [%
#]2,360 BB ITLEH B37,8NBETT ©

B2

BE_Z_=-"F+_HA=1+—BLFE"
EETERREEMRE -

RMRERE

REREK  BEFHMEDSGREAE  KHE
BEEREBERNCE2EHFAFDTERER
—BREH - BEZEEARNTEEERRZE
FHE  HEELETIME  FEEER
ERD A aF XA Lok ShE & - BT R 2K/
MRS IDREEREBREE - HAKILE
BT ARERI RS TERBRERESX X
kﬁﬁﬁ&ﬁ?ﬁ&%ﬂﬁ%ﬁ%@%%@ C K 5

RMRNERH 2 B2 - BEERDE - 1%
GERE  REEEEEEA  THRAA

EEPERE E’JWE@HJEE%%HH@%%J‘J °

—=FH o MBERARATF 7



Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

EREHWE (W)

The Group is actively responding to the complex and
ever- changing external environment, accelerating the
review of existing businesses and continuously updating
business strategies to adapt to future development. It is
actively studying the revitalization and optimization plan
for stock assets such as Hong Kong properties to improve
asset management efficiency and unlock value, and
continues to strengthen the integration of hotel resources,
cultural tourism industry, green environmental protection
industry, equity investment, and other business clusters.
It is actively expanding new business models, promoting
further interconnection between the mainland and Hong
Kong markets, establishing a core business industry chain,
and strengthening its core competitiveness. The Group
has always attached importance to corporate governance,
actively promoted the construction of an internal control
system and compliance management, strengthened
governance mechanisms, and continuously enhanced its risk
prevention and control capabilities to provide strong support
for realizing the healthy and sustainable development of the
Group.

The overall goal of the Group is to comprehensively utilise
the Group’s resources, effectively fulfil the corporate
social responsibility and to maximise every Shareholder’s
interest. The group will actively integrate into the national
development, give full play to the institutional strengths of
the "one country, two systems” and the unique effect of
Hong Kong, adhere to the core business construction, adhere
to seek improvement in stability development, improve brand
connotation. With innovative thinking to promote reform
of the Group, adopt market-oriented incentive mechanism
combining internal training and external professional to build
a professional, efficient and effective talent team so as to
improve the potential and group resources of internal value.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I ' would like to take this opportunity to extend my sincere
gratitude to all Shareholders, business partners and
customers for their support, and to all our colleagues for
their efforts, hard work and dedication.

Lin Nuchao
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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Management Discussion and Analysis

THBEWRS

BUSINESS REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
recorded net loss attributable to owners of the Company
of approximately HK$22.83 million (2022: loss of HK$14.31
million). The Group’s net loss is mainly attributable to (i) loss
arising on change in fair value of investment properties; (ii)
loss arising on change in fair value of financial assets at fair
value through profit and loss and (iii) a weak rental market
during the period under review.

The turnover of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2023 amounted to approximately HK$35.21 million,
representing an increase of approximately 86.30% from
approximately HK$18.90 million in the corresponding year.
The increase is mainly due to the increase in business
volume of star-rated hotel operation during the year under
review.

Given our good balance sheet status and cash generation
ability, our financial position continues to be strong. As at
31 December 2023, the gearing ratio (divided total liabilities
by equity multiple by 100 which results in percentage) of the
Group was 2.98% (2022: 2.67%).

Our group has consistently maintained a low debt ratio
and possesses ample liquidity. By enhancing internal
management, training, and improving systems, we will
further focus on cost control to minimize cash outflows.

OPERATIONAL REVIEW

A. Star-rated hotel operation

Star-rated hotel operation is the main source of
revenue for the Group. Based on the hotel location and
its current facility structure, the hotel is positioned as
a leisure and business hotel, expanding its sources of
conference and training clients. It will also increase
cultural cultivation such as the “Comrade’s Home”,
“Chamber of Commerce Home", “Calligrapher’s Home"
and "Aid Friend’'s Home", and establish an “Education
and Training Base”.

REDOE

BE-_T-_=ZF+-_A=+—BHZFERN"
AEEHGARARFE ARIGEIED2.283

BET(ZE - 2714311%/%m§ﬂa)0
AEENFEERTER I\ REEED
%2 Fo(E 2k 8 Eﬁféﬂa:n%i@ﬁﬂﬁ

REAABEER SMEEA S ENRE
B 6548 % ) BB PO L 75 T S 55 P K o

BE_T_=€+_A=+—R2z=E
N AEBEEEBHNAIEST B
FRMAH180EBTZHTLE - EFL

86.30% ° LL N EBR RN EIBEHAERE
JE R B AIB INPTER ©

ERAEEETHNEEAGMRKNR
BREDRTBERRIGERR - iéti_;
T=FE+-A=+t—HZEER K£EH
éleiéf hE(REBEERAESBEZA
D) B298% (ZFEZZ4F : 2.67%) °

AEE-ERFEAGBLEREGRHBHN
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BEHE E-TEBRA  FERIRS
ik e

EEMOR

A EFRBIEEE

ERBERERAEB T EWRARIR -
BREBBEBRRE & RiEEBIRMN -
BEEEMAKRBREEE ARSH
FIER - MARBEZR] [Ag82
R EERZK] ERZRIFX
e 8 B [HEHEIE] -
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
EHEFWRESR (8)

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the turnover of
the hotel operation was approximately HK$31.32 million
(2022: HK$14.39 million), representing an increase of
approximately 118% from the corresponding year.
The increase mentioned above is mainly attributable
to the situation of epidemic prevention and control
in the mainland is steadily improving and domestic
consumption of Mainland continues to rebound.

For the period under review, the average occupancy
rate was approximately 67% (2022: 26%), representing
an increase of 158% over the corresponding year.
Average daily rate (ADR) was approximately RMB340
(2022: RMB305) representing an increase of 11% over
the corresponding year.

The following table sets out the amount and percentage
of contributions from different businesses of the star-
rated hotel operation for the year ended 31 December
2023, together with comparative figures as of 31
December 2022:

31 December 2023

HE-_Z-_=F+-_A=+—82#%
BR - BIEEEENAE31NEBT(=
T F 143988 )  BREFE
F47118% o Ll EF B MR AT KFE -
Wi BT FEER  BEEBE

M H B 54 B FTER o

REBHR - FHAERL E67% (=
T F H26%) BREAFHERE
HIA FFH#7158% © FHBREBEIL
BARBIMOT(ZE-_—F: ARK
3057L) - MEFHAELREHA AL
1% °

AEBERBELEBRE _T =%
TZA=T—H B0BREBNEE
BEEEEEEASLE T - —
TZA=+—HRASPEEAT :

31 December 2022

—E-=F+-R=+-H [ESSS G A
HK$ in % of HK$ in % of
thousand revenue thousand revenue
FET & FHETT iU
Accommodation revenue REHERA 16,691 53% 6,198 4%
Catering EHRH 12,630 40% 6,244 43%
Rental revenue A U A 872 3% 1,157 8%
Others Ei 1,122 4% 787 8%
31,315 100% 14,386 100%

Accommodation revenue EEHEKWA

10

The accommodation revenue was mainly determined
by the number of available rooms, occupancy rate
and ADR of the Group’s hotel. During the year, the
accommodation revenue of star-rated hotel was
approximately HK$16.69 million, representing an
increase of approximately 169% over the corresponding
year of 2022.
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Catering revenue

Since 2015, the hotel has vigorously developed its
group catering business. During the review period, the
group generated approximately HK$12.63 million in
revenue, representing an increase of approximately
102% over the corresponding year.

High quality customer service, strong cultural
atmosphere, good geographical location is the
core competitive advantage of the hotel. Our hotel
management is taking active measures to deal with
the epidemic such as practice its internal skills, expand
diversified operations and start the catering sales
function. Including develop the wedding banquet, the
moon cake banquet, year-end banquet, graduation
banquet, other banguet online to offline business
and introducing the “Teacher Appreciation Banquet”
WecChat official account for our hotel. We also carry
out online sales cooperation with the banquet network
platforms “Wedding 100" (% #2 100) and "Banquet
Ge Ge” (E#%1%) and we are also collaborating with
third parties to launch Peking duck products, thereby
diversifying our dining business model to achieve initial
results in the expansion to extension of the banquet
and group meals.

Looking forward, the consumer demand for leisure
travel and business travel is gradually released and the
confidence of the domestic hotel market is gradually
recovered. The hotel business is gradually back to the
right track.

Rental revenue

In order to stabilise the income of the hotel operation,
the hotel leased out the shopping center in the Group’s
hotel. This contributed to approximately HK$0.87
million in rental revenue during the year under review,
representing approximately 3% of the hotel operation’s
turnover.

Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
EHEFWRESR (8)

BEHREA

ARG BEANBEEHEERE
75 RO BRI AR E B RL 1,263
EBTHRAREF R EF102% °
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
EHEFWRESR (8)

12

Hong Kong properties held by the Group

Hong Kong's economy is affected by various external
factors, many enterprises in Hong Kong have decided
to move out of Central due to cost savings and some
office tenants have delayed or shelved office leases, so
the Hong Kong Grade A office market constantly under
pressure and the group’s investment property project
rental rate is only about 80% during the review period.
As demand remains weak and expected commercial
property market rents remain under pressure, the
outlook for the year will remain uncertain.

During the period under review, the rental income
of the properties in Hong Kong was approximately
HK$3.89 million, compared to the corresponding period
of last year representing a decrease of approximately
14%.

Piano Manufacturing

The Group diversified its business into piano
manufacturing by acquiring a 25% equity interest in
Fuzhou Harmony Piano Co. Ltd. ("Harmony Piano”)
in 2005. This business interest has brought a steady
profit to the Group for the past few years. However,
the Group recorded a share of loss from its interest
in Harmony Piano approximately HK$0.77 million for
the period under review due to declining market sales
and rising manufacturing materials (2022: loss of
approximately HK$1.74 million).

Finance Leasing

The Company as at 31 December 2023 held direct
equity interest of 18.44% in Fujian Huamin Leasing
Company Limited (fRi2ZERE R EMRE B R A R]) ("Fujian
Huamin Leasing”). Fujian Huamin Leasing is a PRC
incorporated company and is principally engaged in the
provision of financial leasing and associated services.
The investment cost of the significant investment was
HK$76.42 million. The fair value of the equity interest in
Fujian Huamin Leasing was HK$95.07 million as at 31
December 2023, representing approximately 24.36%
of the total assets of the Company as at 31 December
2023

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the interest
in finance leasing contributed approximately HK$9.44
million loss in fair value which designated at fair
value through profit or loss for the year (2022: loss of
approximately HK$2.33 million).
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

THEMWRRSH (1)

FUTURE DEVELOPMENT

The global political situation remains complex, with
challenges and opportunities coexisting. It is in adversity that
courage and determination are revealed, and it is through
honing our skills that we achieve success. In the future,
our group will concentrate its resources and actively seize
opportunities, striving to expand marketing channels and
further consolidate our existing markets. We will also seek
a balance between maintaining our current market share
and achieving reasonable profit margins. When conditions
are favourable, we will explore new markets to enhance
the brand influence of our company and actively explore
online sales. Furthermore, we will continue to enhance our
marketing efforts and foster innovative thinking to create
differentiated value for our customers, attracting new
clients while retaining existing ones. In terms of operational
management, our group will strengthen the management
and control of the supply chain, continuously improve service
capabilities and operational efficiency, and work towards
improving our current business situation by optimizing
various costs. Regarding investment management, we will
adhere to our core principles, exercise strict risk control,
and continue to seek assets with healthy profitability and
excellent growth potential for long-term investments. We
believe that as market demand gradually recovers, the
company's operational performance will continue to steadily
improve, unlocking the potential and intrinsic value of our
enterprise resources.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Capital Structure

As at 31 December 2023, the total share capital of the
Company was HK$898,839,029 divided into 1,145,546,000
ordinary shares.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

THEMWRRASH (1)

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had a net cash balance
of approximately HK$39.47 million (2022: HK$39.73 million).
The Group’s net asset value (assets less liabilities) was
approximately HK$378.92 million (2022: HK$402.52 million),
with a liquidity ratio (ratio of current assets to current
liabilities) of 3.68 (2022: 3.82). During the year under review,
there was no material change in the Group’s funding and
treasury policies. The Directors do not expect the Company
to experience any problem with liquidity and financial
resources in the foreseeable future.

Charge on Assets

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had not charged any of
its assets (2022: Nil).

Funding and Treasury Policies

The funding and treasury policies of existing subsidiaries
of the Group are centrally managed and controlled by the
Group’s senior management in Hong Kong.

Treasury Management and Cash Funding

The Group’s funding and treasury policies are designed to
maintain a diversified and balanced debt profile and financing
structure. The Group continues to monitor its cash flow
position and debt profile, and to enhance the cost-efficiency
of funding initiatives by its centralised treasury function. In
order to maintain financial flexibility and adequate liquidity
for the Group’s operations, potential investments and growth,
the Group has built a strong base of funding resources and
will keep exploring cost-efficient ways of financing.

Bank Loans and Other Borrowings

There was no outstanding bank loan and other borrowing by
the Company and the Group as at 31 December 2023 (2022:
Nil).
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

THEMWRRSH (1)

Capitalised Borrowing Costs

No borrowing cost was being capitalised during the year
ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

Exposure to Fluctuation in Exchange Rate and
Related Hedges

There has been no significant change in the Group's policy in
terms of exchange rate exposure. The Group operates mainly
in Hong Kong and Mainland China. Most of the transactions
and cash and cash equivalents are denominated in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$") and in Renminbi (“RMB"). The Group is
exposed to foreign currency risk due to the exchange rate
fluctuation of RMB against HK$. Moderate fluctuation of RMB
against HK$ was expected. The Group considered the foreign
currency risk exposure is acceptable. However, management
of the Group will monitor foreign exposure closely and
consider the use of hedging instruments when necessary.

As most of the Company’s business operations are located in
Hong Kong and Mainland China, the Company faces foreign
currency risks due to exchange gain/loss from exchange
rate fluctuations as well as currency conversion risk due to
converted net asset value fluctuations of investment projects
in Mainland China. To effectively manage foreign currency
risk, the Company closely monitors foreign exchange
markets, and utilises multiple strategic approaches, such as
optimising cash management strategy and project finance
instruments, to manage foreign exchange risk.

Material Acquisitions and Disposals
During the year under review, there were no material

acquisition or disposal of any subsidiary, associate or joint
venture of the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

THEMWRRASH (1)

Capital Expenditure and Commitment

During the year under review, the Group’s capital expenditure
was HK$0.03 million (2022: HK$0.62 million). There was no
outstanding capital commitments as at 31 December 2023
and 2022.

Contingent Liability

The Group did not have any significant contingent liability
during the year under review.

Major Events

Save as aforesaid, the Group had no material capital
commitments and no future plans for material investments
or capital assets as at 31 December 2023.

As at 31 December 2023, the Company had only one
significant investment with a value over 5 per cent of the
total assets of the Company as at 31 December 2023. The
significant investment represented the direct equity interest
of 18.44% held in Fujian Huamin Leasing Company Limited
(R EMEMEE AR 2QA]) ("Fujian Huamin Leasing”)
by the Company as at 31 December 2023. Fujian Huamin
Leasing is a PRC incorporated company and is principally
engaged in the provision of financial leasing and associated
services. The investment cost of the significant investment
was approximately HK$76.42 million. The fair value of the
equity interest in Fujian Huamin Leasing was approximately
HK$95.07 million as at 31 December 2023, representing
approximately 24.36% of the total assets of the Company as
at 31 December 2023. During the year ended 31 December
2023, the significant investment in Fujian Huamin Leasing
contributed a loss arising on change in fair value of financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss of HK$9.44 million
and no dividend was earned during the year. The Board
considers that the significant investment in Fujian Huamin
Leasing allows the Group to take advantage of the tax and
financial benefits from the China (Fujian) Pilot Free Trade
Zone (REI(fB2)BHE HHBE) and diversify the
business of the Group to leasing and associated services
within the Fujian Province, PRC and also allow the Group to
diversify its streams of income.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

THEMWRRSH (1)

Human Resources

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had approximately 131
employees in Hong Kong and Xiamen. The remuneration
package was determined with reference to performance
and the prevailing market rate. The Group also provides
employees with training, the opportunity to join its mandatory
provident fund scheme and medical insurance cover.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

There was no Company'’s reserve available for distribution to
shareholders as at 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

DIVIDENDS

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2023.

PURCHASES, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries, had purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities
during the year ended 31 December 2023.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as its own
code of conduct for dealings in securities of the Company
by the Directors. In response to specific enquiries made, all
Directors confirmed that they had complied with the required
standards of dealings as set out in the Model Code during
the year.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

EFREREEARRBE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Lin Nuchao (“Ms. Lin") has been appointed as the
chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”) and an executive
Director in June 2022, she is responsible for the overall
strategic planning of the Group.

Ms. Lin, aged 50, is currently the vice chairman and general
manager of Fujian Tourism Development Group Company
Limited ({824 ik 922 B £ E AR 2 A]). She is responsible
for the daily operation.

Ms. Lin holds a master’s degree in literature from Fujian
Normal University (1222 Rh# X 2) and holds a postgraduate
qualification in ancient Chinese literature from the College of
Chinese Language and Literature (@ &2 RH €5 K 23020t ). Ms.
Lin has experienced working in multiple levels and positions,
and has strong overall coordination and management abilities
and has rich experience in administrative management
and enterprise operation. Ms. Lin has taken up a number
of management posts, including principal staff member of
general affairs office of Fujian Province, manager of general
affairs office and deputy general manager of liaison and
coordination office of Fujian Enterprise (Holdings) Company
Limited (ZE (5 E) B R A 7]), general manager of general
affairs office of Fujian Huamin Industrial Group Company
Limited (1R 2 E B & 2 (£ E) A R 2 7l), chairman of the
board of Fujian CTS Group (& i # ik & B & PR 2 &]) and
chief of office, vice general manager, general manager and
vice chairman of the board of Fujian Tourism Development
Group Company Limited (f2 2 & IkEZEREBE B R A ).
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

EEREREEARREBE ()

Mr. Yang Liyu (“Mr. Yang") has been appointed as the
general manager of the Company (the “General Manager”)
and an executive Director in June 2022, he is responsible for
the general operation and management of the Company and
to execute the overall strategic planning of the Group.

Mr. Yang, aged 50, is a deputy general manager of Fujian
Tourism Development Group Company Limited (184 Jik %
EHREEAFR A F]), general manager of Fujian Enterpnses
(Holdings) Company Limited (¥ (5 ®) A R 2 &) and
principle-in-charge of businesses in Hong Kong.

Mr. Yang holds a bachelor’s degree in accounting from China
Central Radio and TV University (fF R E & B 18 K2). He is
having worked in Hong Kong for a long time, this individual
possesses a certain level of international perspective and
strong experience in business management and capital
operation. In 2017, he was evaluated as an outstanding talent
for provincial state-owned enterprises (expert in cross-border
business management) by the Fujian Provincial State-owned
Assets Supervision and Administration Commission and
awarded the honor of Qutstanding Entrepreneur of the 19th
Fujian Province in the year 2022. Mr. Yang served as deputy
general manager and chief financial officer of Dongguan
Changming Toy Factory (52 & B3It A &), general manager
of Huamin Tourism Company Limited. (ZEEREBR A
general manager of Fujian Enterprises (Holdings) Company
Limited (Z£ & (& &) & BR 2 7)), chairman of the board and
general manager of Fujian Huam|n lndustnal Group Company
Limited (182 ZE B B 2 (%K &) A R 2 A1), general manager
of Fujian Enterprises (Holdings) Company Limited (= & (%
)& BR 2 7)), and chief of office, general manager assistant
and general manager of Fujian Tourism Development Group
Company Limited (R A IKEERERBR A R])

Mr. Zhang Jianmin (“Mr. Zhang") has been appointed as an
executive Director in June 2022, he is assisting the general
manager in the daily operations of the Group.

Mr. Zhang, aged 56, has over 30 years' experience in finance
management. He has taken up a number of management
posts, including the director and chief financial officer of
Fujian Huamin Industrial Group Company Limited (& 2 %
MEZXER)FR QA and Fuznou Harmony Piano Co.,

Ltd. (48 /N 0 22 8 = Bk {5 A BR 2 7)), an assistant director
of finance department of Funan Tounsm Development
Group Company Limited (B2 A KR EE FR A A

and director and chief financial officer of Fujian Investment
Holdings Company Limited (B E S BB R Q). Mr.
Zhang obtained his bachelor degree in economics from
Xiamen University in the People’s Republic of China. Mr.
Zhang is a senior economist.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

EEREREEARRE ()

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. WENG Weijian (“Ms. Weng"), aged 53, joined the
Company in September 2018 as non-executive Director.

Ms. Weng graduated in the major of finance and accounting
from Minjiang University and in the major of law from East
China University of Political Science and Law. She is a Senior
Accountant in Mainland China. She has over 25 years'
extensive experience in risk management and control,
accounting, assets management and financial management.
She is currently the Supervisor of Min Xin Insurance Company
Limited, Fujian Minxin Investments Company Limited and
Sanming Sanyuan District Minxin Micro Credit Company
Limited. She is currently a Chief Auditor of Min Xin Holdings
Limited (Stock Code: 00222), and also a director of Land
Hot (Hong Kong) Limited, Jian Xing Finance Limited, Fancy
Time Investment Limited and Sino Earn Holdings Limited, a
substantial shareholder of the Company.

Ms. Chen Danyun (“Ms. Chen”), former General Manager
and executive Director of the Company and has been re-
designated to a non-executive Director in June 2022.

Ms. Chen, aged 59, joined the Company in August 2015.
She was an executive Director and the General Manager
till June 2022. Ms. Chen has over 30 years of experience in
international trade, corporate management and investment
management. Ms. Chen has taken up a number of senior
management posts. She is currently the secretary of
Communist Party Committee and general manager of Fujian
Huamin Industrial Group Company Limited ({232 ZERIE 2 (&
=) BB 2AA).

Ms. Chen graduated from Xiamen University with a
bachelor’s degree in economics and obtained her Master of
Business of Administration degree from Murdoch University
in Australia. She is a senior economist.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

EEREREEARREBE ()

Mr. Huang Songgqing (“Mr. Huang"), aged 52, joined the
Company in March 2024 as non-executive Director.

Mr. Huang currently serves as the Chairman of Fujian
Investment and Development Investment Group Co., Ltd.
He is responsible for the overall management of over 20
companies under Fujian Tourism Development Group Limited
in Hong Kong.

Mr. Huang holds a bachelor’s degree in Industrial
Management Engineering from Tianjin University of
Ccommerce (K& % K2) (formerly known as Tianjin
Business school (X Z & £ Fc)). He has held managerial
positions in various departments or wholly-owned and joint
ventures of provincial state-owned enterprises in mainland
China. From 2002 to 2004, he was assigned to work in Hong
Kong for two years. He served as an official in the Fujian
Provincial Government State-owned Assets Supervision
and Administration Commission from 2012 to 2014. He is
familiar with the operational models and related regulations
of mainland state-owned enterprises and mixed-ownership
enterprises, and has a certain international perspective and
extensive experience in management and capital operations.

Mr. Huang has previously held positions such as Deputy
General Manager of Dongguan Changming Toy Factory
(R EITAEMA R A a]), Deputy General Manager of
Investment Planning Department of Fujian Huamin Industry
Group Co., Ltd. (fe 2 E= B & % (£ &) AR 2 7)), Director of
Operation and Management Department of Fujian Tourism
Development Group Co., Ltd. ((BiEEIREZEREBER A
&), Chairman of Fujian Fulv Tourism Co., Ltd. (48 2 & Jik ik
#2515 B IR A 7)), Director of Fujian Huamin Industry Group
Co., Ltd. (t2 ZZEBE X (£ E) B R 7)), Director of Fujian
Lv Fa Scenic Area Operation Management Co., Ltd. (& & ik
EEREZEHEAMRAF), and Employee Director of Fujian
Tourism Development Group Co., Ltd. ({812 & Ik 3 R £ &
BRARD.

Mr. Huang has obtained the legal advice from legal advisers
under Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules on 6 March 2024
and has confirmed that he understood his obligations as a
Director of the Company.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

EEREREEARRE ()

Mr. WANG Ruilian ("Mr. Wang"), aged 60, is a hon-executive
Director of the Company, and Mr. Wang was an executive
director and general manager of the Company from July 2006
to October 2015. With effect from 19 October 2015, Mr. Wang
has resigned as executive director and general manager of
the Group and has been re-designated from an executive
Director to a non-executive Director.

Mr. Wang has over 35 years' experience in management
and finance. Mr. Wang has previously been sent to oversea
companies to take up a number of senior management
posts, including a director and vice general manager of the
Finance Department of Fujian Investment and Development
Company Limited, and the managing director of Fujian
Enterprises (Hungary) Co., Ltd. Currently, he is a director of
finance department of Fujian Tourism Development Group
Company Limited (FTDC).

Mr. Wang acquired his bachelor degree in economics
from Xiamen University in the PRC and master degree
of International Management from Australian National
University in Australia.

Mr. Wang has reached the retirement age and resigned as
the non-executive director of the Company with effect from
7 March 2024.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. LAM Kwong Siu (“Mr. Lam”), GBS, aged 89, was
the representative of the National People’s Congress
(10th Session). He is currently the vice chairman of BOC
International Holdings Limited, the honorary chairman of
Hong Kong Federation of Fujian Association, the life honorary
chairman of Hong Kong Fukien Chamber of Commerce, the
vice chairman of Fujian-Hong Kong Economic Cooperation,
the life honorary chairman of the Chinese General Chamber
of Commerce and the Adviser of the Hong Kong Chinese
Enterprises Association, the honorary president of Chinese
Bankers Club, Hong Kong and the Chairs of the board of
governors of Hong Kong Chu Hai College Limited. Mr. Lam
is also the Independent Non-executive Director of Bank of
China International Limited, Yuzhou Properties Company
Limited, Xinyi Glass Holdings Limited, Far East Consortium
International Limited. Mr. Lam was awarded the HKSAR Silver
Bauhinia Star in 2003 and HKSAR Gold Bauhinia Star in 2016.

Mr. Lam joined the Group and was appointed as independent
non-executive director in 11 December 2003.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

EEREREEARREBE ()

Mr. NG Man Kung (“Mr. Ng"), aged 72, graduated from
Hong Kong Polytechnic University with an attendance
certificate in banking. Mr. Ng has been senior management
in banking industry of Hong Kong for 28 years. He was
appointed as the Managing Director and General Manager
of Chiyu Banking Corporation Limited in 1992 and the vice-
chairman and Chief Executive of Chiyu Banking Corporation
Limited in 2001. He retired from Chiyu Banking Corporation
Limited in 2012. Mr. Ng was a member of the council of the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University from April 1999 to March
2003 and was a member of Fujian Provincial Committee
of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference
from 1993 to 2013. Mr. Ng was served as a management
consultant of China Orient Asset Management (International)
Holdings Limited from January 2014 to April 2015. Mr. Ng was
served as an independent non-executive director of Guoan
International Limited (Stock Code: 143) from 11 March 2016
to 26 February 2021, Renco Holdings Group Limited (Stock
Code: 2323) from 23 March 2016 to 21 March 2022 and
Shanghai Zendai Property Limited (Stock Code: 755) from 25
May 2017 to 11 January 2021. Mr. Ng was served as a non-
executive director of Roma Group Limited (Stock Code: 8072
— GEM) from 24 August 2017 to 18 December 2017. Currently,
Mr. Ng serves as an independent non-executive director of
ELL Environmental Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1395) from
5 September 2014, the Chairman of Supervisor Committee
of Well Link Bank in Macau from 31 March 2018 and an
independent non-executive director of Green Future Food
Hydrocolloid Marine Science Company Limited (Stock Code:
1084) from 25 September 2019

Mr. Ng joined the Group and was appointed as independent
non-executive director on 30 June 2014.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

EEREREEARRE ()

Ms. LIU Mei Ling Rhoda (“Ms. Liu”), aged 62, joined the
Group on 1 January 2019 as independent non-executive
director, chairman of audit committee, and committee
member of nomination committee and remuneration
committee.

Ms. Liu is a Member of the Canadian Institute of Chartered
Professional Accountants, Fellow Practicing Member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Fellow
Member of the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong, and Fellow
Member of the Hong Kong Institute of Directors. Ms. Liu holds
a Bachelor of Art Degree in Finance and Commercial Studies
from University of Western Ontario in Canada, Professional
Degree in China Law from Tsinghua University in China, and
a Master of Business Administration Degree from McMaster
University in Canada. Ms. Liu is currently a Practicing
Certified Public Accountant in Hong Kong and senior partner
of Liu & Wong, Certified Public Accountants. Ms. Liu is an
independent non-executive director and the chairperson of
the audit committee of Modern Health Technology Holdings
Limited (Stock code: 919).

Ms. Liu is a member of the 13th Liaoning Provincial

Committee of The Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference.
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Directors’ Report
EREE

The Directors present the annual report and the consolidated
audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND
GEOGRAPHICAL ANALYSIS OF
OPERATIONS

The principal activities of the Company are investment
holding, hotel business and property investment and those of
its subsidiaries are disclosed in note 19 to the consolidated
financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s revenue and contribution to
results by principal activities and geographical area of
operation for the year ended 31 December 2023 is set out in
note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results and cash flow of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2023 and the financial status of the Group and
the Company as at 31 December 2023 are set out in the
consolidated financial statements on pages 77 to 82.

DIVIDENDS

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2023.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the statement of net assets/
liabilities of the Group for the last financial years is set out on
pages 4 1o 6.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)
EREE (E)

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, sales to the Group's five largest customers
accounted for approximately 44.45% (2022: 23.41%) of the
Group's total sales for the year and the largest customer
included therein amounted to approximately 15.87% (2022:
6.56%).

Purchases from the Group's five largest suppliers accounted
for approximately 61.40% (2022: 48.14%) of the Group’s
total purchases for the year and purchase from the largest
supplier included therein amounted to approximately 15.21%
(2022: 18.34%).

None of the Directors of the Company, or any of his/her
associates or shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of
the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued
share capital), had any beneficial interest in the Group's five
largest customers or suppliers.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and of the Company
for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out on page 80
and in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

There was no Company'’s reserve available for distribution to
shareholders as at 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Details of the movements in right-of-use assets of the
Group are set out in note 17 to the consolidated financial
statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

At 31 December 2023, the investment properties of the
Group were revalued by an independent firm of professional
surveyor and property valuer on an open market value basis
at HK$227.10 million. Details of these and other movements
during the year in the investment properties of the Group are
set out in note 18 to the consolidated financial statements
respectively and particulars property interests.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)
ERERE (E)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment
of the Group are set out in note 16 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES

Particulars of the Company'’s subsidiaries and associates for
the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in notes 19
and 20 to the consolidated financial statements.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE OF THE GROUP

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company
are set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial
statements.

As at 31 December 2023, the share capital of the Company
consisted of 1,145,546,000 ordinary shares.

CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

During the year, there were no continuing connected
transactions which were required to be disclosed in
accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

None of the related party transactions as set out in note
35 to the consolidated financial statements constituted a
connected transaction under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)
EREE (E)

OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY

As at the date of this report, no accidents involving serious
injuries, death or property damage has been reported
to our management. Furthermore, during the reporting
period, we were not subject to any claims arising from any
material accidents involving personal injuries or death or
property damage that had a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition or results of operation. We were
in compliance with all relevant PRC laws and regulations
regarding occupational health and safety in all material
respects during the reporting period and as at the date of
this annual report.

Environmental Policies and Compliance

We are committed to minimise the impact of our activities on
the environment. To this end, various impact assessments
have been undertaken and policies created which are in line
with international best practices and long term sustainability.

The core values of our environmental policy are to meet all
the environmental legislations that relate to our operations.

In addition to full compliance with all laws relevant
to sustaining and improving the environment, we are
committed to deploying ecologically friendly construction
techniques, materials and operational procedures. It is policy
of the Group to promote clean operation and strives to
making the most efficient use of resources in its operations,
and minimising wastes and emission. The Group achieves
this through actively re-designing its activities and operation
that encourage and promote recycling of resources,
using environmental friendly raw materials and reviewing
operations constantly to ensure that the processes are
effective and efficient.

No environmental claims, lawsuits, penalties or
administrative sanctions were reported to our management
during the reporting period. We are of the view that we were
in compliance with all relevant laws and regulations in all
material respects during the reporting period and as at the
date of this annual report.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)
ERERE (E)

RISK AND UNCERTAINTIES

Our Group's financial condition, results of operations and
business prospects may be affected by a number of risks and
uncertainties directly or indirectly pertaining to our Group's
businesses. The following are the key risks and uncertainties
identified by our Group. There may be other risks and
uncertainties in addition to those shown below which are not
known to our Group or which may not be material now but
could turn out to be material in the future.

Economic risks

A severe or prolonged downturn of the global economy.

Fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rate, inflation
and fluctuations of interest rates would adversely affect
the customers’ spending sentiment and the Group's profit
margin.

Operational risks

Failure to compete in the competitive environment which the
Group operates in;

Unable to keep pace with the technological advances in
timely and cost-efficient manner; and

Failure to attract, train, retain, and motivate highly skilled
and qualified managerial, sales, marketing, operating, and
technical personnel, the loss of key personnel, or the inability
to find additional qualified personnel.

Regulatory risks

Failure to adhere to laws, regulations and rules, or to obtain
or maintain all applicable permits and approvals;

Infringement of valid patents, copyrights or other intellectual
property rights held by third parties; and

Any change in laws and regulations in different customers’
and suppliers’ countries.

Financial risks

Details of financial risks are set out in note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)
EREE (E)

RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group is committed to operate in a sustainable manner
while balancing the interests of its various stakeholders
including customers, suppliers and employees. This includes
providing the Group's customers with good quality services,
and timely, appropriate pre/after sales services. Similarly,
the Group views its suppliers not just vendors but as
strategic partners, important links in its supply chain. The
Group's procurement policy is to maintain good relationship
and communications with suppliers under the principal of
mutual trust. The Group considers its employees the key to
sustainable business growth. Workplace safety is priority
of the Group, and with due awareness of all employees
throughout the year, the Group was able to maintain safety
workplaces.

COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE LAWS
AND REGULATIONS

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the
Company's subsidiaries in Mainland China and Hong Kong,
while the Company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. The Group accordingly shall comply with relevant
laws and regulations in Mainland China and Hong Kong and
the respective places of incorporation of the Company and
its subsidiaries.

During the year and up to the date of this annual report, the
Board was unaware of any non-compliance with relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
business and operations of the Group.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)
ERERE (E)

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year ended 31
December 2023 and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

LIN Nuchao (Chairman of the Board)
YANG Liyu
ZHANG Jianmin

Non-executive Directors:

WANG Ruilian (Resigned on 7 March 2024)
WENG Weijian

CHEN Danyun

Huang Songging (Appointed on 7 March 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors:

LAM Kwong Siu
NG Man Kung
LIU Mei Ling Rhoda

In accordance with Article 101 of the Company’s articles of
association, one-third of the Directors for the time being, or,
if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then the
number nearest to one-third shall retire at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company and shall be eligible
for re-election.

Pursuant to Article 101 of the articles of association of the
Company, Mr. HUANG Songging, Mr. NG Man Kung and Ms.
LIU Mei Ling Rhoda shall retire by rotation in the forthcoming
annual general meeting and all, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)
EREE (E)

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting have a service
contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which
is not determinable by the employing company within one
year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHY

Biography of the Directors is set out on pages 18 to 24.

Directors’ Emoluments and the Five Highest
Paid Individuals

Details of directors’ remuneration and those of the five
highest paid individuals in the Group are set out in notes 13
and 14 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS BY
DIRECTORS

As at 31 December 2023, the interests of the Directors
and chief executive in the shares, underlying shares, and
debentures of the Company or its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the
“SFO")), which (a) were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short
positions which the Directors are taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) were required,
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein; or (c) were required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers contained in the Listing Rules (the “Model Code")
were as follows:
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Directors’ Report (Continued)
EREE ()

Long position in shares and underlying shares
of the Company

Director Type of interests
5= R ER

CHEN Danyun Personal

BRATE A

Save as disclosed above, during the year under review, none
of the Directors and chief executive had or was deemed to
have any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (as defined in Part XV of the SFO) (i) which
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which they were taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (ii)
which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to
be entered in the register referred to therein; or (iii) which
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

At no time during the year was the Company or its
subsidiaries engaged in any arrangements to enable the
Directors of the Company or their respective spouses or
children under 18 years of age to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company
or any other body corporate.

INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESSES

During the year, none of the Directors nor their respective
associates had any business which competes or is likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with any business of
the Group.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)
EREE (E)

INTERESTS IN ASSETS OF THE GROUP

During the year, none of the Directors had any direct or
indirect interests in any assets which have been acquired
or disposed of, or leased to, or which are proposed to be
acquired or disposed of or leased to, the Company or any of
its subsidiaries.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

None of the Directors was materially interested directly or
indirectly in any contract or arrangement subsisting during
or at the end of the year under review which is significant in
relation to the business of the Group.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2023, as far as is known to the Directors
and the Company, and as confirmed upon reasonable
enquiry, the register maintained by the Company under
section 336 of the SFO shows that the following persons
(not being Directors or chief executive of the Company)
had, or were deemed to have, interests or short positions
in the shares and underlying shares of the Company which
are required to be disclosed to the Company or the Stock
Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part
XV of the SFO or who were, directly or indirectly, interested
in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class of share
capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general
meetings of any other member of the Company or had an
option in respect of such capital were as follows:
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Long positions in the shares of the Company KRR BZHRE

Number of Percentage of total
shares of issued shares

Name of Shareholders the Company held of the Company (%)
PR AT HERITAAT
BRRER ROHAE BROBERED L

HC Technology Capital Company Limited (“HC Technology”) 770,016,722 (a) 67.22
EFHRRERRAT ([ERARE])

Fujian Investment Holdings Company Limited (“FIHC") 786,948,772 (a) 68.70
FHREEERRAR([ERRE])

Fujian Huamin Industrial Group Company Limited ("FHIG") 786,948,772 (a) 68.70
BREEEX (RE)BERAR(EREE])

Fujian Tourism Development Group Company Limited (“FTDC") 786,948,772 (a) 68.70
BREREZEEEBERAR ([KEEE])

Sino Earn Holdings Limited (“Sino Earn”) 72,553,382 (b) 6.33
ZZ(BEB)ERERAA([EHE])

Fujian Huaxing Trust & Investment Company (“FHTI") 72,553,382 (b) 6.33
BREAFTREAR ([EHEFT])

Fujian Huaxing Industrial Company (“FHIC") 72,553,382 (b) 6.33
BREABENR((EREBE])

Fujian Huaxing Group Company Limited (“FHGC") 72,553,382 (b) 6.33
ERAEASBEEREMAAT([BRER])

Fujian Investment & Development Group Company Limited (“FIDG") 72,553,382 (b) 6.33
BRAKRERESBEEREAAF((REEE])
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Notes:

(a HC Technology and its associates hold 786,948,772 Shares (representing
approximately 68.70% of the issued share capital of the Company) among
which (i) 770,016,722 Shares (representing approximately 67.22% of
issued share capital of the Company) are held by HC Technology and (ii)
16,932,050 Shares (representing approximately 1.48% of the issued capital
of the company) are held by Pinoge Company Limited. The issued share
capital of each of HC Technology and Pinoge is 100% beneficially owned
by FIHC, which is in turn 100% beneficially owned by FHIG, which is in turn
100% beneficially owned by FTDC, a state- owned corporation under the
control and supervision of FISOASAC in the PRC. Pursuant to the SFO, each
of FIHC, FHIG and FTDC is deemed to be interested in 786,948,772 Shares.

(b) Sino Earn beneficially holds 72,553,382 Shares. The issued share capital of
Sino Earn is owned as to 30% by FHTI and 70% by FHIC respectively. Both
of FHTI and FHIC are 100% beneficially owned by FHGC, which is in turn
100% beneficially owned by FIDG, a state-owned corporation in the PRC
under the control and supervision of FISOASAC. Pursuant to the SFO, each
of FHTI, FHIC, FHGC and FIDG is deemed to be interested in 72,553,382
Shares.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

There were no contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Group which were entered into or existed
during the year.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF")
Scheme under rules and regulations of MPF Schemes
Ordinance for all its employees in Hong Kong. All the
employees of the Group in Hong Kong are required to
join the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ salaries and are charged to
consolidated income statement as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets
of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the
Group in an independently administered fund. The Group's
employer contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme. No forfeited contribution
is available to reduce the contribution payable in the future
for the year ended 31 December 2023.
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The employees of the Group’s subsidiary in China are
members of a state-managed retirement benefit plan
operated by the government of the PRC. The subsidiary is
required to contribute a specified percentage of payroll cost
to the retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The
only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement
benefit plan is to make the specified contributions.

During the year, the total amounts contributed by the Group
to the schemes and costs charged to the consolidated
income statement represent contribution payable to the
schemes by the Group at rates specified in the rules of the
schemes.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

The Articles of Association of the Company provides that
every Director or other officer of the Company shall be
entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
against all losses or liabilities (to the fullest extent permitted
by the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622)) which he may
sustain or incur in or about the execution of the duties of
his office or otherwise in relation thereto. In addition, the
indemnity agreements made by the Company, which are
currently in force and were in force throughout the financial
year, contained permitted indemnity provisions (as permitted
in Section 469(2) of the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622)), for
the benefit of the Directors of the Company. The Company
has also taken out and maintained Director’s liability
insurance throughout the year, which provides appropriate
cover for the Directors.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries, had purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company's listed securities
during the year ended 31 December 2023.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as its own
code of conduct for dealings in securities of the Company
by the Directors. In response to specific enquiries made, all
Directors confirmed that they had complied with the required
standards of dealings as set out in the Model Code during
the year.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the
Company's total issued share capital was held by the public
as of the date of this report.

AUDITORS

The accounts for the year ended 31 December 2023 were
audited by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited whose term
of office will expire upon the conclusion of the forthcoming
annual general meeting. A resolution for the re-appointment
of HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited as the auditors of
the Company for the subsequent year is to be proposed at
the forthcoming annual general meeting. There has been
no change in the Group's auditors in any of the preceding 3
years.

On behalf of the Board

LIN Nuchao
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

To create a long term value for the interests of the
Shareholders is the Board’s main objective. As such, the
Board is highly committed to achieving a high standard
of corporate governance and striving to maintain the
management practices in a transparent and responsible
way. The Board reviews and improves the Group’s corporate
governance practices and business ethics on an ongoing
basis.

Save as disclosed, for the year ended 31 December 2023 and
up to the date of this annual report, the Company complied
with all the code provisions, where applicable, as set out
in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) and
Corporate Governance Report in Appendix C1 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code") as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as its
own code of conduct for dealing in securities of the Company
by the Directors. All the Directors have confirmed, following
specific enquiry by the Company, their compliance with the
required standard set out in the Model Code throughout the
year ended 31 December 2023.

THE BOARD
Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the Group's corporate
policy formulation, business strategic planning, business
development, risk management, material acquisitions and
disposals and capital transactions, and other significant
operational and financial matters. Major corporate
matters that are specifically delegated by the Board to
the management, such as the preparation of annual and
interim accounts for the Board's final approval before its
publication, execution of business strategies and initiatives
adopted by the Board, implementation of adequate systems
of internal controls and risk management procedures, and
compliance with relevant statutory requirements and rules
and regulations. The Board has also delegated to the relevant
senior management the authority and responsibility for the
day-to-day management and operation of the Group.
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The Board has also established the Board Committees (as
defined below) and has delegated to these Board committees
various responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of
reference.

The Board is also responsible for performing corporate
governance duties of the Group and will assign relevant
functions to other board committees, namely the
remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”),
the nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”)
and the audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) collectively,
the “Board Committees”) as and when appropriate.

Every Director is entitled to have access to Board papers
and related materials, and the advice and services provided
by the company secretary (the “Company Secretary”) of
the Company, and has the liberty to seek independent
professional advice at the Company’s expense if so
reasonably required. The Directors will be continuously
provided by the updates on the major development of the
Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements
to ensure compliance and upkeep of good corporate
governance practices.

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover
for Directors” and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions
against its Directors and senior management arising out of
corporate activities.

BOARD COMPOSITION AND BOARD
PRACTICES

The Board is primarily responsible for formulating the
business strategy, reviewing and monitoring the business
performance of the Group, approving the financial
statements and annual budgets as well as directing and
supervising the management of the Company. Execution of
operational matters and the powers thereof are delegated to
the management by the Board with clear directions.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises a total
of nine Directors, three of whom are Executive Directors,
three Non-executive Directors and three Independent Non-
executive Directors. One of the Independent Non-executive
Directors has appropriate professional qualifications, or
accounting or related financial management expertise.
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Board composition review will be made regularly to ensure
that it has a balance of expertise, skills and expertise
appropriate for the requirements of the business of the
Group. In accordance with article 101 of the Company’s
Articles of Association, one-third of the Directors for the time
being, or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three,
then the number nearest to one-third shall retire at the
forthcoming annual general meeting and shall be eligible for
re-election.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

All existing Executive Directors are entitled to a fixed salary
per annum respectively. The remuneration of each Executive
Director is subject to review of the Board with reference
to his/her contribution in terms of time, effort and his/her
expertise. The emolument policy for Non-executive Directors
is to ensure that the Non-executive Directors are adequately
compensated for their efforts and the time dedicated to the
Company’s affairs, including their participation in the Board
committees. Individual directors and senior management are
not involved in the determination of their own remuneration.

Details of remuneration paid to each of the Directors and
senior management during the year are disclosed in note 13
and note 14 to the financial statements.

All Executive Directors are entitled to be reimbursed for
reasonable expenses incurred during the performance of
their duties to the Company.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

The roles and duties of the Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company are carried out by
different individuals. The Chairman of the Board Ms. LIN
Nuchao is responsible for the overall strategic formulation,
management and planning of our Group. The Chief Executive
Officer is Mr. YANG Liyu, who is responsible for business
development and day-to-day management and operations of
the Group.
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CHAIRMAN'S ROLE AND RESPONSIBILITY

The Chairman of the Board (“Chairman”) and the Chief
Executive Officer are separate individuals, to maintain
segregation of duties between the management of the Board
and the day-to-day management of the Group’s business.
One important role of the Chairman is to provide leadership
for the Board. The Chairman has to ensure that the Board
works effectively, discharges responsibilities, and that all key
and appropriate issues are discussed by the Board in a timely
manner. All Directors are consulted about matters proposed
for inclusion in the agenda. The Chairman has delegated to
the Company Secretary the responsibility for drawing up the
agenda for each Board meeting.

The Group supports the establishment of good corporate
governance practices and procedures. The Group’s Chief
Executive Officer has been delegated such authority. The
Board always acts in the best interests of the Group, and all
Directors have made full and active contribution to the affairs
of the Board. Meeting between the Chairman and Non-
executive Directors (including Independent Non-executive
Directors) without the presence of managing Directors has
been scheduled as at least once a year.

Composition

As at the date of this report, the board of Directors comprises
three Executive Directors namely Ms. LIN Nuchao, Mr. YANG
Liyu and Mr. ZHANG Jianmin, three Non-executive Directors,
namely Ms. WENG Weijian, Ms. CHEN Danyun and HUANG
Songging and three Independent Non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. LAM Kwong Siu, Mr. NG Man Kung and Ms.
LIU Mei Ling Rhoda. Details of the Chairman and the other
Directors of the Company are set out in the section “Directors’
Biography” of this report.

With the various experience of both the Executive Directors
and the Non-executive Directors and the nature of the
Group’s business, the board considered that the Directors
have a balance of skills and experience for the business of
the Group.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Group adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”). A summary of this policy, together with the
measurable objectives set for implementing this policy and
the progress made towards achieving those objectives are
disclosed as below.
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Summary of Board Diversity Policy

The Company recognised and embraced the benefits of
having a diverse board to the quality of its performance.
The Board Diversity Policy aimed to set out the approach
to achieve diversity on the board. In designing the board’s
composition, board diversity has been considered from
a numbers of measurable aspects including gender, age,
ethnicity, knowledge and length of services. All board
appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates
will be considered against objective criteria, having due
regards for the benefits of diversity on the board.

Measurable objectives

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of services. The
ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that
the selected candidates will bring to the board.

As at the date of this report, the Board's composition under
diversified perspectives was summarised as follows:
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The board of director and the nomination committee
has reviewed the Board Diversity Policy to ensure its
effectiveness and considered that the Group achieved the
Board Diversity Policy.

Implementation and Monitoring

The nomination committee reviewed the board'’s
composition under diversified perspectives, and monitored
the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy annually.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board meets regularly. For the year ended 31 December
2023, it held four meetings. Regular Board meetings of the
year are scheduled in advance. All notices of the meeting of
the Board will be made to various directors at least 14 days
prior to the meeting. The company secretary assists the
Chairman in preparing the memorandum of the meeting as
to give all Directors an opportunity to attend. Board papers
are circulated not less than three days before the Board
meetings, to enable the Directors to make informed decisions
on matters to be raised at the Board meetings and to offer
them sufficient time to review the documents. The company
secretary normally attends all regular Board meetings to
advise on corporate governance, statutory compliance,
accounting and financial matters when necessary, as to
ensure the compliance and maintenance of sound corporate
governance practice. The company secretary shall prepare
minutes and keep record of matters discussed and decisions
resolved at all Board meetings.

There is no relationship (including financial, business, family
or other material/relevant relationships) among members of
the Board. All of them are free to exercise their independent
judgment. The Company has received annual written
confirmations from all Independent Non-executive Directors
in respect of their independence during the year under
review pursuant to the Listing Rules. The Company considers
all Independent Non-executive Directors to be independent
in accordance with the independence guidelines set out in
the Listing Rules.
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The Board members meet regularly, to discuss the overall
strategy as well as the operational and financial performance
of the Company. Other Board meetings will be held
when necessary. Such Board meetings involve the active
participation, either in person or through other electronic
means of communication, of a majority of Directors. During
the year ended 31 December 2023, four regular Board
meetings and a meeting with Non-executive Directors were
held and the attendance records of individual Directors are
set out below:

EFEeRBEHETESE YRS LW
ARAzBBRBEREERMBIEZE
R-HMEETSGRINFTERSHIT - %F
EEgeRlBANIEETRIIES
HEFBRANTAEEHELE RBEE_F
T=HF+TZA=+t—BLEFER KR
BUREHEZTER —RIFPTEEES
o BREFZHFEREHINNT

Attendance
HERE
Board
Director gxe
Chairman *E
LIN Nuchao Mz 4
Executive Directors HITEE
YANG Liyu CEIES 4
ZHANG Jianmin SRR 4
Non-executive Directors FHITEF
HUANG Songging EXVNC
(Appointed on 7 March 2024) (R=ZZE-—NF=A+tHEME) -
WANG Ruilian (Resigned on 7 March 2024) TR (R =_Z =4 = A+ H&T) 3
WENG Weijian SR 4
CHEN Danyun BRATE 4
Independent Non-executive Directors BIIHHTEE
LAM Kwong Siu MEJK 4
NG Man Kung Rt 4
LIU Mei Ling Rhoda BER 4

A meeting between Non-executive Directors was held,
in which Non-executive Directors reviewed the future
development of the Group. No Executive Directors took part
in any discussion of the above.

Appropriate notices are given to all Directors in advance
for attending regular and other Board meetings. Meeting
agendas and other relevant information are normally
provided to the Directors in advance of Board meetings. All
Directors are consulted to include additional matters in the
agenda for Board meetings.
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EEZARRER BERTEFL2ENL

A o
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Directors have access to the advice and services of the
company secretary with a view to ensuring that Board
procedures, and all applicable law, rules and regulations, are
followed.

Draft and final versions of the minutes are sent to all
Directors for their comment and records respectively.
Minutes of Board meetings are kept by the Company
Secretary and such minutes are open for inspection at any
reasonable time on reasonable prior notice by any Director.

Insurance policy has been arranged to safeguard the
interests of the Directors in case of legal proceedings.

Independent Non-executive Directors and
Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lam Kwong Siu was appointed as an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company on 11 December 2003
and reappointed ten times with tenure of two years and
expiring on 10 December 2025.

Mr. Ng Man Kung was appointed as an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company on 30 June 2014 and was
reappointed four times with tenure expiring on 29 June 2024.

Ms. Liu Mei Ling Rhoda has appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company on 1 January 2019
and was reappointed two times with tenure expiring on 31
December 2024.

However, their tenure is subject to retirement by rotation at
the Annual General Meeting in compliance with the amended
and restated Articles of Association of the Company and
the Code on Corporate Governance, under which they have
to retire by rotation and make themselves eligible for re-
election.

Ms. Weng Weijian, Ms. Chen Danyun and Mr. Huang
Songaging were appointed as Non-executive Directors
on 11 September 2018, 23 June 2022 and 7 March 2024
respectively. All are subject to retirement by rotation at the
Annual General Meeting in compliance with the amended
and restated Articles of Association of the Company.
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE
OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Independence of Independent Non-Executive
Directors

The Company has complied with the requirements under
Rules 3.10(1), 3.10(2) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules. The
Company has received confirmation of independence from
the three Independent Non- Executive Directors, namely
Mr. Lam Kwong Siu, Mr. Ng Man Kung and Ms. Liu Mei Ling
Rhoda in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Mr. Lam Kwong Siu have served the Board of the Company
for more than 20 years. He has clearly demonstrated his
willingness to exercise independent judgement and to
provide objective challenges to the management. There is no
evidence that length of tenure is having an adverse impact
on his independence. The Board therefore considers that
Mr. Lam remain independent, notwithstanding the length of
his tenure. A separate resolution will be proposed for the re-
election of each of Mr. Lam Kwong Siu at the Annual General
Meeting.

The Board as well as the Nomination Committee have
reviewed the independence of all Independent Non-
executive Directors and have concluded that all of them
are independent within the definition of the Listing Rules.
Further, up to the date of this report, the Board is not aware
of the occurrence of any events, which would cause it to
believe that the independence of any of the Independent
Non- executive Directors has been impaired.

Relationship
None of the members of the Board has any relationship

(including financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationships) between each other.
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FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Board recognises the importance of integrity of financial
information and acknowledges its responsibility for preparing
interim and annual financial statements that give a true and
fair view of the Group's affairs and its results and cash flows
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
and the Companies Ordinance. In presenting the financial
information, as well as price-sensitive announcements
and other financial disclosures as required by regulations,
the Board endeavors to present in a timely manner to
shareholders and other stakeholders a balanced and
understandable assessment of the Company’s performance,
position and prospects. Accordingly, appropriate accounting
policies are selected and applied consistently, and
judgements and estimates made by the management for
financial reporting purpose are prudent and reasonable. The
Directors are also responsible for ensuring that the Group
keeps accounting records which disclose with reasonable
accuracy at any time the financial position of the Group
and which enable the preparation of financial statements
in accordance with the Companies Ordinance and the
applicable accounting standards. Prior to the adoption of
the financial statements and the related accounting policies,
the relevant financial information is discussed between the
external auditors and the management, and then submitted
to the Audit Committee for review.

INTERNAL CONTROLS

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for maintaining
proper and effective risk management and internal control
systems and reviewing their effectiveness. Such systems are
designed to identify, evaluate and manage risk exposures
that may impact the efficiency and effectiveness of the
Group’s operations and provide reasonable assurance but
not a guarantee about whether they are free from material
misstatement, rather than to eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives.
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The management is primarily in charge of designing,
implementing and monitoring the risk management
and internal control systems. The Board has the overall
responsibilities for evaluating and determining the nature
and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving
the Company’s strategic objectives, and overseeing the
management in the design, implementation and monitoring
of the risk management and internal control systems.
Such duties have been carried out and performed with the
assistance of the management and the Audit Committee.

The Company has engaged an internal control advisor
for providing the internal audit function and performing
independent review of the adequacy and effectiveness of
the internal control systems annually, including reviewing
guidelines and policies which are implemented throughout
our operation, and risk management practices with an aim
to, among other matters, improve our Group's corporate
governance. The independent internal control advisor
is also responsible for providing its findings and any
recommendations, in respect of enhancing the Group's
systems as appropriate, to the Audit Committee. Based on
the findings and comments by the independent internal
control advisor and the Audit Committee, the Board
considered the internal control and risk management
systems effective and adequate and was of the opinion
that there were no significant areas of concern that might
affect the Company’s shareholders for the year ended 31
December 2023. The Company will continue to engage
external independent professionals to review the Group's
systems of internal control and risk management annually
and further enhance the Group’s system as appropriate.

In terms of management of liquidity risk, the Board monitors
and maintains levels of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate to finance the Group’s operations with the
assistance of the Group’s management. In order to minimise
the credit risk on receivables, the Board has adopted
credit risk management policies and procedures by making
periodic collective as well as individual assessments on the
recoverability of receivables based on historical settlement
records and past experience. Besides, the Board manages
to formulate conservative strategies for mitigating other
financial risks of the Group, which include overseeing the
interest rate risk and currency risk.
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The Group has established internal control procedures
which provide the Board and employees with guidelines on
assessing, reporting and disseminating inside information.
In addition, inside information is disseminated to relevant
personnel on a need-to-know basis, and the Group will
review the existing policy and practice from time to time to
ensure full compliance with the regulatory requirements.

During its annual review, the Audit Committee also ensure
the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience
of staff of the Group’s accounting, financial reporting and
internal audit functions, and their training programmes and
budgets.

The scope of the internal control review carried out during
the year including but not limited to:

e  the nature and extent of significant risks (including ESG
risks), and the issuer’s ability to respond to changes in
its business and the external environment;

e the scope and quality of management’'s ongoing
monitoring of risks (including ESG risks) and of the
internal control systems, and where applicable, the
work of its internal audit function and other assurance
providers;

e the extent and frequency of communication of
monitoring results to the board (or board committee(s))
which enables it to assess control of the issuer and the
effectiveness of risk management,

o significant control failings or weaknesses that have
been identified during the year. Also, the extent to
which they have resulted in unforeseen outcomes
or contingencies that have had, could have had, or
may in the future have, a material impact on financial
performance or condition; and

o the effectiveness of processes for financial reporting
and Exchange Listing Rule compliance.

The board’s confirmation on risk management

Based on the risk management mechanism and internal audit
review activities mentioned in the aforesaid paragraphs, the
board was of the opinion that the Company had maintained
an effective risk management mechanism and internal
control system during the financial year ended 31 December
2023.
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Professional Development HELZRE

To assist Directors’ continuing professional development, AWBESZS 2 HEHERRE AL EZ
the Company recommends Directors to attend relevant EZEZ=HFEHBEZEAEUABRRENEHES
seminars to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. ZH# L - 2R EENAHEHER
All Directors also participate in continuous professional ¥ E:tE B ABREE A LT
development programs, to develop and refresh their ZHNEE#RE M SHEETS 2 FE%
knowledge and skills in relation to their contributiontothe EEEHFHRS ML S EEME
Board. A record of the training received by the respective % ZiEFIGE8kAAR R A RIMERE MEFH ©
Directors are kept and updated by the Company Secretary of

the Company.

The individual training record of each Director received for #HZE-ZT-_=F+-_A=+—HIFE "
the year ended 31 December 2023 is summarised below: BEEFEXEIIZER ST

Attending seminar(s)/  Reading materials and
program(s)/  update relating to the
conference(s) relevant  latest development of
to the business Listing related regulatory

or directors’ duties requirements

HEEEEKS MEEELHHRA

ESRECEHE Rt EBRAEERE

B gRZER 2R R EH

LIN Nuchao MR v v
YANG Liyu B E v v
ZHANG Jianmin SRIEB 4 v
WANG Ruilian TR v v
WENG Weijian SERE X v
CHEN Danyun BRI E X v
LAM Kwong Siu MEJK X v
NG Man Kung Rt X v
LIU Mei Ling Rhoda BER v v

All the Directors also understand the importance of 2 REEH THISERERE EZ -
continuous professional development and are committed AL BREMESEZIE) - UBEE LT H
to participating any suitable training to develop and refresh 1% %5 2 &0 & FBE ©

their knowledge and skills.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has appointed a number of committees to
discharge its functions. Sufficient resources are provided
to enable the Board committees to undertake their specific
roles. The respective role, responsibilities and activities of
each Board committee are set out below:

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee of the Company was established in
1999. Currently, it comprises three members, all of whom
are Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Liu
Mei Ling Rhoda who possesses professional accounting
qualification, Mr. Lam Kwong Siu and Mr. Ng Man Kung. Ms.
Liu Mei Ling Rhoda is the Chairman of the Audit Committee.
The Audit Committee adopted its the terms of reference in
accordance with the Code issued by the Stock Exchange.
The principal duties of the Audit Committee include the
review and supervision of the Group'’s financial reporting
process and internal controls. Three meetings had been held
by the Audit Committee during the year under review. Each
Committee meeting was provided with necessary financial
information of the Group for consideration, review and
assessment of major issues.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the members of
the Audit Committee met three times and their attendance is
as follows:

Name of member REER

LIU Mei Ling Rhoda (Chairman) BER (F/E)
LAM Kwong Siu MEIK

NG Man Kung Rt

The Audit Committee has reviewed the interim and final
financial results for the year 2023. The Audit Committee
considers the financial statement to be complied with the
appropriate financial standards and the law regulations and
with sufficient disclosure has been made.

52 FUJIAN HOLDINGS LIMITED e« ANNUAL REPORT 2023

EEERTZRAY

EZgCR A TZESURITHBEE -

EZe8  RZE8eHREGENER MU
HITHABEK EFgETEZEER
ERER « BE MRS E T

FRERE

ZiN/N —NWANFRIEZZEES -8
¢Kﬁmm ZRKEBHEK BEHYARBIL
FNTES  BREEERLT (AEEXES
SHRIER) MBIKEER R XA - B
ERUTRERZESIF BERZEE
B BR 4% B3 Bt 32 BT T AR ST BN — B BR A &
B - BEZZEe TEZREBEEIEAR
MAEEZUEEHRIEF R ABPEIL - F

REZEEeROBEERNERTAEH -
BrREESSRYERBMEZAEEN

BER  HKEEZEE R MFEITER Y
MZEKREH -

RZEBE-_=F+-_A=+—"HFE EXZ

FEERT-DRAEH KNEHREBRLOT :

Attendance

HE IR E

3

2

3

EZZESEENAEEEE T -_=F

PEIREFENBEE BREZEERE

ZERRFABERASHEAREZEREE
BENRHAHE -



Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

ERELIRE (W)

The Audit Committee held three meetings during the year
ended 31 December 2023. The following is a summary of
work performed by the Audit Committee during the year
2023:

() reviewed and discussed the annual accounts for
2022 and the interim accounts for 2023 with the
management of the Company, with recommendations
to the Board for approval;

(i) reviewed the significant audit and accounting issues
arising from the external auditor’s statutory audit of
the 2022 annual accounts and issues arising from the
review of the 2023 interim accounts;

(i) - reviewed the impact of the new and revised accounting
standards on the Company;

(iv) reviewed the external auditor’s audit strategy and
approach;

(v) reviewed the non-audit services provided by the
external auditor in 2023;

(vi) met with the external auditor to discuss issues from the
audits and any other matters the external auditor might
raise;

(vii) reviewed the Internal Audit objectives and approval of
the Annual Internal Audit Report;

(viii) reviewed the findings and recommendations of the
Internal Audit team on the audits carried out on the
principal activities of the Group during the year 2023;

(ix) reviewed the effectiveness of the internal control
systems;

() reviewed the relevant sections in the Corporate
Governance Report for the year ended 31 December
2023 concerning the Audit Committee;

(xi) reviewed the adequacy of the resources, staff
qualifications and experience; and

(xii) reviewed the continuing connected transactions and
their annual caps.
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The minutes of the Audit Committee meetings are prepared
by the secretary of the Audit Committee with details of
all matters considered by the attendees and of decisions
reached, including any concern raised by the attendees and
dissenting views expressed. The final version of the minutes
is sent to the attendees for their records. The minutes are
open for inspection by the Committee members and the
Board members.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises 3
members, all of whom are Independent Non-executive
Directors. The Remuneration Committee members are set
out on page 2 of the annual report.

The functions of the Remuneration Committee are to
formulate transparent procedures for setting remuneration
policies and packages for Directors and the senior
management of the Group. Its duties include:

o Reviewing and recommending to the Board the
remuneration packages of Executive and Non-executive
Directors of the Group

o Reviewing the appropriateness of compensation for
Directors of the Group

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the members of
the Remuneration Committee met once and their attendance
is as follows:

Name of member REER
LAM Kwong Siu (Chairman) WEIK (FE)
NG Man Kung Rt

LIU Mei Ling Rhoda BxER
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The Remuneration Committee held one meetings during the
year ended 31 December 2023. The following is a summary
of work performed by the Remuneration Committee during
the year 2023, including:

The principal duties of the Remuneration Committee include,
but are not limited to, making recommendations to the Board
on the Company’s policy and structure for all remuneration
of Directors and senior management (who are also executive
directors of the Company), reviewing and approving the
special remuneration packages of all executive directors with
reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved by the
Board from time to time and determining, with delegated
responsibility, the remuneration packages of individual
executive directors. The Company has adopted written terms
of reference for the Remuneration Committee that clearly
define the role, authority and function of the Remuneration
Committee. The terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee are available on both the Exchange's and the
Company'’s websites.

The Company has not adopted any share scheme. There
are also no share schemes of major subsidiaries of the
Company that are required to be disclosed under Chapter 17
of the Hong Kong Listing Rules. The emoluments of Directors
are determined based on the duties and responsibilities of
each Director. The Directors’ fees were reviewed by the
Remuneration Committee. The Remuneration Committee
considered the fees reasonable in view of the Directors’
responsibilities.

The remuneration of the members of the senior management
of the Group by band for the year ended 31 December 2023
is set out below:

Remuneration bands

HK$500,001 to HK$1,000,000

Further particulars regarding Directors’ remuneration and
the five highest paid employees as required to be disclosed
pursuant to Appendix D2 to the Listing Rules are set out in
note 13 and note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee currently comprises 3 members,
all of whom are Independent Non-executive Directors. The
Nomination Committee members are out on page 2 of the
annual report.

Its duties include:

56

to review the structure, size and composition (including
the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at
least annually and make recommendations on any
proposed changes to the Board to complement the
Company's corporate strategy;

to identify individuals suitably qualified to become
members of the Board and select or make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of
individual(s) nominated for directorship(s);

to assess the independence of INEDS;

to make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors and
succession planning for Directors, in particular the
chairman of the Board (if any) and the chief executive;

to review the Nomination Policy and to ensure
disclosure of the same in the Corporate Governance
Report, including the nomination procedures and
the process and criteria adopted by the nomination
committee to select and recommend candidate(s) for
directorship;

to review the Board Diversity Policy periodically and
to ensure disclosure of the same or a summary of it
in the Corporate Governance Report, including the
measurable objectives that the Committee has set
for implementing the Board Diversity Policy, and the
progress on achieving the objectives; and

FUJIAN HOLDINGS LIMITED e« ANNUAL REPORT 2023

REZEE

RAHLZESHMA=-UKEHEK KB AT
VIR TES - RRBZEEKEHINA
FIRE2H °

REZBEMNBEEREA

- ELBERJEFTENRE  AHR
A (B MBLERTE)
I s EMR BB A AR B 6 D R
RIELMEBHRESTS R ES

- YVEAERAEERAETEEENE
MALT AHEREZABALHAIE
FRBMAMEFTEREES

— FHMEEMIGFRITESRMEIE

— BEFENZREAEFZEUREZ(CL
HREEESIF (WA RITHAR)
MBI ERNESTSRDER

- BRIARBBER REARREXRERR
EPELEE ETERREZES
FRE#E LB EEREAMRAN
REBRFIALER

- THRNEFEREZTHEERE K
ERNEEEARE T HEXZB RN
HBE EPEEMRTEEEKE
ZHAEBERMBEZAFERE
FEBZERBRIEE



Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

ERELIRE (W)

—  to ensure disclosure will be made in the circular
to shareholders and/or explanatory statement
accompanying the notice of the relevant general
meeting where the Board proposes a resolution to elect
an individual as an INED at the general meeting:

e the process used for identifying the individual
and why the Board believes the individual should
be elected and the reasons why it considers the
individual to be independent;

o if the proposed INED will be holding their seventh
(or more) listed company directorship, why the
Board believes the individual would still be able to
devote sufficient time to the Board;

o the perspectives, skills and experience that the
individual can bring to the Board; and

o how the individual contributes to diversity of the
Board.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the members of
the Nomination Committee met once and their attendance is
as follows:

Name of member REER

NG Man Kung (Chairman) RXH(F/E)
LAM Kwong Siu MEJK

LIU Mei Ling Rhoda BER
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The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the
year ended 31 December 2023. The following is a summary
of work performed by the Nomination Committee during the
year 2023:

(i)

(if)

(i)

(iv)

reviewed the Company’s policy for nomination of
Directors;

reviewed procedures for appointment of new Directors
and plans for orderly succession,

reviewed the implementation of the Board Diversity
Policy of the Company;

reviewed the structure, size and composition of the
Board of the Company;

reviewed and recommended to the Board the
nomination of the membership of committee of the
Company;

recommended re-election of the retiring directors at
the annual general meeting of the Company; and

assessed independence of the Independent Non-
executive Directors of the Company.

REPORTING PROCEDURE

At the next meeting of the Board following a meeting/
written resolution of the Committee, copy of the minutes
of the meeting/resolutions setting out the findings,
recommendations and decisions of the Committee shall be
submitted to the Board.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for the corporate governance
functions with the following duties:

to develop and review the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance and make
recommendations on changes and updating;

to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of directors and senior
management;

to review and monitor the Company'’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees
and directors,

to review the Company'’s compliance with the Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report; and

such other corporate governance duties and functions
set out in the Code (as amended from time to time) for
which the Board are responsible.

The Company periodically reviews its corporate governance
practices to ensure they continue to meet the requirements
of the Code during the year of 2023.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ INSURANCE

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in
respect of potential legal actions against its Directors.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

As at 31 December 2023, the Company Secretary of the
Company, Mr. Chan Tao Ming Alex, fulfilled the requirement
under Rules 3.28 and 3.29 of the Listing Rules. As an
employee of the Company, the Company Secretary supports
the Board, ensures good information flow within the Board
and Board policy and procedures are followed; advises
the Board on governance matters, facilitates induction
and, monitors the training and continuous professional
development of Directors. He had attained not less than 15
hours of relevant professional training during the year under
review.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS

The Audit Committee has reviewed a service plan from HLB
Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited regarding their independence
and objectivity and had a meeting with HLB Hodgson Impey
Cheng Limited, the external auditors of the Company, to
discuss the scope of their audit and approve the scope.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2023 were audited by HLB Hodgson Impey
Cheng Limited whose term of office will expire upon the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company. The
Audit Committee has recommended to the Board that
HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited be re-appointed as the
auditors of the Company at the forthcoming Annual General
Meeting of the Company.

AUDITORS' REMUNERATION

An analysis of remuneration in respect of service and non-
audit services provided by the auditors and its common
control entity during the year ended 31 December 2023 is as
follows:

For the year, no non-audit service provided by auditor of the
Company.
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The auditors’ reporting responsibility is set out on pages 69
to 76 of this annual report.
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INSIDE INFORMATION

With respect to procedures and internal controls for the
handling and dissemination of inside information, the
Company:

is required to disclose inside information as soon
as reasonably practicable in accordance with the
Securities and Futures Ordinance and the Listing Rules

conducts its affairs with close regard to the “Guidelines
on Disclosure of Inside Information” issued by the
Securities and Futures Commission

has included in its Corporate Code of Conduct a strict
prohibition on the unauthorised use of confidential or
inside information

ensures, through its own internal reporting processes
and the consideration of their outcome by senior
management, the appropriate handling and
dissemination of inside information.

POLICY ON THE RECOMMENDATION AND
DECLARATION OF DIVIDEND

The Board may propose the payment of dividends for a
financial year. The recommendation of dividends is subject to
the discretion of the Board. The Board will take into account
the following factors when considering the proposal of any
dividend payment:

the actual and expected financial performances of the
Company and each of its group member companies
(collectively the “Group”),

retained earnings and distributable reserves of the
Group;

the level of the Group's debts, return on equity and the
relevant financial covenants that may be imposed by
the Group's lenders;

the Group's expected working capital requirements and
future capital expenditure plans;
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- general economic conditions, internal and/or external
factors that may have an impact on the business or
financial performance of the Group;

—  relevant statutory and other regulatory restrictions; and

— any other factors that the Board may deem appropriate.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH
SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS

The Board recognises the importance of good
communications with the Shareholders and investors. A
shareholders’ communication policy setting out the principles
of the Company in relation to Shareholders’ communications,
with the objectives of ensuring a transparent and timely
communication with Shareholders via various means, has
been established.

The Company’s Annual General Meetings ("AGM”") are
valuable forum for the Board to communicate directly with
the Shareholders and to answer questions Shareholders
may raise. Separate resolutions are proposed at general
meetings for each substantial issue, including the re-election
and election of individual Directors. The detailed procedures
of conducting a poll are explained to Shareholders at the
commencement of the AGM, to ensure that Shareholders are
familiar with such procedures.

The Company’s last AGM ("2022 AGM") was held on 29 May
2023 at SOHO 1, 6 Floor, IBIS Hong Kong Central & Sheung
Wan Hotel, No. 28 Des Voeux Road West, Sheung Wan, Hong
Kong. All the resolutions proposed at that meeting were
approved by shareholders of the Company by poll. Details
of the poll results are available on the Company’s website at
www.fujianholdings.com.
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The attendance record of the Directors at the 2022 AGM is BER - Z - FERFAFEASDHH
set out below: T
AGM
Directors 2= BRRBFRE
LIN Nuchao (Appointed on 23 June 2022) M (R __FA=+=8 L) v
YANG Liyu (Appointed on 23 June 2022) BAIERZZEZ=ZF A= +=HLEE) v
ZHANG Jianmin (Appointed on 23 June 2022) SR <m_2__¢/\ﬂ +=8 1) v
WANG Ruilian (Resigned on 7 March 2024)  EIR (R - =MNF = At HEHT) X
WENG Weijian SR v
CHEN Danyun BRATE X
LAM Kwong Siu MEJK v
NG Wan Kung Rt v
LIU Mei Ling Rhoda BER v

A key element of effective communication with shareholders
and investors is the prompt and timely dissemination of
information in relation to the Group. The Company commits
to report to the shareholders of the Company the Group's
corporate information in a timely and punctual way through
notifying or mailing to all shareholders via press release,
Interim Report and Annual Report. The circular of the Annual
General Meeting will be distributed to all shareholders of the
Company at least 21 days prior to the meeting, which set
out the requirements and the procedure of the vote and the
relevant details of other proposed resolutions. The printed
copies of the Group’s Annual Report and Interim Report have
been dispatched to all the shareholders.

The Company keeps on promoting investor relations and
enhancing communication with the existing Shareholders
and potential investors. It welcomes suggestions from
investors, stakeholders and the public. Enquiries to the Board
or the Company may be sent by post to the Company’s
principal place of business in Hong Kong. After review, the
Company is of the opinion that the implementation of the
Company’s shareholder communication policy is adequate
and effective.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no change to the Company’s articles of
association during the year ended 31 December 2023. A
copy of the latest consolidated version of amended and
restated Articles of Association of the Company is posted on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Set out below is a summary of certain rights of the
Shareholders of the Company as required to be disclosed
pursuant to the mandatory disclosure requirement under
Paragraph K of the Code:

Convening of extraordinary general meeting
on requisition by Shareholders

In accordance with section 566 of the Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “"Companies
Ordinance”), Shareholder(s) representing at least 5% of the
total voting rights of all Shareholders having a right to vote
at general meetings may request the Directors to convene
an extraordinary general meeting (“EGM"). The request(s)
must state the general nature of the business to be dealt at
the meeting and may include the text of a resolution that
may properly be moved and is intended to be moved at the
meeting. The request(s) may consist of several documents in
like form and may be sent to the Company in hard copy form
or in electronic form which must be authenticated by the
person or persons making it.

In accordance with sections 567 and 568 of the Companies
Ordinance, if the Directors do not within 21 days after the
date on which they are subject to the requirement under
section 566 of the Companies Ordinance to convene an EGM
for a day not more than 28 days after the date on which
the notice convening the EGM is given, the Shareholder(s)
concerned, or any of them representing more than one-
half of the total voting rights of all of them, may themselves
convene an EGM, provided that the EGM so convened shall
not be held after the expiration of 3 months from the said
date.

The EGM convened by shareholders shall be convened in the

same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which general
meetings are to be convened by the Directors.
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Procedures for directing shareholders’
enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and
concerns to the Board in writing through the Company
Secretary whose contact details are as follows:

The Company Secretary

Fujian Holdings Limited

Room 3306-3308, 33rd Floor, West Tower, Shun Tak Centre,
200 Connaught Road Central

Email: info@fujianholdings.com

Tel. No.: +852 2810 9222

Fax No.: +852 2868 9930

The Company Secretary shall forward the shareholders’
enquiries and concerns to the board of Directors and/
or relevant Board Committees of the Company, where
appropriate, to answer the Shareholders’ questions.

Proposing a resolution at an annual general
meeting

Shareholder(s) may request the Company to give, to all
Shareholders entitled to receive notice of AGM, notice of a
resolution that may properly be moved and is intended to
be moved at that meeting pursuant to section 615 of the
Companies Ordinance, if they:

@

represent at least 2.5% of the total voting rights of all
Shareholders who have a right to vote on the resolution
at the annual general meeting to which the requests
relate; or

are not less than 50 Shareholders who have a right
to vote on the resolution at the AGM to which the
requests relate.

The request(s):

(@)

()

may be sent to the Company in hard copy form or in
electronic form;

must identify the resolution of which notice is to be
given,

must be authenticated by the person or persons
making it; and

must be received by the Company not later than six
weeks before the AGM to which the request(s) relate;
or if later, the time at which notice is given of that
meeting.
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PROPOSING A CANDIDATE FOR ELECTION
AS A DIRECTOR AT AGM

Pursuant to article 105 of the articles of association of the
Company, if a Shareholder intends to nominate a person
other than the retiring Directors for Director at a general
meeting, he/she shall deposit the following documents to the
Company'’s registered office during the period commencing
on the day after the dispatch of the notice of such meeting
and ending no later than seven days prior to the date
appointed for such general meeting, and the length of the
notice period shall be at least seven days:

(@ a written notice of such proposal for the attention of
the Company Secretary, signed by the shareholder who
is qualified to attend and vote at the general meeting;

(b) biographical details of the candidate as set out in Rule
13.51(2)(a) to (x) of the Listing Rules; and

() a written consent signed by the candidate indicating
his/her willingness to be elected.

SHAREHOLDERS' ENQUIRIES

Shareholders should direct their questions about their
shareholdings to the Company’s Hong Kong branch share
registrar: Tricor Standard Limited at 17/F., Far East Finance
Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Admiralty, Hong Kong.

Other enquiries or comments raised by any Shareholder
can be mailed to the Board at the Company’s head office in
Hong Kong at Room 3306-08, 33rd Floor, West Tower, Shun
Tak Centre, 200 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong or sent
through email to info@fujianholdings.com.

RISK MANAGEMENT

The Company’s management believes that risk management
is an essential component of the Group’s administrative
structure. The management assists the Board in evaluating
material risk exposure existing in the Group’s business,
including investment risk, interest rate risk, liquidity risk etc,
and participates in designing and formulating appropriate risk
management and internal control measures, and to ensure
its implementation in daily operational management.
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The management considers that the investment risk
management measures provide guarantee to the Group
through its way of seeking new development opportunities,
as to secure reasonable return in every investment, to reduce
investment risks and to avoid possible loss attributable to
investments.

The Group's risk management towards liquidity aims to
ensure that under all circumstances there exists sufficient
capital to fulfill repayment obligations of all debts due, to
maintain good creditworthiness, to finance reasonable
investment opportunities and to fuel business development.
The Group's accounting department is responsible for daily
financial activities and monitoring liquidity position from time
to time to cope with business operation of the Company.

The Board had conducted a review on the effectiveness of
the Group's internal control and risk management systems
once during the year ended 31 December 2023 which
covered financial, operational, compliance procedural
and risk management functions and had considered the
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programmes and budget of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function. In light of the
size and scale of the Group's businesses, the Board is also
delegated with the responsibilities for the internal control of
the Group and for reviewing its effectiveness.

The Group believes that good corporate governance
practices are very important for maintaining and promoting
investor confidence and for the sustainable growth of the
Group. The Group has therefore made continued efforts to
uplift its quality of corporate governance. It has established
a highly effective system of internal controls and adopted a
series of measures to ensure its safety and effectiveness. As
a result, the Group is able to safeguard its assets and protect
the interests of its shareholders.

The Board is of the view that the systems of internal
control and risk management are effective and there are
no irregularities, improprieties, frauds or other deficiencies
that suggest material deficiency in the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control system.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

EREIRE (W)

CORPORATE MONITOR

The Board is responsible for monitoring the Group’s
overall corporate reporting process and control system,
while the corporate reporting standard is handled by the
accounting department, which makes regular review
of resources allocation and financial reporting system
properly. Compliance with Code on Corporate Governance
Practices, the Listing Rules, SFO and other applicable laws
and regulations are handled by the Company Secretary. The
company’s management meets with the Executive Directors
regularly to review and brief the reporting system, and the
Audit Committee annually to review and brief the reporting
system.

A package of detailed materials setting out the duties and
responsibilities of the Directors of the Company is provided
to each newly appointed Director of the Company, in which
it is especially specified the applicable rules and regulations
(including the Listing Rules) that the first time appointed
Directors of the Company shall notice and understand.

In respect of the securities transactions made by Directors
and relevant employees, the Company has adopted
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules, the Model Code, as its
own Code of conduct regarding the standard for securities
transactions. Printed copies of the Model Code have been
distributed to each Director and relevant employees of the
Group as stipulated therein. Having made specific enquires
of all Directors, all the Directors confirmed that they have
complied with the standards set out therein.

Employees who are likely to be in possession of unpublished
price-sensitive information about the Group are also subject
to compliance with guidelines on no less exacting terms than
the Model Code.

On behalf of the Board

LIN Nuchao
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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Independent Auditors’ Report
1L B BB 3R 5

HLB

TO THE MEMBERS OF
FUJIAN HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Fujian Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 77 to
182, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of material accounting policy
information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2023, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing ("HKSASs") issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with
the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Independent Auditors’ Report (Continued)
WIS E ()

KEY AUDIT MATTERS REFEHER

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional RBI#E EHEERIBER MO EEHE R
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the AYHAHGABERENEFHTRAEE
consolidated financial statements of the current period. W EHE - E L EERERFETEREEZES
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit B BMELMHEAE S REETEIEN - H M
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and S ELEIEREHEEENER

in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a

separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

MEETERE BMERTHHUENEESTR

Valuation of financial instrument at fair value through profit or loss
Refer to Note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.
UAREGTEAREE A SHEBEZEMT AT

BRHRGE B BHE PR T21

We identified the valuation of financial instrument  Our procedures in relation to valuation of financial
at fair value through profit or loss as a key instrument at fair value through profit or loss included:
audit matter due to high degree of estimation

uncertainty in determining the fair value. —  Evaluating the objectivity, independence and
competency of the external valuer engaged by the

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's financial management;

instrument at fair value through profit or loss

amounted to HK$95,073,000. - Obtaining understanding of the approach and

valuation methodology adopted;

- Assessing the methodologies and assumptions
adopted in the valuation with support of Auditors'
valuation experts;

BPERTHHETAANAABEFELF AR RAEPBTAARREEFELFABRZERNE
SHEE BEREREARNBESIEFERS FERE:
BREMMGET T EEME At AT — B
BAFEIH - - FHAEEEESNIIBEEMMBRMEBBOMGE
BEERNFEHIE  BILIEMEES
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Independent Auditors’ Report (Continued)

BIAZBEEE ()

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continuea)

Key audit matter

MEEEER )

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

HRESSHE

BMEFTHHENEESR

Valuation of financial instrument at fair value through profit or loss (Continued)

Refer to Note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.

URREFNEBARBE A ERHBEZL T AT (F)

FRE R GBI E P 21

Significant estimation and judgement are required
by management to determine the fair values. To
support management’s determination of the fair
value, the Group engaged an external valuer to
perform valuations on these assets at the end of
the reporting period.

EEEFTRETEEMNMGMAE RETE R
BE RXEEEEREAAEE  SEEGI
MEEMNRERARYELEEELTTHE"

Checking the accuracy of the fair value calculation
prepared by the external valuer;

Checking the accuracy and relevance of the input
data used in the valuation;

Assessing the adequacy of disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements.
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Independent Auditors’ Report (Continued)

BIAZBEEE ()

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continuea)

Key audit matter

MEEE =R )

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

HRESSHE

Valuation of investment properties

BMEFTHHENEESR

Refer to Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

REYFEFE
FRE R G E L BT 18

We identified the valuation of investment
properties as a key audit matter due to the
management’s judgement associated with
determining the fair value.

The Group has various investment properties
in Hong Kong. Such investment properties are
measured at fair value and the aggregate carrying
amount of these investment properties was
HK$227,100,000 as at 31 December 2023.

Significant estimation and judgement are
required by management to determine the fair
values of the investment properties. To support
management’s determination of the fair value,
the Group engaged an external valuer to perform
valuations on these assets at the end of the
reporting period.

BNBARENENHEABRES BT R
R 2 5 B T 0 A (BB 7 I 0 T At 2t
aH -

BEEENRBARBE TREDE - ZAREME
BAREFE ELREVERBE_T_=
F+ZA=+—H&#KMEE(E%227,100,000
BT °

EIEEARFELEXNGR RHALE  UEEREY
EHRAE RERREHRIIEFXFEHE
HRBEEELABEREUFHEAAE -

Our procedures in relation to valuation of investment
properties included:

—  Evaluating the objectivity, independence and
competency of the external valuer engaged by the
management and the valuation specialist engaged
by us;

- Obtaining understanding of the approach and
valuation methodology adopted;

- Assessing whether the investment properties
were valued on a consistence basis;

- Engaging a valuation specialist to assist us to
assess the methodologies and assumptions
adopted in the valuation;

- Checking the accuracy of the fair value calculation
prepared by the external valuer; and

—  Assessing the adequacy of disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements.
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Independent Auditors’ Report (Continued)

BIAZBEEE ()

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditors’ report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on
the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS
AND AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditors’ Report (Continued)

BIAZBEEE ()

AUDITORS' RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our
opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a
high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAS, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies

used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.
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Independent Auditors’ Report (Continued)

BIAZBEEE ()

AUDITORS' RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

o Cconclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.
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Independent Auditors’ Report (Continued)

BIAZBEEE ()

AUDITORS' RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this
independent auditors’ report is Fong Ka Yiu.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Fong Ka Yiu
Practising Certificate Number: PO8080

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
and Other Comprehensive Income
FeESREMZHEER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)
HE_ZT-=F+"A=1+—ALFE CUETIIR)

Revenue W &= 5 35,206,652 18,898,404
Other income H A 7 816,414 318,271
Other gains and losses Htnm R EE 8 (17,233,696) (2,473,799)
Employee benefits expense EIEAZH 12 (13,407,499) (11,227,512)
Depreciation of property, ME BERSENE

plant and equipment 16 (3,496,698) (3,765,086)
Depreciation of right-of-use FEHAEEEIRTE

assets 17 (3,040,808) (3,076,609)
Finance costs B # BR A 10 (59,855) (96,737)
Share of (loss)/profit of BiEBE AR 2

associates (F518) &R (768,071) 4,332,636
Loss on deemed disposal RIELEBEQATZ

of an associate B8 20 - (2,085,554)
Other operating expenses HihREEH 9 (21,771,679) (13,725,543)
Loss before tax BB AIE R 12 (23,755,240) (12,901,529)
Income tax credit/(expense) FiBBiE SR (X H) 11 926,168 (1,406,268)
Loss for the year attributable Z<F EE#E 5 &R

to owners of the Company EATEFEEA (22,829,072) (14,307,797)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
and Other Comprehensive Income (Continued)
SeRaehEt2ZEKEE (§)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)
HE-_ZT-=F+"A=1+—HALFE CUBTIIR)

Other comprehensive Hfth 2 HB X 5
expense attributable to REQRFEA

owners of the Company
Items that may be reclassified GEE A ED B R B o A -
Ssubsequently to profit or 10ss:

Exchange differences on REBINEBEEZ

translating foreign operations bE 5 = &E (775,682) (10,966,105)
Exchange differences EROEEERN

reclassified to profit or bE 5 =58

loss upon:

Deemed disposal of an R S0 E A Al

associate - (1,862,871)
Other comprehensive AEEHMEHEEZ D E

expense for the year RAEQRFEANR
attributable to owners Friss
of the Company, net of
income tax (775,682) (12,828,976)

Total comprehensive expense ZA&FE2HEB X2 &
for the year attributable to RELQRFEA

owners of the Company (23,604,754) (27,136,773)
Loss per share BREE
Basic (HK cents per share) BEAR(SREWL 15 (1.99) (1.25)
Diluted (HK cents per share) #5& (ZRE) 15 (1.99) (1.25)
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consolidated Statement of Financial Position
REMERRAR
At 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)

R-ZZE-_=F+=-A=1+—H UABTIR)

Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment E N G i 16 9,045,282 12,596,501
Right-of-use assets EREEE 17 3,883,545 6,924,353
Investment properties BEY X 18 227,100,000 234,900,000
Interest in associates AN T e 20 13,543,109 14,513,460
Financial assets at fair value FEREREANEBESE
through profit or loss ZEREE 21 95,073,000 104,515,000
348,644,936 373,449,314
Current assets REBEE
Inventories rE 22 189,098 285,767
Trade and other receivables B 5 K E At FE AR K 23 1,893,347 970,883
Cash and bank balances 5 & MIRTT4E 88 24 39,473,290 39,730,957
41,555,735 40,987,607
Current liabilities ?EJEF
Trade and other payables B 5 & H M E AT BR K 25 11,032,940 9,503,695
Lease liabilities f EaE 26 248,245 1,234,573
11,281,185 10,738,268
Net current assets REBEEFE 30,274,550 30,249,339
Total assets less current HEERARBERE
liabilities 378,919,486 403,698,653
Capital and reserves BXR#E
Equity attributable to owners of ~ AAFHEAH A
the Company JE(h
Share capital fi% 7% 28 898,839,029 898,839,029
Reserves G (519,919,543)  (496,314,789)
Total equity A RES AR 378,919,486 402,524,240
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Lease liabilities HEEE 26 - 248,245
Deferred tax liabilities REEBIEBE 27 - 926,168
- 1,174,413
378,919,486 403,698,653
The consolidated financial statements on pages 77 to 182 EE®R—Z —FF =4+ /\H BBt /E
were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of IETM% TF'J?*& R EZIREMIGERETET7
Directors on 28 March 2024 and signed on its behalf by: 1828 -
Lin Nuchao Yang Liyu
Mz BAE
Director Director
E2 EF

_7_
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
weRoenE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)
HEZZ-_=F+-A=1+—HLEFE CAETITR)

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARRHEEAELL
Share Translation  Accumulated
capital reserve losses
B BERE 2 BB
(Note 28)
(B3 28)
Balance at 1 January 2022 WZE-_—F—H—H 898,839,029 1,178,116 (470,356,132) 429,661,013
Loss for the year AEEEE - - (14,307,797) (14,307,797)
Other comprehensive AEEHEMZEX N
expense for the year - (12,828,976) - (12,828,976)
Total comprehensive AEFZRAEYHAE
expense for the year - (12,828,976) (14,307,797) (27,136,773)

Balance at 31 December 2022 R-ZE__%F+_H

and at 1 January 2023 =+—-Hk
—“E-=F—H—H 898,839,029 (11,650,860) (484,663,929) 402,524,240
Loss for the year AEEEE - - (22,829,072)  (22,829,072)
Other comprehensive AEZHEMERST N
expense for the year - (775,682) - (775,682)
Total comprehensive AFEEEL AR
expense for the year - (775,682)  (22,829,072)  (23,604,754)
Balance at 31 December R-ZZB-=%+ZAH
2023 =t+-H 898,839,029 (12,426,542) (507,493,001) 378,919,486
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consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
ReHaRER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)
HE_ZT-=F+"A=1+—ALFE CUETIIR)

Cash flows from operating activities & £KE v HEHE
Loss for the year KFEEFHIE (22,829,072) (14,307,797)
Adjustments for: FEIFE :
Income tax (credit)/expense IS8 (%) i (926,168) 1,406,263
Bank interest income RITH B UA (666,589) (50,854)
Share of (loss)/profit of associates X hayiAl/NC]
(E518) /&7 768,071 (4,332,636)
Finance costs BT A AR 59,855 96,737
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 3,040,808 3,076,609
Depreciation of property, plant and M- WEREBIITE
equipment 3,496,698 3,765,086
Net decrease in fair value REWEANEFRD
of investment properties 7,800,000 900,000
Loss arising on change in fair value of ~ E4ABSREEZ AAE
financial assets at fair BB CRBEE AR
value through profit or loss NfE) 9,442,000 1,573,866
Loss/(Gain) on deemed disposal of an RIEHEBE QA2
associate Ee, () - 2,085,554
Loss on disposal of property, HEME - BEREHEZ
plant and equipment EEER 9,523 6,828
195,126 (5,780,339)
Movements in working capital EELESEHI LER S
Decrease/(Increase) in inventories FERL,(Em) 93,207 (17,782)
(Increase)/Decrease in trade and B 5 & E A FE U AR 5K
other receivables (), Rk (936,500) 895,165
Increase/(Decrease) in trade and B 5 K E A FE AT BR SR
other payables #n, Crd) 1,615,820 (466,008)
Cash used in operating activities REXEBREX 967,653 (5,368,964)
Interest received 2 U F B 666,589 809,988
Net cash generated by/(used in)in K&XBHEEHAE (XH)
operating activities FE 1,634,242 (4,558,976)

TTC=F o RBZEREARLH
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consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)
ReHERER (#F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)
HE-_ZT-=F+"A=1+—HALFE CUBTIIR)

Cash flows from investing activities REXE R ERE

Payments for property, plant and BEWE  WENMEKE
equipment (25,458) (617,008)
Net cash used in investing activities REXBE RS HFHE (25,458) (617,008)

Cash flows from financing activities MHE£¥KBERE

Repayments for lease liabilities HERBBEER (1,234,573) (1,222,553)
Interest paid ERFE (59,855) (96,737)
Net cash used in financing activities K EBE B & HFHE (1,294,428) (1,319,290)

Net increase/(decrease) incashand BRE&RBEZEBEM - GAL)

cash equivalents FE 314,356 (6,495,274)
cash and cash equivalents at the FUzEEeRESEE

beginning of year 39,730,957 49,520,268
Effects of foreign exchange rate changes [ &R & &) > & (572,023) (3,294,037)
cash and cash equivalents FHZESRESEE

at the end of year, representing BNIE & KB ITAER

cash and bank balances 39,473,290 39,730,957
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ReME RN

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)
BE_Z_=F1+-_A=t—BLEFEWETIIT)

1.

GENERAL

Fujian Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is incorporated
in Hong Kong as a public limited company and its
shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Its immediate holding
company is HC Technology Capital Company Limited,
a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
and its ultimate holding company is Fujian Tourism
Development Group Company Limited (“FTDC"), a state-
owned corporation in the People’s Republic of China
(the "PRC"). The addresses of the registered office and
principal place of business of the Company is Room
3306-08, 33/F, West Tower, Shun Tak Centre, 200
Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong.

The principal activities of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) are
investment holding, property investment in Hong Kong
and hotel operations in the PRC.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars, which is also the functional currency
of the Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Continued)
e ERME (8)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)

S

2.

84

TEC=HF+ A=+ —HEFECABTIIR)

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs")

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied following
new and amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
for the first time, which are mandatorily effective for
the annual period beginning on or after 1 January
2023 for the preparation of the consolidated financial
Statements:

HKFRS 17 (including the
October 2020 and
February 2022
Amendments to HKFRS 17)

Insurance Contracts

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates

Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities
arising from a Single
Transaction

International Tax Reform-Pillar
Two model Rules

Amendments to HKAS 1and  Disclosure of Accounting

HKFRS Practice Statement 2  Policies

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 12

The application of the new and amendments to
HKFRSs in the current year has had no material impact
on the Group's consolidated financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on
the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
Statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Continued)
TEMBEHEERME (8)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)
HE_ZT-=F+"A=1+—ALFE CUETIIR)

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“"HKFRSS") (continuea)

Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following
amendments to HKFRSS that have been issued but not
yet effective:

Sale or Contribution of
Assets between an
Investor and its Associate
or Joint Venture'

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback?

Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-
current and related
amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5

Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 1

(2020)?
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants?
Amendments to Supplier Finance
HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 Arrangements?

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability®

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be

determined.
? Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.
3 for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of all amendments to HKFRSs will have
no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Continued)
e ERME (8)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)
HE-_ZT-=F+"A=1+—HALFE CUBTIIR)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

3.1

3.2

86

Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSS issued by
the HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements, information
is considered material if such information is
reasonably expected to influence decisions made
by primary users. In addition, the consolidated
financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (“CQ").

Material accounting policy information
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and
entities controlled by the Company and its
subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

o has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its
returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls
an investee if facts and circumstances indicate
that there are changes to one or more of the
three elements of control listed above.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(Continued)
FREMERERMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)
HE_ZT-=F+"A=1+—ALFE CUETIIR)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continueqd)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the
Group obtains control over the subsidiary and
ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of
a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the
year are included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
from the date the Group gains control until the
date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other
comprehensive income are attributed to
the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests. Total comprehensive income
of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests
even if this results in the non-controlling interests
having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies into line with the Group's
accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in
full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are
presented separately from the Group’s equity
therein, which represent present ownership
interests entitling their holders to a proportionate
share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries
upon liquidation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Continued)
e ERME (8)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)

S

3.

88

TEC=HF+ A=+ —HEFECABTIIR)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Interest in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group
has significant influence. Significant influence
is the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the investee but is
not control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates
are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of
accounting. The financial statements of associates
used for equity accounting purposes are prepared
using uniform accounting policies as those of the
Group for like transactions and events in similar
circumstances. Under the equity method, an
investment in associates is initially recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise
the Group’s share of the profit or loss and
other comprehensive income of the associates.
Changes in net assets of the associates other than
profit or loss and other comprehensive income
are not accounted for unless such changes
resulted in changes in ownership interest held
by the Group. When the Group’s share of losses
of associates exceeds the Group's interest in
associates (which includes any long-term interests
that, in substance, form part of the Group”’ s
net investment in the associates), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further
losses. Additional losses are recognised only to
the extent that the Group has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments on
behalf of the associates.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(Continued)
FREMERERMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)

BE_Z_=F+_A=+—HIEFECAETITR)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)
Interest in associates (Continued)

An investment in associates is accounted for
using the equity method from the date on which
the investee becomes an associate. On acquisition
of the investment in associates, any excess of the
cost of the investment over the Group's share of
the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill,
which is included within the carrying amount of
the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share
of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities over the cost of the investment, after
reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit
or loss in the period in which the investment is
acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in associates may be
impaired. When any objective evidence exists,
the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by
comparing its recoverable amount (higher of
value in use and fair value less costs of disposal)
with its carrying amount. Any impairment l0ss
recognised is not allocated to any asset, including
goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount
of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment
loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36
to the extent that the recoverable amount of the
investment subsequently increases.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Continued)
e ERME (8)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)

S

3.

90

TEC=HF+ A=+ —HEFECABTIIR)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Interest in associates (Continued)

When the Group ceases to have significant
influence over associates, it is accounted for as
a disposal of the entire interest in the investee
with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in
profit or l0ss. When the Group retains an interest
in the former associates and the retained interest
is a financial asset within the scope of HKFRS 9,
the Group measures the retained interest at fair
value at that date and the fair value is regarded as
its fair value on initial recognition. The difference
between the carrying amount of the associates,
and the fair value of any retained interest and any
proceeds from disposing of the relevant interest
in the associates is included in the determination
of the gain or loss on disposal of the associates.
In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to the associates on the same
basis as would be required if the associates
had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously
recognised in other comprehensive income by the
associates would be reclassified to profit or loss
on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities,
the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity
to profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment)
upon disposal/partial disposal of the relevant
associate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(Continued)
FREMERERMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)
HE_ZT-=F+"A=1+—ALFE CUETIIR)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when
“control” of the goods or services underlying the
particular performance obligation is transferred to
the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good and
service that is distinct or a series of distinct goods
or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following
criteria is met:

e  the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the
Group's performance as the Group performs;

o the Group's performance creates or
enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group
and the Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to
date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in
time when the customer obtains control of the
distinct good or service.

Revenue from hotel operations

Accommodation income is recognised in the
period in which such services are rendered
because the customer simultaneously receives
and consumes the benefits provided by the
Group.

Catering and other income is recognised when
the goods or services is transferred or rendered
to the customer.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(Continued)
FREMBERERMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)
HE-_ZT-=F+"A=1+—HALFE CUBTIIR)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or
after the date of initial application of HKFRS 16 or
arising from business combinations, the Group
assesses whether a contract is or contains a
lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at
inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed
unless the terms and conditions of the contract
are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

For a contract that contains a lease component
and one or more additional lease or non-
lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-
alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(Continued)
FREMERERMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)

BE_ZT_=F+-_A=+—BUEFEUAETIIT)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)
Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease
recognition exemption to leases of office premise
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from
the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option. It also applies the recognition
exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease
payments on short-term leases and leases of
low- value assets are recognised as expense on
a straight-line basis or another systematic basis

over the lease term.
Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the

lease liability;

o any lease payments made at or before
the commencement date, less any lease

incentives received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group;

and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the
Group in dismantling and removing the
underlying assets, restoring the site on
which it is located or restoring the underlying
asset to the condition required by the terms

and conditions of the lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Continued)
e ERME (8)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

94

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-
line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful
life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a
separate line item on the consolidated statement
of financial position.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the
present value of lease payments that are unpaid
at that date. In calculating the present value of
lease payments, the Group uses the incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease in not
readily determinable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(Continued)
FREMERERMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)
HE_ZT-=F+"A=1+—ALFE CUETIIR)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)
The lease payments include:

o fixed payments (including in-substance
fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an
index or a rate, initially measured using the
index or rate as at the commencement date;

o amounts expected to be payable by the
Group under residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the
Group is reasonable certain to exercise the
option; and

o payments of penalties for terminating a
lease, if the lease term reflects the Group
exercising an option to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities
are adjusted by interest accretion and lease
payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of
financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Continued)
e ERME (8)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)

S

TEC=HF+ A=+ —HEFECABTIIR)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

96

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are
classified as finance or operating leases.
Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee,
the contract is classified as a finance lease. All
other leases are classified as operating leases.

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases
are recognised as receivables at commencement
date at amounts equal to net investments in the
leases, measured using the interest rate implicit
in the respective leases. Initial direct costs (other
than those incurred by manufacturer or dealer
lessors) are included in the initial measurement of
the net investments in the leases. Interest income
is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect
a constant periodic rate of return on the Group'’s
net investment outstanding in respect of the
leases.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(Continued)
FREMERERMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessor (Continued)

Classification and measurement of leases
(Continued)

Rental income from operating leases is recognised
in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs
incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset, and such costs are recognised as
an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
term except for investment properties measured
under fair value model. Variable lease payments
for operating leases that depend on an index or a
rate are estimated and included in the total lease
payments to be recognised on a straight-line basis
over the lease term. Variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or a rate are
recognised as income when they arise.

Interest and rental income which are derived
from the Group's ordinary course of business are
presented as revenue.

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

When a contract includes both leases and non-
lease components, the Group applies HKFRS 15
Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“"HKFRS
15") to allocate consideration in a contract to
lease and non-lease components. Non-lease
components are separated from lease component
on the basis of their relative stand-alone selling
prices.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Continued)
e ERME (8)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)

S

— = —

TEC=HF+ A=+ —HEFECABTIIR)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

98

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessor (Continued)

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are
accounted for under HKFRS 9 and initially
measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value
at initial recognition are considered as additional
lease payments from lessees.

Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that
were not part of the original terms and conditions
are accounted for as lease modifications,
including lease incentives provided through
forgiveness or reduction of rentals.

The Group accounts for a modification to an
operating lease as a new lease from the effective
date of the modification, considering any prepaid
or accrued lease payments relating to the original
lease as part of the lease payments for the new
lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(Continued)
FREMERERMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)
Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each
individual group entity, transactions in currencies
other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at
the rate of exchanges prevailing on the dates
of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing
at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair
value that are denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the
date when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement
of monetary items, and on the retranslation of
monetary items, are recognised in profit or 10ss in
the period in which they arise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(Continued)
FREMBERERMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)
HE-_ZT-=F+"A=1+—HALFE CUBTIIR)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of
the Group’s operations are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong
Kong dollars) using exchange rates prevailing at
the end of each reporting period. Income and
expenses items are translated at the average
exchange rates for the period, unless exchange
rates fluctuate significantly during the period,
in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of transactions are used. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated
in equity under the heading of translation
reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as
appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is,
a disposal of the Group's entire interest in a
foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of
control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation, or a partial disposal of an interest in a
joint arrangement or an associate that includes a
foreign operation of which the retained interest
becomes a financial asset), all of the exchange
differences accumulated in equity in respect of
that operation attributable to the owners of the
Company are reclassified to profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(Continued)
FREMERERMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)
HE_ZT-=F+"A=1+—ALFE CUETIIR)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Employee benefits

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the defined contribution retirement
benefit plans are recognised as an expense when
employees have rendered service entitling them
to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised
at the undiscounted amount of the benefits
expected to be paid as and when employees
rendered the services. All short-term employee
benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion
of the benefit in the cost of an asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Continued)
e ERME (8)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)

S

3.

102

TEC=HF+ A=+ —HEFECABTIIR)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the
current and deferred income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable
profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from
profit/loss before tax because of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used
in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are
generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition (other than in
a business combination) of assets and liabilities
in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit and at the time
of the transaction does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences. In
addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised
if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(Continued)
FREMERERMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)
HE_ZT-=F+"A=1+—ALFE CUETIIR)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for
taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries and associates, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of
the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising
from deductible temporary differences associated
with such investments and interests are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that
there will be sufficient taxable profits against
which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in
the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured
at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the
period in which the liability is settled or the asset
realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and
assets reflects the tax consequences that would
follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets
and liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Continued)
e ERME (8)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax
liabilities or deferred tax assets for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value
model, the carrying amounts of such properties
are presumed to be recovered entirely through
sale, unless the presumption is rebutted. The
presumption is rebutted when the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a
business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment property over time,
rather than through sale.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax
for leasing transactions in which the Group
recognises the right-of-use assets and the
related lease liabilities, the Group first determines
whether the tax deductions are attributable to the
right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities
and when they relate to income taxes levied by
to the same taxable entity by the same taxation
authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit
or loss, except when they relate to items that
are recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case, the current
and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(Continued)
FREMERERMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)
HE_ZT-=F+"A=1+—ALFE CUETIIR)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including hotel
property held for use in the production or supply
of goods or services, or for administrative
purposes, are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost or fair value
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if
any.

Hotel property is interests in buildings and their
integral fixed plant which are collectively used in
the operations of the hotel, and are stated at cost
less subsequent depreciation and impairment
losses. The related repairs and maintenance
attributable to hotel property are charged to
the consolidated statement of profit or 10ss
and other comprehensive income in the period
which they are incurred. The costs of significant
improvements are capitalised.

Depreciation of the hotel property is calculated on
the straight-line basis to write off the cost of the
hotel property over the remaining lease terms.

Depreciation of other property, plant and
equipment is recognised so as to write off the
cost of assets less their residual values over their
useful lives and after taking into account of their
estimated residual value, using the reducing
balance method at a principal annual rate of
20%. The estimated useful lives, residual values
and depreciation method are reviewed at the
end of each reporting period, with the effect
of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)
Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from
the continued use of the asset. Any gain or 10ss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as
the difference between the sales proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset is recognised in
profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn
rentals and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties also include leased
properties which are being recognised as right-
of- use assets and subleased by the Group under
operating leases.

Investment properties are initially measured
at cost, including any directly attributable
expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are measured at their
fair values, adjusted to exclude any prepaid or
accrued operating lease income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair
value of investment properties are included in
profit or loss for the period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon
disposal or when the investment property is
permanently withdrawn from use and no future
economic benefits are expected from its disposals.
A leased property which is recognised as a
right-of-use asset is derecognised if the Group
as intermediate lessor classifies the sublease
as a finance lease. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of the property (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset) is included in
profit or loss in the period in which the property is
derecognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(Continued)
FREMERERMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of its property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets to
determine whether there is any indication that the
assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the relevant asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss (if
any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount individually, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the assets belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
corporate assets are allocated to the relevant
cash-generating unit when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be established,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash generating units for which a
reasonable and consistent allocation basis
can be established. The recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit or group
of cash-generating units to which the corporate
asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying
amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or
group of cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating
unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows
have not been adjusted.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Continued)
e ERME (8)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

108

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets
(Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to
its recoverable amount. For corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets which cannot be
allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to
a cash-generating unit, the Group compares the
carrying amount of a group of cash-generating
units, including the carrying amounts of the
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets
allocated to that group of cash-generating units,
with the recoverable amount of the group of cash-
generating units. In allocating the impairment loss,
the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit or the group of cash-generating units. The
carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below
the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable), its value in use (if determinable)
and zero. The amount of the impairment l0ss
that would otherwise have been allocated to the
asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of
the unit or the group of cash-generating units.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

Where an impairment 10ss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-
generating unit or a group of cash-generating
units) is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset
(or a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-
generating units) in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Continued)
TEMBEHEERME (8)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)
HE_ZT-=F+"A=1+—ALFE CUETIIR)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. FEMBBEENRUREELERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL EgrEE 2
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information 32 EESHHBEFER (&)
(Continuead)
Cash and cash equivalents HENESEEY
Cash and cash equivalents presented on the RSB BIRREZYHIRS &
consolidated statement of financial position BHEZEYEIE:
include:
(@ cash, which comprises of cash on hand and @ RE BEAERESEEE

demand deposits, excluding bank balances
that are subject to regulatory restrictions
that result in such balances no longer
meeting the definition of cash; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of
short-term (generally with original maturity
of three months or less), highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible
to a known amount of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value. Cash equivalents are held for
the purpose of meeting short-term cash
commitments rather than for investment or
other purposes.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Costs of inventories are
determined on a first-in-first-out basis. Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling
price for inventories less all estimated costs of
completion and costs necessary to make the
sale. Costs necessary to make the sale include
incremental costs directly attributable to the sale
and non-incremental costs which the Group must
incur to make the sale.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Continued)
e ERME (8)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)

S

3.

110

TEC=HF+ A=+ —HEFECABTIIR)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
recognised when a group entity becomes a party
to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
All regular way purchases or sales are purchases
or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivable
arising from contracts with customers which are
initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and
financial liabilities (other than financial assets or
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVTPL")) are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset
or financial liability and of allocating interest
income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments (including all fees and points paid
or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life
of financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(Continued)
FREMERERMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)
HE_ZT-=F+"A=1+—ALFE CUETIIR)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is to collect
contractual cash flows; and

e  the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(Continued)
FREMBERERMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)
HE-_ZT-=F+"A=1+—HALFE CUBTIIR)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

All other financial assets are subsequently
measured at FVTPL, except that at initial
recognition of a financial asset the Group may
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes
in fair value of an equity investment in other
comprehensive income if that equity investment
is neither held for trading nor contingent
consideration recognised by an acquirer in a
business combination to which HKFRS 3 Business
Combinations applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the
purpose of selling in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio
of identified financial instruments that the
Group manages together and has a recent
actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and
effective as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate
a financial asset that are required to be measured
at the amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured
at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly
reduces an accounting mismatch.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Continued)
TEMBEHEERME (8)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)
HE_ZT-=F+"A=1+—ALFE CUETIIR)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

(i)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the
effective interest method for financial assets
measured subsequently at amortised cost.
Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of a financial asset, except
for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the
credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial
asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the
beginning of the reporting period following
the determination that the asset is no longer
credit impaired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Continued)
e ERME (8)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)
HE-_ZT-=F+"A=1+—HALFE CUBTIIR)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. ﬁ%iﬂﬁﬁiﬂﬁﬂgiﬁ&i
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL BEEBE e
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information 32 EESHHBEER (&)

(Continuead)

Financial instruments (Continued) EWMIA(E)

Financial assets (Continuead) THEE (&)

Classification and subsequent measurement of TRMEEDERERITE (B)

financial assets (Continued)

(i) Financial assets at FVTPL (il TARBEFABERZNEHE

B
Financial assets that do not meet the PEEREBHEKASIZ AR
criteria for being measure at amortised Bt 2 HMEE W IETE
cost or FVTOCI or designated as FVTOCI are RIBAREFEHAMES W
measured at FVTPL. BRI ERENSREERIZ
/Mﬁ.ﬁiﬁﬁm AR

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured AAEFEBEEHFTA
at fair value at the end of each reporting “‘Hﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬂ’]iwﬁéﬁ?&%#&
period, with any fair value gains or losses HFHREAAEE - HAP
recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or ERAREEREAE BB
loss recognised in profit or loss includes any o NIBm RIS
interest earned on the financial asset and is BFEREZeMEEMBR
included in the “other gains and losses” line B ERAE - WETATE
item. i zs RSB IEE o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(Continued)
FREMERERMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)

BE_ZT_=F+-_A=+—BUEFEUAETIIT)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment
under expected credit loss (“ECL") model on
financial assets (including trade and other
receivables, and cash and bank balances) which
are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9. The
amount of ECL is updated at each reporting
date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result
from all possible default events over the expected
life of the relevant instrument. In contrast,
12-month ECL ("12m ECL") represents the
portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result
from default events that are possible within 12
months after the reporting date. Assessment are
done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific
to the debtors, general economic conditions and
an assessment of both the current conditions at
the reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified
approach to measure ECL when uses a lifetime
ECL for all trade receivables. To measure the ECL,
trade receivables have been grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics and the day past
due.

For all other financial assets, the Group measures
the loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless
there has been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, in which case the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment
of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is
based on significant increases in the likelihood or
risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Continued)
e ERME (8)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

116

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that
is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit risk
has increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial instrument’s
external (if available) or internal credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations,

o an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of the
debtor; or

o an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(Continued)
FREMERERMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the credit
risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are
more than 30 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that
the credit risk on a debt instrument has not
increased significantly since initial recognition
if the debt instrument is determined to have
low credit risk at the reporting date. A debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk
if (i) it has a low risk of default, (ii) the borrower
has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term and (iii)
adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower
to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. The
Group considers a debt instrument to have low
credit risk when it has an internal or external
credit rating of “investment grade” as per globally
understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk
and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount becomes
past due.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

118

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group,
in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion
iS more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable data about
the following events:

(@ significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
the borrower;

(b)y a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

() the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic
or contractual reasons relating to the
borrower’s financial difficulty, having granted
to the borrower a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise consider; or

(d) itis becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(Continued)
FREMERERMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continuea)

Financial instruments (Continuea)
Financial assets (Continued)
Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery. Financial assets written
off may still be subject to enforcement activities
under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking
into account legal advice where appropriate. A
write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or
loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount
that is determined with the respective risks of
default occurring as the weights. The Group uses
a practical expedient in estimating ECL on trade
receivables using a provision matrix taking into
consideration historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for forward looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and
the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables are
considered on a collective basis taking into
consideration past due information and relevant
credit information such as forward looking
macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

° Past-due status;

o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

o External credit rating where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure the constituents of
each group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or
loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments
by adjusting their carrying amount, with the
exception of trade receivables and contract
assets where the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance account.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(Continued)
FREMERERMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)
HE_ZT-=F+"A=1+—ALFE CUETIIR)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Foreign exchange gains and losses

The carrying amount of financial assets that are
denominated in a foreign currency is determined
in that foreign currency and translated at the
spot rate at the end of each reporting period.
Specifically for financial assets measured at
FVTPL that are not part of a designated hedging
relationship, exchange differences are recognised
in profit or loss in the ‘Other gains and losses' line
item as part of the gain/(loss) from changes in fair
value of financial assets.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only
when the contractual rights to the cash flows
from the asset expire.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or
loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified
as either financial liabilities or as equity in
accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

122

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(Continued)

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that
evidences a residual interest in the assets of
an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct
issue costs.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities (including trade and other
payables, and lease liabilities) are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities
when, and only when, the Group's obligations
are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(Continued)
FREMERERMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)
HE_ZT-=F+"A=1+—ALFE CUETIIR)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@ the party is a person or a close member of
that person’s family and that person,

() has controls or joint control over the
Group;

(i) has significant influence over the
Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of a parent
of the Group;

or
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Related parties (Continuead)
(b) the party is an entity where any of the
following conditions applies:

() the entity and the Group are members
of the same group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint
venture of the other entity (or of a
parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary
of the other entity),

the entity and the Group are joint
ventures of the same third party;,

one entity is a joint venture of a
third entity and the other entity is an
associate of the third party;,

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of
either the Group or an entity related to
the Group;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(Continued)
FREMERERMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)
HE_ZT-=F+"A=1+—ALFE CUETIIR)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Related parties (Continuead)

(b)y (Continued)

(viy the entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in (a);

(vi) a person identified in (a)(i) has
significant influence over the entity or
is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity); and

(viii) the entity or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the parent of the Group.

Close member of the family of a person are
those family members who may be expected to
inference, or be inference by, that person in their
dealing with the entity.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in Note 3, the directors of the
Company are required to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors
that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the
estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period, or in the period of the revision and future
periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning
the future, and other key sources of estimation
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the
next financial year.

Investment properties

Investment properties are stated at fair value based on
the valuation performed by independent professional
valuers. In determining the fair value, the valuers
have based on a method of valuation which involves
certain estimates. In relying on the valuation report,
the directors of the Company have exercised their
judgement and are satisfied that the method of
valuation is reflective of the current market conditions
and underlying assumptions adopted for capitalisation
of the income derived from the existing tenancies with
due provision for the reversionary income potential of
the property interests.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continuea)

Provision of ECL for trade receivables

Trade receivables with significant balances and credit-
impaired are assessed for ECL individually. In addition,
the Group uses group based on shared credit risks
characteristics and the days past due to calculate ECL
for the trade receivables. The loss allowances are based
on assumptions about risk of default and expected
loss rates. The Group uses judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation, based on the Group's past history, existing
market conditions as well as forward looking estimates
at the end of each reporting period.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in
estimates. The information about the ECL and the
Group's trade receivables are disclosed in Note 31.

Estimated impairment of property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
are stated at costs less accumulated depreciation and
impairment, if any. In determining whether an asset
is impaired, the Group has to exercise judgement and
make estimation, particularly in assessing: (1) whether
an event has occurred or any indicators that may affect
the asset value; (2) whether the carrying value of an
asset can be supported by the recoverable amount,
in the case of value in use, the net present value of
future cash flows which are estimated based upon the
continued use of the asset; and (3) the appropriate key
assumptions to be applied in estimated based upon
the continued use of the asset; and (4) the appropriate
key assumptions to be applied in estimating the
recoverable amounts including cash flow projections
and an appropriate discount rate. When it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of and
individual asset (including right- of-use assets), the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash
generating unit to which the assets belongs. Changing
the assumptions and estimates, including the discount
rates or the growth rate in the cash flow projections,
could materially affect the net present value used in the
impairment test.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Estimated impairment of property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets
(Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amounts of
right- of-use assets, property, plant and equipment, are
HK$3,883,545 and HK$9,045,282 (2022: HK$6,924,353
and HK$12,596,501) respectively. Details of property,
plant and equipment, right-of-use assets, are disclosed
in Notes 16 and 17 respectively.

Valuation of investments classified as
level 3 in the fair value hierarchy

The Group holds financial instruments that are not
traded or quoted in active markets. The Group uses
its judgement to select the appropriate methods and
make assumptions based on market conditions existing
at the end of each reporting period to estimate the fair
value of such financial instruments classified as level 3
in the fair value hierarchy. Valuation technigues include
the market approach using prices and other relevant
information generated by market transactions involving
identical or comparable assets or liabilities such as net
assets values as provided by an independent third-party
qualified valuers. Although the best estimate is used
in estimating fair values, there are inherent limitations
in any valuation technique. Estimated fair values may
differ from the values that would have been used if a
readily available market existed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)
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5. REVENUE 5 k&
An analysis of revenue is as follows: W DT

Revenue from other sources H A ZEFURA
— Gross rental income from —HEYFEIRE D IEEN
property investment segment F AR BA 3,891,544 4,511,972
Revenue from contracts with HEARWA
customers
— Hotel operations — B IE E R 31,315,108 14,386,432
35,206,652 18,898,404
(i) Disaggregated of revenue from () REEFERNBADH

contracts with customers

Types of goods or services B Y=k AR 7% 19 38 Bl
Accommodation income XEIHEBA 16,170,206 5,893,525
Catering and other income B R HMBA 15,144,902 8,492,907

31,315,108 14,386,432

Geographical markets ZEihEE D HiE
Mainland China AR B A b 31,315,108 14,386,432

Timing of revenue recognition U A 7 52 5
A point in time A — B 5 B 15,144,902 8,492,907
Over time R — ER B 16,170,206 5,893,525

31,315,108 14,386,432
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Continued)
e ERME (8)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)

S

5.

130

—E_=F+-_A=+—BLFE UABTIR)
REVENUE (ontinued)

(ii) Performance obligations

Accommodation income is recognised in the
period in which such services are rendered
because the customer simultaneously receives
and consumes the benefits provided by the
Group.

The transaction prices allocated to the remaining
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially
unsatisfied) as at 31 December 2023 are all
expected to be recognised within one year.

Catering and other income is recognised when
the goods or services is transferred or rendered
to the customer.

SEGMENT REPORTING

Information reported to the Board of Directors of the
Company, being the chief operating decision maker
("CODM"), for the purposes of resource allocation
and assessment of segment performance focuses on
types of services provided. Certain prior year segment
disclosures have been represented to conform with the
current year's presentation.

The Group's operating and reportable segments under
HKFRS 8 are as follows:

Property investment - the rental of investment
properties
Hotel operations - the operation of hotel

FUJIAN HOLDINGS LIMITED e« ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(Continued)

e MBEmERME (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)
HE-Z-_=F+-A=1T—HLFECETITR)

6. SEGMENT REPORTING (continuead) 6.

Segment revenue and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and
results by reportable and operating segments:

SEMER @)

PRl e E S

REBIZ A B RN
AT

D EP &l D e &

Property investment Hotel operations Total
NERE BEER 4y
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
“E-CZE | DECCE | CECcE | D20 —E-cE D2
REPORTABLE SEGMENT REVENUE B34 %82 2 iz
Revenue from external RENPRP Y
customers 3,891,544 4511972 31,315,108 14,386,432 35,206,652 18,898,404
REPORTABLE SEGMENT RESULT ~ B 2812 2 £
Segment result before other At ERER
gains and losses: BRMAHEE 3562666 4251802 (2510679 (9575535 1051987 (532373
Net decrease in fair value of REMENDA
investment properties BEFHD (7,800,000) (900,000) - - (7,800,000) (900,000
Segment resLt GEEL (4,237,334) 3351802 (2,510,679) (9575535  (6,748,013)  (6,223,733)
Unallocated income FERMA 11,695 8153
Finance costs BB (59,855) 96,737)
Corporate administration costs DETBRE (6,748,996)  (6576,677)
Loss arising on change in air value of B BRHER AL EME
financial assets at fair value BEVSREENEL
through profit or loss (9,442,0000  (2333,000)
Share of (ossyprofit of associates  FERBE R EZ
(B8) /&R (768,071) 433263
Loss on deemed disposal of an 1& HERENE Y
associate B8 - (2085,55)
Loss before tax BRAsE (23,755,240)  (12901,529)
Income tax credit/(expense) fERES/ (i) 926,168  (1406269)
Loss for the year RERER (22,829,072)  (14,307,797)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(Continued)
FREMBERERMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)
HE-_ZT-=F+"A=1+—HALFE CUBTIIR)

6. SEGMENT REPORTING (continuead)

Segment revenue and results (Continued)

Segment revenue reported above represents revenue
generated from external customers. There were no
inter-segment sales in the current year (2022: Nil).

The accounting policies of the operating segments are
the same as the Group’s accounting policies. Segment
profit represents the profit earned by each segment
without allocation of other unallocated income,
corporate administration costs including directors’
remuneration, 10ss on deemed disposal of an associate,
share of (loss)/profit of associates, loss arising on
change in fair value of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss and income tax credit/(expense).
This is the measure reported to the CODM for the
purposes of resource allocation and performance
assessment.

Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group's assets and
liabilities by reportable and operating segments:

Property investment

SEMER @)
DEbM R R RAE ()

FXFHRz D REFIE R BINEEF
2 RERWES BEHEEEE (=
T F ) o

AIRHLEED B EFTBRRARE
B et BRMER - 2 EBMAFIES DB
FRE 2 B A - ME 0 D Bl E b R D
WA EETBERABREZTME
BIELEBERRZBERERER
Az (BR) /&BF  SRERE/R
BEGEZEMEEMNBRLAEN
B,/ (ZH) - WFEFE2HRTE
BREAREERERD R EFHER
B2 -

THEERER

AEEZA R EESFHE D 2E
ENMBEDIOT

Hotel operations

132

NERE BEEH
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
-%-= “E--F C-B-cE [ DESCE CFC= k- Sk
ASSETS EE
Segment assets NHEE 200,864,111 202295594 40,608,404 52981258 281472515 295276852
Interest in associates REERA ER 13,543,109 14513460
Financial assets at far value through -~ BRBHR AL EE
profit or loss EE/eREE 95,073,000 104,515,000
Unallocated corporate assets FBHNTEE 112,047 131,609
Consolidated total assets GRlEE 390,200,671 414436921
LIABILITIES 8f
Segment liabllities G (1,742918) (3248483  (8,593373) (6381885 (10,336,291)  (10,067,338)
Unallocated corporate liabilites FBHLAAE (944,894)  (1845343)
Consolicated total fiabilities TRk (11,281,185)  (11912681)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(Continued)
FREMERERMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)
HE_T_=F+_A=+—BIEFECANETIITR)

6. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)
Segment assets and liabilities (Continuea)
All assets are allocated to operating segments other
than interest in associates, financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss and certain cash and bank

balances.

All liabilities are allocated to operating segments other
than certain balances of current liabilities.

Other segment information

Property investment

VEST
2023 2002
—ECcE T2
Other segmentinformation £t 2 3$&H
Additionstonon-currentassets  EEHEERE - -

Depreciation of property, 0% BERABINE
plant and equipmen = -

Depreciation of ight-ofuse assets ~ FREAEZHE . -
Net decrease in fair value RENENALER

of investment properties Fh 7,800,000 900000
Loss on lisposal of property, HENE  BER

plant and equipment REEE - -

6. FWEH @)
THMEEREE )

%%ﬁbfﬁi&ﬁﬁ N AN
s EBRBERANEBEEL
TRMEERELERBAEE MAEE
BEsEEEENE -

BRRXERBDEEGEHRLETHEARE
v FTEREBE DR ER HHRDEE

Hib o HER

Hotel operations Unallocated Total

R £ Gk an
2023 202 2023 22 2023 202
CECCE D& CECCE TECF CECCE D3
25458 568358 -2 25,458 3047809
3474260 3744773 22,438 0313 3496,698 376508
1874007 1874007 1,166,801 1202602 3,040,808 3076409
- - - - 7,800,000 900,000
9,523 6828 - - 9,523 6828
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(Continued)
FREMBERERMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)
BE-ZT-_=F+-A=+—BLFEETIR)

6. SEGMENT REPORTING (continuead)

Geographical information

The Group operates in two principal geographical areas
- the Mainland China and Hong Kong.

Information about the Group’s revenue from external
customers is presented based on the location of the
operations. Information about the Group’s non-current
assets other than financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss is presented based on the geographical
location of assets are detailed below:

PEEHE 2
ih & &

AEBZEZBEENMIEEEERR
- E AR EE -

REEVE AKRERBINIEFZ
W kBRI RE D FER
BETNFRDEENRLEREAEE
MEBER  SREEEMELRE
T2 FHAERWT

Revenue from
external customers
RENREF 2z

Non-current assets
HRBEE

2023 2022 2023 2022
=FE | 22 —EC-= —E-

Mainland China REI A
Hong Kong B

31,315108 14,386,432 26,090,476 32,463,623
3,891,544 4,511,972 227,481,460 236,470,691

35,206,652 18,898,404 253,571,936 268,934,314

Information about major customers

No external customers of the Group contributed over
10% of the Group's revenue for the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022.

7. OTHER INCOME

FBEREFHNESR

KEEBR-_E_ZFR-_ZF-__FF
WEBITEFEAEET LN S
BiB10% 2 EE W ©

Hftnlr A

Bank interest income R R B UL A 666,589 50,854
Government grants B E B - 139,696
Others Efth 149,825 127,721

816,414 318,271
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(Continued)
FREMERERMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)
HE-Z-_=F+-A=1T—HLFECETITR)

8. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

8. Hftlh2REHIR

Net decrease in fair value of

BREMEN R AEFRD

investment properties (7,800,000) (900,000)
Loss arising on change in fair value E4 B @ BIEREALEE
of financial assets at fair value BECeMEEANE
through profit or loss W BiE (9,442,000) (1,573,866)
Loss on disposal of property, BREME - #a3 MR EDN
plant and equipment B (9,523) (6,828)
Net foreign exchange gains F N U A 17,827 6,895
(17,233,696) (2,473,799)
9. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES 9. HftiEEEH

Auditors’ remuneration B R B 839,500 780,000
Business taxes and other charges EEB S KM 741,202 259,498
Bank charges B 75 & A 142,739 86,148
Hotel operations I 8 8,119,739 4,959,423
Legal and professional fee FENEEER 453,757 324,628
Listing cost ETARAR 323,833 303,909
Management fee EEEA 361,739 318,345
Other operating expenses HihZEE 8,717,710 4,986,392
Rent and rate He &%ﬁm 376,325 162,102
Sundry expenses HibhHh 296,169 526,183
Utilities expenses UNZE 35 1,398,966 1,018,915

21,771,679 13,725,543

10. FINANCE COSTS

10. AR E

Interest on lease liabilities

HEBENE 59,855

96,737
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Continued)
e ERME (8)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)

S

11.

136

TEC=HF+ A=+ —HEFECABTIIR)

INCOME TAX

1. Fie#R

Deferred tax: RIETIA -

Current year KFEE (926,168) 1,406,268
Total income tax (credit)/expense REERIBRRERR

recognised in profit or loss FiB® (Ee) /T (926,168) 1,406,263

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong
Kong Profits Tax, the first HK$2 million of profits of
the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and
profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The
profits of group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a
flat rate of 16.5%. Accordingly, the Hong Kong Profits
Tax of the qualifying group entity is calculated at 8.25%
on the first HK$2 million of the estimated assessable
profits and at 16.5% on the estimated assessable profits
above HK$2 million.

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China
on Enterprise Income Tax (the "EIT Law”) and
Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate
of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Continued)
TEMBEHEERME (8)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)
HE_ZT-=F+"A=1+—ALFE CUETIIR)

11. INCOME TAX (Continuead) 11. rEHR (2
The tax charge/(credit) for the year can be reconciled AN F E Ei’] MEBERHEEEBER KA
to profit before tax per the consolidated statement fth 2 T U &5 3% BT &0 B9 BR B BT & 1) ¥ AR
of profit or l0ss and other comprehensive income as (N
follows:
2023 —E-=
Hong Kong % PRC )
EiB Bk H Bt

Loss before tax BrEATE R (22,804,561) (950,679) (23,755,240)
Taxatapplicable taxrates  ZRERAWEHEHF  (3,762,753) 16.50  (237,670) 25.00 (4,000,423)
Tax effect of expenses not ~ Re[HIFEE 2

deductible for tax purpose BB EFE 3,214,703 755,807 3,970,510
Tax effect of income not BARBERZ

taxable for tax purpose Mgz 2 (294) (257,534) (257,828)
Tax effect of temporary RERZAEHE

difference not recognised ~ ZERBFE (7,619) 188,836 181,217
Tax effect of tax losses AERTBERL

not recognised mETE 555,963 - 555,963
Utilisation of tax losses BRENRERLZ

previously not recognised  FASE B - (1,341,371) (1,341,371)
Change in deferred tax BERAMET

liabilities previously HEARMNEL

recognised (34,236) - (34,236)
Income tax credit for FARBHEE

the year (34,236) (891,932) (926,168)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Continued)
e ERME (8)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)
BE-ZT-_=F+-A=+—BLFEETIR)

11. INCOME TAX (continuea) 1. hieR (2

2022 —E-—

Hong Kong %

BB Bt

Loss before tax BR#aERE (4,879,166) (8,022,363) (12,901,529)
Taxatapplicabletaxrates ~ REABEFERMZ (805,062 1650 (2,005,591) 2500 (2,810,653)
Tax effect of expenses not ~ Re[HIFIEE 2

deductible for tax purpose B i £ 1,370,340 324,941 1,695,281
Tax effect of income not BERVEAZ

taxable for tax purpose METE (962,406) (698,924) (1,661,330)
Tax effect of temporary RERZEERE

difference not recognised ~ ZERBFE (16,085) 600,217 584,132
Tax effect of tax losses AERVBERL

not recognised mETE 413,213 1,298,806 1,712,019
Change in deferred tax BERANHIE

assets relating to tax EBEAROERET

losses previously HEEEMEL

recognised 1,886,819 - 1,886,819

Income tax expense/(credit) FRFHBZ L,/
for the year (%) 1,886,819 (480,557) 1,406,268
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Continued)
TEMBEHEERME (8)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)
HE_ZT-=F+"A=1+—ALFE CUETIIR)

12. LOSS FOR THE YEAR 12. xFEBR

Loss for the year has been AEEFBE GTA) Mk :
arrived at after (crediting)/
charging:
Gross rental income from "EMERSWALEE
investment properties (3,891,544) (4,511,972)
Less: direct operating expenses B ANFE R AR E Y U ER
incurred for investment ZHAEWAMESE
properties that generated BEEKEER
rental income during the year 328,878 260,170

(3,562,666) (4,251,802)

Employee benefits expense (including & T&FI3

directors’ remunerations): (BIEESEHE):
Salaries and other benefits inkind ¥ & M EMZ &R 12,255,379 10,267,791
contributions to retirement benefit  RKEH &t 3
scheme 1,152,120 959,721
13,407,499 11,227,512
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ FREEEZITE 3,040,808 3,076,609
Depreciation of hotel property BIEMEZITE 2,449,064 2,449,064
Depreciation of other property, plant E A% - E M & #E 2
and equipment weE 1,047,634 1,316,022
Total depreciation RITE 6,537,506 6,841,695
Auditors’ remuneration ZEET BN & 839,500 780,000
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Continued)
e ERME (8)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)
HE-_ZT-=F+"A=1+—HALFE CUBTIIR)

13. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 13. EEREEITHA R FHEA
EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s remuneration for the KEEFETHRAEBRES  BiF L
year, disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules MR R ARG HEELT
and CO, is as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE-E-_=+=-HA=+—8
Salaries Contributions

and other to retirement
benefits benefit Total

Name of Directors in kind scheme emoluments
FeKHEAM
EEpS 4 EN2EH BARGEMHK e

(A) Executive Directors HTEE

Ms. Lin Nuchao M - - - -
Mr. Yang Liyu (Chief Executive) BRI E (778 #7)
(Note () Cikz0) - - = -
Mr. Zhang Jianmin REH - 777,000 131,974 908,974
Sub-total NG - 777,000 131,974 908,974
The Executive Directors’ emoluments shown above NERTEEFHEZERMMAER
were mainly for their services with the management of NEIRANEBEL 2 EBITBR -

the affairs of the Company and the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Continued)
TEMBEHEERME (8)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)
HE_ZT-=F+"A=1+—ALFE CUETIIR)

13. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 13. EEREEITHARFHEA
EMOLUMENTS (Continued) (%)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE-ZE-_=+=-HA=t+—8

Salaries Contributions
and other to retirement
benefits benefit Total

Name of Directors in kind scheme emoluments
FEeRHEAM
EEpS 4 EN2EH BARGEMHK e

(B) Non-Executive Directors ##TEE
Mr. Wang Ruilian (Note (i) X/ (B3 (i) ~ - - -

Ms. Weng Weijian SRE - - - _

Ms. Chen Danyun BRE = = - -

Sub-total Nat = - - -
The Non-executive Directors’ emoluments shown N EERTEETFMEEZERARA]
above were mainly for their services as directors of the HEMBEARINESMMEL 2R -

Company or its subsidiaries.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Continued)
e ERME (8)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)
HE-_ZT-=F+"A=1+—HALFE CUBTIIR)

13. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 13. EEREEITHARTHE =)
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE-ZE-_=+=-HA=t+—8

Salaries Contributions
and other to retirement

benefits benefit Total
Name of Directors in kind scheme emoluments
HeRHAM
ESpng 4 EMzEN BAGTELRK B EMH
(C) Independent Non- BUFHTES
executive Directors
Mr. Lam Kwong Siu MEK 120,000 - - 120,000
Ms. Liu Mei Ling Rhoda BER 120,000 - - 120,000
Mr. Ng Man Kung R 120,000 - - 120,000
Sub-total INET 360,000 - - 360,000
The Independent Non-executive Directors’ emoluments NEBIHFATESTFMEEZERR
shown above were mainly for their services as director NEIEEMEL 2R -
of the Company.
Total FoEn 360,000 777,000 131,974 1,268,974
Notes: BisE -
0} Mr. Yang Liyu is also the chief executive and the emoluments (i) B ELEENABITHREA  EXBENOH:
disclosed above including these for service rendered by him as BIEMIEATTHRAHMREHRREOIE -

chief executive.

(ii) Mr. Wang Ruilian was resigned on 7 March 2024. (i) FIHREER T _NF=RLBHIE-
There was no arrangement under which the Director AAREEHIFBTHRABRBELH
or the Chief Executive waived or agreed to waive any BRI AERBREMME -

remuneration during the year.
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TEMBEHEERME (8)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)
HE-Z-_=F+-A=1T—HLFECETITR)

13. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 13. EEREEITHARTHE =)
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-_T-_—_F+-A=+—H

Salaries  Contributions
and other  to retirement
benefits benefit Total

Name of Directors in kind scheme  emoluments
HeREAM
B4 he  EMZER RAHEER @ EH

(A) Executive Directors HTEE

Ms. Lin Nuchao (Note () Mz (L () - - - -
Mr. Yang Liyu (Note (i) BRE (FEE(D) - - - -
Mr. Zhang Jianmin (Note (i) 3R & (KI5 (i) - 437,250 57,837 495,087
Ms. Chen Danyun (Note (iv)) ~ FRAAE (P zE(v) - 350,000 - 350,000
Mr. Chen Yang (Note (v)) B1E (HEE ) - 270,000 - 270,000
Sub-total INET - 1,057,250 57,837 1,115,087
The Executive Directors’ emoluments shown above NERTESFFMEZEEAMMER
were mainly for their services with the management of NAIRAEBEL 2 EBITHART
the affairs of the Company and the Group.
Notes: B3
0} Ms. Lin Nuchao was appointed on 23 June 2022. [0} MEBLLTR T —F AT =B E °
(ii) Mr. Yang Liyu was appointed in 23 June 2022. Mr. Yang Liyu is also (i) BHEEER-_ZT__FAT=AKAE
the chief executive and the emoluments disclosed above including e B ERETARRATHRAE HE
these for service rendered by him as the chief executive. REXFEBENHNEIEEEARTRERR
HRHOE -
(i) Mr. Zhang Jianmin was appointed on 23 June 2022. iy  REELAN-—Z-_—FNA-+=BWES -
(ivy  Ms. Chen Danyun was re-designated as non-executive director (iv) MAZEZLTtHR-_ZE-_—FXXAZ+=AFH
on 23 June 2022 and the amount shown above represents the WIETEAIEWNTES  LMSBERRMIER
remuneration received by her as Executive Director. WMITEFFTE AR -
(v) Mr. Chen Yang resigned on 23 June 2022. (v) BRBEER_ZE__FARA-T=B&E
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)
BE-ZT-_=F+-A=+—BLFEETIR)

13. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 13. EEREEITHARTHE =)
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE-_T-_—_F+-A=+—H

Salaries  Contributions
and other  to retirement
benefits benefit Total

Name of Directors in kind scheme  emoluments
HeREAM
BEENA e BEWIEN RIKEFEER FERE

(B) Non-Executive Directors & {TEE

Mr. Feng Qiang (Note (i) iEEACIEL) - - - -
Mr. Wang Ruilian Tk - - - _
Ms. Weng Weijian SRR - - - _

Ms. Chen Danyun (Note (i) BRAFE (I Gi) - - - -

Sub-total INat - - - _
The Non-executive Directors’ emoluments shown NEERTEETFMEEZERARA]
above were mainly for their services as directors of the S EMBARMNESAIEL 2R -
Company or its subsidiaries.

Notes: B3

0} Mr. Feng Qiang resigned on 23 June 2022. [0} BLTER TS _FNAZT=HEH-

(ii) Ms. Chen Danyun was re-designated as non-executive director (i) BAEZtR _E-—FA=-+=AFH
on 23 June 2022 and the amount shown above represents the WIEEARIEWNITES  LMSHBERRMIER
remuneration received by her as Non-Executive Director. JENITE BRTEE 2 AOSREN -
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HE_T_=F+_A=+—BIEFECANETIITR)

jal Statements

13. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 13. EEREEITHARTHE =)

EMOLUMENTS (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2022

Name of Directors

BSNA

(C) Independent Non- BYFHTES
executive Directors

BE-T--4+-A=1-A

Salaries  Contributions
and other  to retirement
benefits benefit Total
inkind scheme  emoluments
He Rk EfM
EMRN  RIRGEIEK Bt e

Mr. Lam Kwong Siu WEK 120,000 - - 120,000
Ms. Liu Mei Ling Rhoda BER 120,000 - - 120,000
Mr. Ng Man Kung R 120,000 - - 120,000
Sub-total e 360,000 - - 360,000

The Independent Non-executive Directors’ emoluments

AEBIFATESTFHERERLN

shown above were mainly for their services as director NEIEEMELZ R -
of the Company.
Total &t 360,000 1,057,250 57,837 1,475,087
14. EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS 14. EEM £

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments
in the Group, one (2022: two) was Director(s) of the
Company whose emoluments are included in the
disclosure in Note 13 above. The emoluments of the
remaining four (2022: three) individuals was as follows:

The&asHEEY —R(ZT==
F WA RESRITHREBE  HBEZ
Me B ANTEIB3ZEEHMER - &
BB (ZEZZF =) ALTZH
Ban T

Salaries and other benefits in kind HehEMEYZEF 1,653,798 1,206,000

Contributions to retirement IRIRETEIHE R
benefit schemes 71,085 46,670
1,724,883 1,252,670
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S

14.

15.

146

TEC=F+ - A=+—HIEFE (AETIR)
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (continued)

The emolument was within HK$1,000,000 for each
highest paid individual.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, no
emolument was paid by the Group to the five highest
paid individuals, including the Directors of the
Company, as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office (2022: Nil).

LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share
for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 are
based on the Group’s loss attributable to the owners of
the Company is based on the following data:

14.

15.

ERME =)

F% & E8MEN<E A& F£ 571,000,000
BILZA °

HE-_T-_=F+_A=+—HI1tF
EHE WEEAALT  2FARQ T
ZEZESAMEEAWRS AN
AREER B EABBEE (=
?**E : /éﬁg) °

< ——

BiRER

ARG EBEAHE-_ZE =K
—E- o+ -A=+—H2EHEZ
?%%$&%EEETW@EZ§H

AT R -

Loss B8
Loss for the year attributable to REFRARERFTFEA
owners of the Company for the E(EEEAUFEER
purposes of basic and diluted loss ~ E 7K K& # 58 7 E518
per share (22,829,072) (14,307,797)
Number of shares ROEE
Weighted average number of RUGTESRERREE
ordinary shares for the purposes EEzEBR
of basic and diluted loss per share 17 F 5 A% £ 1,145,546,000 1,145,546,000

No diluted loss per share for the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022 were presented as there
were no potential ordinary shares in issue for the years
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)
HE-Z-_=F+-A=1T—HLFECETITR)

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. MK - BMERERR

Plant,
machinery
Hotel Furniture Leasehold and
property and fixtures  improvements equipment
BE - #eE
EENE BRREE NELE k&
cosT REE
At 1 January 2022 i S e = 92,391,462 3,848,373 21,631,647 6,968,513 124,839,995
Additions nE - 446,807 - 170,201 617,008
Disposals HE - - - (24,273) (24,273)
Bxchange adjustments ~ ERE% - (322,018) (1,832,443) (578,796) (2,733,257)
At 31 December 2022 RZE-—F
and 1 January 2023 TZA=+-8k
“2-=F-f-H 92,391,462 3973162 19,799,204 6,535,645 122,699,473
Additions NE - - - 25,458 25,458
Disposals & - (14,925) - (71,650) (86,575)
Exchange adjustments (&R E% - (56,105) (282,933) (90,758) (429,796)
At 31 December 2023 RZZZ=F
+ZA=t+-8 92,391,462 3,902,132 19,516,271 6,398,695 122,208,560
ACCUMULATED EHERAE
DEPRECIATION AND
IMPAIRMENT
At 1 January 2022 RZZ--f-H-H 82,799,299 3,192,037 17,017,260 5,967,320 108,575,916
Provided for the year TEERE 2,449,064 227957 801,824 286,241 3,765,086
Eliminated on disposals &R 418 R #4 - - - (17,445) (17,445)
Bxchange adjustments ~ [ERE% - (276,621) (1472,988) (470,976) (2,220,585)
At 31December 2022and R-E-—F
1 January 2023 TZA=T-AEk
“2-=F-H-H 85,248,363 3,143,373 16,346,096 5,365,140 110,102,972
Provided for the year FEEHE 2,449,064 186,015 623,802 237817 3,496,698
Eliminated on disposals & % ¥ 84 % il 3 - (14,925) - (62,127) (77,052)
Exchange adjustments ~ [E R A% - (45,648) (237,744) (75,948) (359,340)
At 31 December 2023 R-Z-=fF
+-A=t+-8 87,697,427 3,268,815 16,732,154 5,464,882 113,163,278
CARRYING AMOUNTS ~ BREfE
At 31December2023 R-B-=f
+ZA=1+-H 4,694,035 633,317 2,784.117 933,813 9,045,282
At 31 December 2022 g ——
TZA J—— H 7,143,099 829,789 3453108 1,170,505 12,596,501
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17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 17. EHESEE
Leasehold Office
Land premise
HELH N
As at 31 December 2023 R=ZB==%
+=ZA=+-H
Carrying amount REE 3,591,839 291,706 3,883,545
As at 31 December 2022 i ——
+-A=+—H
Carrying amount ERHE 5,465,846 1,458,507 6,924,353
For the year ended BE-2-=F%
31 December 2023 +=ZRA=+-8
Depreciation charge wE 1,874,007 1,166,801 3,040,808
For the year ended e
31 December 2022 TZA=t-H
Depreciation charge e 1,874,007 1,202,602 3,076,609

Expense relating to short-term leases %2 FAFE €M & A 372,000 186,000
Total cash outflow for leases HMER e ML B 1,666,428 1,505,290
Addition to right-of-use assets FREEERE - 2,430,841
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17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continuea)

The Group leases leasehold land and office premise
for its operations. Lease terms were agreed on an
individual basis and contain a wide range of different
terms and conditions. In determining the lease term
and assessing the length of the non-cancellable
period, the Group applies the definition of a contract
and determines the period for which the contract is
enforceable.

The Group entered into short-term leases for staff
quarters and office premise. As at 31 December 2023
and 2022, the portfolio of these outstanding short-term
leases is similar to the portfolio during the year ended
31 December 2023 and 2022 with the corresponding
short-term lease expense disclosed above.

The lease agreements do not impose any covenants
other than security interests in the leased assets that
are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used
as security for borrowing purposes.

Leases for office premise and staff quarters are agreed
for terms ranging from one to three years, but may
have termination options as described below. The lease
for the leasehold land is agreed for a term of twenty
years, with remaining of 2 years as of 31 December
2023.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's right-of-use
assets amounted to HK$3,883,545 (2022: HK$6,924,353)
were located in Hong Kong and Mainland China.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group did not
enter into any leases that is not yet commenced.

17. ERERE &)

AEEHEEMEMB LM RIS A
TR E - HERFEREMERIE R H
BmiEE  HF BB ARMER
FG A o £ #E E A S BRI 7Y (4 A AJ
BUORMBIRE  AEERBARMNE
EWHETE S F AR HIAITHHIR o

AEBERETIEERFHAEHAEIAL
EHRAE R —ER-T -
FE+-_A=+—"H BEREER
HHEENKREEAEEE T - =4
NZFEZ—_F+_A=+—HLFE
MIEEAEEL HENCSHEES
FREN EHE -

RTREEARENHEEEETOE
RIEZE SN - FHE B M INEAT H A
WE - -HEBRETARIEEEER -

WMANGFHMETIESNHEEHRH
EAE—FE=F BAEEBNOTE
MR EEEE - HE T HWAOHEE D
EAR-_TFE R_E_=F+-A
=+ —BHEHFEGBME -

RZZE-_=ZF+-_A=+—8 &%
B &) F B AEE E 453,883,5458 7T (—
T 6,924,353 ) - (U EE
o FB B A i, o

R-EBE_=ZFR-_FT-_—_F+_H

=t+—B AEBEAKRFTZERFSG
MEMEE -
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17.

150

TEC=HF+ A=+ —HEFECABTIIR)

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continuea)

The Group has termination option in the lease for office
premise. This is used to maximise operational flexibility
in terms of managing the assets used in the Group'’s
operations. The termination option held is exercisable
only by the Group and not by the respective lessor.

In addition, the Group reassesses whether it is
reasonably certain not to exercise a termination option,
upon the occurrence of either a significant event or
a significant change in circumstances that is within
the control of the lessee. During the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022, there is no such triggering
event.

Notes: Pursuant to the terms of the joint venture agreement signed
between the Xiamen Railway Department Company Limited
(“Railway Department”) and Yan Hei Limited (“Yan Hei"), both parties
have agreed to establish a Sino-foreign co-operative joint venture
enterprise known as Xiamen South East Asia Hotel Company,
Limited (“Xiamen Plaza"), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company to operate and manage Xiamen South East Asia Hotel (the
“Hotel"”). The land use rights of the Hotel have been granted to the
joint venture partner and Xiamen Plaza is vested with the land use
rights of the Hotel throughout the operation period of Xiamen Plaza.
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AEBERASHNAEFEFLL
REE TEEESEELTFEANE
FHE WERA HRAEEIRSES

BEE -BHANKEEERERERAN
%@ﬁﬁ MARSEMNEEAITE -

BEAN - R A B A F SR E AR
BEANBRABEEERB(LR K&
EeEMTARE A AGEEE T
TERILEERE - BE_T_=F
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=t+—BLFE BECABESEMF-

MisE: RIBEPIFEABLR (HER] BARRF
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18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group leases its investment properties under
operating lease arrangements, with leases negotiated
for terms ranging from one to three years (2022: one to
five years).

- REME

AEBAKLEHELTHLHEYE - T
BEWEZHERAFRPRERBFHYE A
—E=FE(ZEF —FRHE) o

FAIR VALUE A RE
Balance at beginning of year FHRER 234,900,000 235,800,000
Net decrease in fair value recognised RIB#HERZ A EF

in profit or loss Rk (7,800,000) (900,000)
Balance at end of year FRER 227,100,000 234,900,000
Unrealised loss on properties BENEZ 2 RKEINR

revaluation included in profit or ) E= Ky =

loss (included in other losses (BIEREMEE R

and gains)

(7,800,000) (900,000)

All of the Group’s property interests held under
operating leases to earn rentals or for capital
appreciation purpose are measured using the fair
value model and are classified and accounted for as
investment properties.

The fair value of the Group's investment properties
at 31 December 2023 and 2022 have been arrived at
on the basis of a valuation carried out at that date
by Norton Appraisals Limited, independent qualified
professional valuer not connected with the Group.
Norton Appraisals Holdings Limited is a member of the
Hong Kong Institution of Surveyors.

PrERBELHEE R ERT B A RIUVE
ii{fé$i'fﬁ)ﬂﬁ2$‘il%%%

mIERAARERAAE XDBER
ANERBIEENE -

rEER—_ZTE=-=F+=-A=+—H
FZEZ—F+ZA=+—HZEA
L JE /NI I=WRE - &= NS ik i3 e
ZEN BEYEGEMN T HEERTMG
ﬁ@ AN Lt B EfEIT 2B EMmMS

c XA B ERARZEE BN
EEI:EE‘/E\E /\Z_ ©
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S

18.

152

“EC=F+ A=+ HLEFEAUETIIR)
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

The fair value of the commercial property units were
determined based on the income approach, where the
current passing rents and market rentals of all lettable
units of the properties are assessed and discounted
at the market yield expected by investors for this type
of properties. The current passing rents are assessed
by reference to the current tenancy agreements.
The market rentals are assessed by reference to the
rentals achieved in the lettable units of the properties
as well as other lettings of similar properties in the
neighbourhood. The discount rate is determined by
reference to the yields derived from analysing the sales
transactions of similar commercial properties in Hong
Kong and adjusted to take into account the market
expectation from property investors to reflect factors
specific to the Group's investment properties. There
has been no change from the valuation technique used
in the prior years.

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest
and best use of the properties are their current use.

One of the key inputs used in valuing the investment
properties was the discount rates used, which ranged
from 2.25% t0 3.75% (2022: 2.50% t0 3.75% per annum).
An increase in the discount rate used would result in a
decrease in fair value measurement of the investment
properties, and vice versa.

Another key inputs used in valuing the investment
properties was the market rent per month per square
feet, which ranged from HK$28.5 per month per square
feet to HK$43.5 per month per square feet (2022 HK$28
per month per square feet to HK$46 per month per
square feet). The higher the market rent per month per
square feet, the higher the fair value of the investment
properties, and vice versa.
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18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continuea)

The fair value of the parking space was determined
based on direct comparison method, which was making
reference to market observable transactions of similar
properties and adjust to reflect the conditions and
locations of the subject property. There has been no
change from the valuation technique used in the prior
year.

Details of the Group's investment properties and
information about the fair value hierarchy as at 31
December 2023 are as follows:

Commercial property units UREBNEHEYS
located in Hong Kong ME

Parking space located UREBNEEL
in Hong Kong

18. EMR (2

FEMNARERREERLEAE
EBERSEMS LRBAEEOY
25 R R LA R ) ) {6
{FRIRIE o b i f (B 75 % 880 1 43
AREL 3 R o

RZB_=ZF+-_A=+—H &%
BREMEZHBRAREBERZE
HEHImT

Fair value

as at

31 December
2023

R=-B-=%
TZA=+-H
ZARE

226,300,000 226,300,000

800,000 = 800,000

800,000 226,300,000 227,100,000

There was no transfer into or out of Level 2 and Level 3
during the year ended 31 December 2023.

Details of the Group's investment properties and
information about the fair value hierarchy as at 31
December 2022 are as follows:

Commercial property units URBBHEEN

BE_T_=—Ft+_A=1t—HBHH
MY EEALEHE R =4

R-E-——F+-_A=+—HAEH
KWEMEZHBRARNEBR ZER
F;IE -

Fair value

as at

31 December
2022

i ——
+-A=+—H

ZRfE

located in Hong Kong ES - 234,100,000 234,100,000
Parking space located in HongKong IR EBHIEE L 800,000 - 800,000
800,000 234,100,000 234,900,000

There was no transfers into or out of Level 2 and Level
3 during the year ended 31 December 2022.

BT -+ _-_A=+—HHME
NS A @S~ =4 -
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HEZZT

19. LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Company had
interests in the following subsidiaries:

154

Name of subsidiaries

(i Pk

Direct subsidiaries:

ERKEAR:

Ming Chuen Construction
Company, Limited

BIREERAA

Yan Hei Limited

Champ Profit Asia Investment
Limited (“Champ Profit")

BEDAREERAH
(I&EDK])

Nice Profit International Limited
("Nice Profit")

HEARERAA
(THZER])

Indirect subsidiary:
BEHEAR
Xiamen Plaza (Note (i)

FOB (PZE (D)

Notes:

Place of
establishment/
incorporation and
principal

place of operations
RY/FH
BIREE
B

Hong Kong
B

Hong Kong

R

Hong Kong

R

Hong Kong
&k

PRC
P

=F+-A=t+—BLFE AETIIR)

19. BB AT IIE
PiN/NIE] b =

Proportion of
nominal value
of issued capital/
registered capital
held by the Company
KAR L
BRIRAE/ERER
HEZBEDN
2023 2022
ZEC-ZF D2
%

100 100

100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100

(i) The deferred shares carry no right to dividends and no right to
receive notice of or to attend or vote at any general meeting
of the Company. In the winding-up of the Company, holders of
the deferred shares are entitled to receive half of the amounts
paid- up or credited as paid-up on shares after the holders of the
ordinary shares of the company have received a total return of

HK$10,000,000 per share.

(if) Xiamen Plaza was established as a sino-foreign co-operative joint
venture company under the laws of the PRC and is currently wholly-

owned by Yan Hei.
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=¥+=-R=+—H

T _F+-A=+—HFREE
ZEENBRARESIFBOT

Nominal value of
issued share capital/
registered capital

BRTRE/
AMEXEE

Ordinary HK$100,000
@R 100,000 BT

Ordinary HK$10,000
and Deferred (Note (i)
HK$10,000
010,000 BT
LB (FizEa)
10,000 BT

Registered capital
Ordinary HK$1

HMERERER1 AT

Ordinary HK$1

LER1ET

Registered capital
1S$5,000,000
#ff £ 75,000,000 £ 7T

ffaE

Principal activities

IRER

Investment holding
REAR

Investment holding

REARRK

Investment holding

REZR

Investment holding

RETR

Hotel operations

BEXH

(i) IEIERR (D R AR B - TR AR AR R A
ARABRERAEZBERHERERSSINE
FRE-EAREBTEERE  BEROEAR
ANBFRARERARBAEAREGARESR
10,000,000 7T + 75 7 #E W EL B 3t AR 19 8 1
S ABRVIERR 2 £ EGIE -

iy  FETIREDEARKMBEEREMKL
HRINEERE  WRCEEERE -
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20. INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES 20. PR EBAFICES
Details of the Group’s interest in associates are as AEEBEREFBHOT
follows:

Share of net assets FEE R 13,543,109 14,513,460
As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group had RZEZ=F+_A=+—HEZZE
interest in the following associates: T+ RA=t+—HBAKEZHE
DEFHEMT
Place of
establishment/
incorporation
and principal
place of Proportion of ownership Proportion of voting rights
Name of associates operation interest held by the Group held by the Group Principal activities
RIRTE FEEERS FEEREN
BENTER BXHH BENAARESLLH RERLA TEXK
2023 2022 2023 2022
ZEZZE [ 22 “EC-CE | D
% % % %

Fuzhou Harmony Piano PRC 25 25 25 25 Design, manufacturing
Co., Ltd. PRC ("Harmony (Indirect) (ndirect) ~(Indirect) (Indirect) and distribution of
Piano”) piano and related

products

RNMBRERNERAA TH 25 25 25 5 it HERSH
(THBHE]) (B#&) (A#&) (B#&) (F%)  WHEEEER
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20. INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (continuea)

Summarised financial information of

associates

The summarised financial information in respect of the
Group’s associates is set out below. The summarised
financial information below represents amounts shown
in the associate’s financial statements prepared in

accordance with HKFRSSs.

All of these associates are accounted for using
the equity method in these consolidated financial

Statements.

Harmony Piano

20. REERFIZHEG &)

BENTZMBENRE

AT BASENEERR M B®mE
MIReERZMBENBME  DIRES
7B B 7 S R R T 224

RIFEMBHMRP ZABRE QRS
RABEREANDR

MBRE

Current assets MENE B 59,272,517 57,662,497
Non-current assets ERENEE 11,231,268 14,254,505
Current liabilities mEBBE (16,331,348)  (13,863,161)
Non-current liabilities ERBEIE - -
Revenue e 19,608,062 21,941,110
Loss for the year KEEEE (3,072,284) (6,977,763)
Other comprehensive income REEHMPEKE

for the year (809,120) (5,719,888)
Total comprehensive expense AEEEHS LR

for the year (3,881,404) (12,697,651)

Dividend received from
the associate during the year

WER B 5 [ 2 A 7
Z BB
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20. INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (continuead) 20. REELNFIZER 2)
Summarised financial information of BMENTBZHMBERBE (&)
associates (Continuea)

Harmony Piano (Continued) MEBRE(2)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial Lkﬁﬂkéﬂﬁigéﬂﬁ? MBHmEA
information to the carrying amounts of the interest in BRNEE AR M ERREEN YR
associates recognised in the consolidated financial wm

21.

statements as follows:

Net assets of Harmony Piano MBMEZ FEE 54,172,437 58,053,841
Proportion of the Group’s ownership 7 £& B fiE 5 71 22 8 =

interest in Harmony Piano AMEAEEZBES L 25% 25%
Carrying amount of the Group’s REBEHMEBRE 2

interest in Harmony Piano R AREE 13,543,109 14,513,460
FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 21. BBAREBBAAEEHGEZR
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS MEE

Financial assets mandatorily measured at FVTPL: BHIEAABERFABRIEREE

Unlisted equity securities R ET R IR EE 95,073,000 104,515,000
Note: B3

The unlisted equity securities are shares in Fujian Huamin Leasing, a RETHWREZTSFSREERRENRG  ZAR
company incorporated in PRC which is providing of financial leasing and REFERMEME  RESHEERBBRE -
associated services. As at 31 December 2023, the Group held 18.44% equity HE2028F12A310 SEFFREERMEEAA
interest in Fujian Huamin Leasing. 18.44% Hy & ©
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e ERME (8)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)
BE-ZT-_=F+-A=+—BLFEETIR)

21. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 21. BRARRBOARE®GEZS

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (continued) MEE 2
The following table summarizes the quantitative AT RSB TEHZE2023F 12 H31H
information about the significant unobservable inputs NE=-RAABEFEFMEANEE
used in level 3 fair value measurements as at 31 TR B RE ANBEEA -
December 2023 and 2022:
Relationship of
Significant unobservable Sensitivity of
Valuation unobservable input(s) to fair value
Description Fair value  technique input fair value Range of inputs to the input
EARABE FIRERANER DEHBAK
i ME BERE BAHE MEEZBE LN I Ha
HKS
B
Fujian Huamin Leasing ~ HK$95,073,000 Market approach Price-to-book ratio Higher the price-to-book ratio, 0.98t01.08 Aporoximately
FREERS 02 WERE [ higher the fair valle and (2022:099101.10) HK$90,320,000t0
HK$104,515,000) Vice versa (+/-5% relative to approximately
mEEREE D EEEE input adopted) HK$99.827,000
R4 09851108 (2002: Approximately
(ZBZZF:09%981.00) HK$99,289,000 to
(455 EER approximately
fRRHEA) HK$109,741,000)
990,320,000
EN987000ET
(CB_Zf:4
99,289,000/ 7L
109,741,000 370)
Discount for fack of Higher the discount for lack of 7.31%108.08% Approximately
marketability marketabily, lower the fair -~ (2022: 8.26%109.13%) HK$95,470,000 10
[ aiE Valug and vice Versa (+-5% relative to approximately
MERBTNEE DA input adopted) HKS94,677,000
B R 731%5808% (2022 Approximately
(ZEZz%:826%9.3) HK$105,013,000t0
(+/-5% R aporoximately
FRRNEA) HK$104,018,000)
0954700007 T
ZUETT00ET
(ZF22E:9
105,013,000/ 73!
1104 018000%T0)
The reconciliation of movements in Level 3 financial Fo-ATHMIARAABEFENE
instruments measured at fair value are set out in note B P AR IB R I EE3T o
31.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Continued)
TEMBEHEERME (8)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)
HE-Z-_=F+=-A=1+—HLFE GCAETIITR)

22.

23.

INVENTORIES

22. 58

Consumables SEFER

189,098 285,767

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

23. 8 5 K H il FE U AR X

Trade receivables UL E Z R 1,313,213 378,603
Loss allowance VERIERE L] (114,063) (115,717)
1,199,150 262,886

Other receivables, utility deposits Hh e KIE - A FRIE
and prepayments e R FKIE 698,068 13,405,258
Loss allowance BB T (3,871) (12,697,261)
694,197 707,997
Total trade and other receivables B 5 & H A FEUER R 4R %E 1,893,347 970,883

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables
net of loss allowance presented based on the invoice
dates at the end of the reporting period.

UTRBEERAARREZRAH
BRI E B FHBR B R B RO RREC D AT ©

0-30 days 0-30% 1,313,213 365,562

31-60 days 31-60 X - 13,041
1,313,213 378,603

Less: Loss allowance R E RS (114,063) (115,717)
1,199,150 262,886

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other
receivables for the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022 are set out in Note 31.

B2 - =-F+-_A=+—HBK=
E-—F+-A=+—HILFENE
S5 N E A EW TR ET G FEEHR
FfifsE31 o
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e ERME (8)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)

S

24.

25.

160

“EC=F+ A=+ HLEFEAUETIIR)

CASH AND BANK BALANCES

24. e R WITHER

Cash at bank and in hand RITREFR®

39,473,290 39,730,957

Bank balances carry interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates.

At 31 December 2023, time deposit, cash and bank
balances of the Group denominated in Renminbi (‘/RMB")
amounted to approximately HK$26,334,000 (2022:
HK$34,118,000). The remittance of these funds out of
the PRC is subject to the exchange control restrictions
imposed by the government of the PRC.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

RITHEMRIRE BRI TN ERFE

RZEBEZ=F+=ZA=+—H ' 4%
BTHEZ BeMRITEHRASAR
B (TARE ) & 58 K 426,334,000 7%
TT(ZZT =~ :34,118,00887T) &
@Eﬁ¢lé*$lﬁf;m%%[
E TR ©

25. 8 5 K H i FE £ AR X

Trade payables FETE 5 RR K 1,217,017 1,103,193
Other payables and accruals Hh AR R BT B A 8,459,613 6,783,074
Rental deposits received BEWEeZe 1,356,310 1,617,428
Total trade and other payables B REMENERRERE 11,032,940 9,503,695

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables
presented based on the invoice date at the end of the
reporting period:

ENEZETINFERRGEE
SHZKRESTMT

Shivgl

0-180 days 0-180 H 1,012,002 728,335
181-360 days 181-360 H = 127,398
Over 360 days #8348 360 B 205,015 247,460

1,217,017 1,103,193

The average credit period is 60 days (2022: 60 days).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Continued)
TEMBEHEERME (8)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)
HE_T_=F+_A=+—BIEFECANETIITR)

26. LEASE LIABILITIES 26. HEAR

Lease liabilities payable: ENHEEAE:
Within one year R—FR 248,245 1,234,573
Within a period of more than ZHR—FERHBB - FHM
one year but not more than
two years - 248,245
248,245 1,482,818
Less: Amount due for settlement B mEBBEEBE TERW
with 12 months shown 12E AR EREE R
under current liabilities (248,245) (1,234,573)
Amount due for settlement after FEmBBEETERD
12 months shown under 12EAENENEERE
non-current liabilities - 248,245
27. DEFERRED TAXATION 27. ;EERIA
The following are the major deferred tax balances LAT?%ZIKE ERARFE KRBT FER®
recognised and movements thereon during the current R EBREBIRER R A S
and prior year:
Deferred tax liabilities EEHEBEAE
Accelerated tax
depreciation
IRTRIBTE
At 1 January 2022 R-TE-—_F—H—H 1,406,719
Credit to profit or loss (Note 11) RiEz=FEE (1) (480,551)
At 31 December 2022 RZFBZZF+-_A=+—8 926,168
Credit to profit or loss (Note 11) SR (M5 11) (926,168)
At 31 December 2023 R=-ZB=-=F+=HA=+-—H -
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(Continued)
FREMBERERMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)
HE-_T-_=F+-A=1+—H1EFE UGBTI

27. DEFERRED TAXATION (continuea)

Deferred tax liabilities (continuead)

27. BERIEA (&)

EEHIERE (#)

Accelerated tax

depreciation

R IR E

At 1 January 2022 RZE-_—_F—H—H 1,886,819
Charge to profit or loss (Note 11) RiERPEA(HEE11) (1,886,819)

At 31 December 2022, 1 January 2023
and 31 December 2023

RZE-_—_F#+=-A=+—8"
—E-=F—F—BXK

—E-=F+=-A=+—H -

At 31 December 2023, the Group has unused tax losses
of approximately HK$173,861,000 (2022: approximately
HK$170,490,000) available for offset against future
taxable profits that may be carried forward indefinitely.
The tax losses of approximately HK$2,757,000 (2022:
approximately HK$7,887,000) arising from subsidiaries
operate in the PRC will expire within 5 years. The Group
did not recognise deferred tax assets in respect of tax
losses for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.

28. SHARE CAPITAL

Number of
shares

RZZE_=F+=-A=+—8 &%
Bl 5 A8 ARIEREIBL A 173,861,000
75 7T (20224 : #7170,490,0007%8 7T)
Hul i R R ERB R A N &I
4% T AR - #92,757,0005% 7T (2022 :

#47,887,0008 7T) BFBRHLEN F A

RIFTEEMMIEEIE  ZEBBES
FAEE o B R RFE IR Al
TEORI M - RN B3 K B 2 2023 F 12
A31B R2022F12A31B L2 HFE
MR BEEERELEHRBEE -

28. &%

2023 2022
—E-=E§ B
Number of

shares

BRTRMERE

Issued and fully paid

Issued and fully paid ERTRARKRK

RR%A

REHA

At1Januaryand 31December  M—A—BR+-A=+—H  1,145,546,000 898,839,029 1,145,546,000 898,839,029
29. RESERVES 29. %

Details of changes in reserves of the Group are set out $E EREERS FRINENRZ

in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on IREEmEER -

page 80.
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(Continued)
FREMERERMEE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)
HE_ZT-=F+"A=1+—ALFE CUETIIR)

30. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through
the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The
Group's overall strategy remains unchanged from prior
year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt
(including trade and other payables and lease liabilities),
net of cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable
to owners of the Company, comprising issued share
capital, reserves and accumulated losses.

The Group is not subject to any externally imposed
capital requirements.

Gearing ratio

The management of the Group reviews the capital
structure on a regularly basis. As part of this review, the
management of the Group considers the cost of capital
and the risks associated with each class of capital.
Based on recommendations of the management, the
Group will balance its overall capital structure through
the payment of dividends, new shares issue as well as
the issue of new debts.

The gearing ratio at the end of the reporting period was
as follows:

30. REERER
AEEERHER  ARRAEE

TERKEEERERERT RN
BEBBICE KRB RS RR SR
Ol - NEE 2 BRERETF K -

AEBZEARBEEAG(BREES
LREMENEXRMEERE) HEM
ReFEBEUARARBFAEARNA
#m BRERTEREN #HHEERE
B8

REEIR B AN EIHE AT L

fELR

REBEEEETRHEHNENRERS -
AEBEEEEBEEREANAKARER
BR 2 B R e B\ B 1 7 2 B Ay A AR
- RETEENEZ AKESR
FERBRBR - BITHR M BEITHOE
AT BB EARNRRE -

BELERAFERRNAT

Debt (Note (i) &8 (BT G)) 11,281,185 10,986,513
Cash and cash equivalents ReMRe%E (39,473,290) (39,730,957)
Net debt BEFOF (28,192,105)  (28,744,444)
Equity (Note (ii)) A& A = (B & (i) 378,919,486 402,524,240
Net debt to equity ratio JFE A B AR AR 5t K N/A T iE A N/A 7~ F

Notes:

(i) Debt comprises trade and other payables and lease liabilities as
detailed in Notes 25 and 26, respectively.

(i) Equity includes all capital and reserves of the Group.

Wi

0] EHEEERDE I REMEMEANEER
B FHBD R 25 K 26

@iy  BAEDSENEEHAEE AR KR -
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e ERME (8)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)
HE-_ZT-=F+"A=1+—HALFE CUBTIIR)

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 1. &I R
(@) Categories of financial instruments (@) ¢eMIEDE

(b)

164

SREE
Financial assets at amortised cost &z 5k AR 51 BR 2 £ Bt

Financial assets

BE
—Trade and other receivables —E 5 N E b ERERH 1,811,629 891,173
— Cash and bank balances —IR& MIBITE 39,473,290 39,730,957
41,284,919 40,622,130
Financial assets at fair value BREBEREAALEBEES
through profit or loss L EBEE 95,073,000 104,515,000
Financial liabilities ERERS
Financial liabilities at amortised ~— BESERK AZIBR 2 S @B E
cost
— Trade and other payables —B 5 REMBERRR 10,568,683 9,032,838
— Lease liabilities —HE&aE 248,245 1,482,818
10,816,928 10,515,656

Financial risk management objectives
and policies

(b)

The Group’s major financial instruments include
trade and other receivables, cash and bank
balances, trade and other payables and lease
liabilities. Details of these financial instruments are
disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated
with these financial instruments include market
risk (currency risk, interest rate risk and other
price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies
on how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
The management manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

There has been no change to the types of
the Group’ s exposure in respect of financial
instruments or the manner in which it manages
and measures the risk.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Continued)

TEMBEHEERME (8)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)

BE_Z-_=F+-"A=1+—BILEE (AETIR)

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continuea) 31. €MI R %)

(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) SHEKEEBZEMBER (&)

and policies (continuead)
Market risk
Currency risk

Substantially revenue and cost of the Group are
denominated in the functional currency of the
Group entities, the management does not expect
significant foreign currency exposure in relation
to the exchange rate fluctuation between the
respective group entities’ functional currency and
other currencies.

Management periodically monitors foreign
currency exposures and considers hedging
significant foreign currency exposures should the
need arises.

Interest rate risk

The Group is not exposed to significant fair value
interest rate risk and cash flow interest rate
risk. The Group currently does not have interest
rate hedging policy. However, the management
monitors interest rate exposure and will consider
hedging significant interest rate exposure should
the need arise.

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through
its financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss.

™5 E R
SN 32 B HE

AREE T 2 Was KRR 2 IARRE
RAENEEHHE  REEER
HEEEERNINEEEEAM
ERZHENEXRNSH I EELS
RIMNE R

BIEEEREEINERR KREE
REFBERFLH HEAIMNER R -

Ve

AREE IR A | s~ SEN KR,
BLENBRERENRRR - AN
I3 35 By I 42 ) <R SRR - PR
BEEBEENXRAR ITHER
FBERE B PEAM KRR -

H 1t (8 15 7 2
AEEEBRREEEBBRER
RETENTREENRAKER

B o
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)

S

TEC=HF+ A=+ —HEFECABTIIR)

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continuea)

166

(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (continuead)
Market risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses have been determined
based on the exposure to equity price risk at the
reporting date. Sensitivity analyses for unquoted
equity securities with fair value measurement
categorised within Level 3 were disclosed in note
21.

The management will monitor the equity price
risk and take appropriate actions should the need
arise.

credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s
counterparties default on their contractual
obligations resulting in financial losses to the
Group. The Group's credit risk exposures are
primarily attributable to trade receivables, other
receivables and bank balances. The Group
does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements to cover its credit risk associated
with its financial assets, except that the Group
holds rental deposits from tenants for leasing of
properties.

Bank balances

The Group expects that there is no significant
credit risk associated with Bank balances since
they are deposited at state- owned banks
and other medium or large size listed banks.
Management does not expect that there will be
any significant losses from non- performance by
these counterparties.
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B 2 58 5 ) B U 47 22 Y 21
R -

BB BRI AN (E AR B R R
B REUE & o

1= 73 L B R AE BT

ERRBEREEERZHFELD -
EYEENBRRIOER - 5L
SENERERIEFANES
JE R~ B Al B MR RN SR 1T 45 B3
B xEEI AT HETAER D
HEMEE LRGN - AR
EREERBNEERR KRIE
SEEHEZVERFEZEP
MEERSE °

RITIFA

ASASERTHERFRREAR
RITMEAM PR S AR FHERTT -
AEEEHZELEERNEER
BRTERAZERHZHFMHR
EIEXERE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)

BE_Z_=F+_A=+—HIEFECAETITR)

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continuea)

(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)

credit risk and impairment assessment

(Continued)

Trade receivables

The Group has policies in place to ensure that sales
are made to customers with appropriate credit
history and the Group performs periodic credit
evaluations of its customers. The Group assesses
the credit quality of each customer by taking into
account its financial position, past experience
and other factors. Credit limits are reviewed on
periodic basis, and the finance department is
responsible for such monitoring procedures. In
determining whether provision for impairment
of receivables is required, the Group takes into
consideration the credit risk characteristics of
customers, ageing status and the likelihood
of collection and adjusted for reasonable and
supportable forward-looking information. In
this regard, the directors are satisfied that
the risks of impairment are monitored and
adequate provision, if any, has been made in the
consolidated financial statements. There was
no single customer contributing over 10% of the
total trade receivables of the Group. The Group
does not have any other significant concentration
of credit risk. The directors of the Company
closely monitor the subsequent settlement of
the customers. In addition, the Group performs
impairment assessment under ECL model on
trade balances individually or based on provision
matrix and credit-impaired individually and/or

collectively.

31. &@MI R
(b) eREMREEBEMBR (&)

fs AR B R E T (4)

B S EWARL

AEEEHERRABRAELS
BEFERENTLIELIHEE
MAREEMHERPETER
atfl o AR EEGEE B HE IR
nooBEERREMEZFES
AEPHMEELER -FERES
TR UHHAAREER
X-RETREEHEEMNEYNA
MERER  AEEEEEREK
BEPEERRR R MRk MUK
AREE XERAIG AERA
BB FFHATEEER - st
o OEEEMERRERRER
fRA B mRNEL B R E (10
B) UEBE-FFPERMAEHE
& W B 5 BR SR ABER Y 10% A L o
AEBYEETFAEMEAEES
FRER ARAEFEINERR
PHRBHEE - LI FEEHE
BHREEEREATEFRRE
EHETIEAREE ZREETH
B G WEBM RERYE
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e ERME (8)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)
HE-_ZT-=F+"A=1+—HALFE CUBTIIR)
31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 1. &I R &

(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) SHEKEEBZEMBER (&)

and policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Other receivables and deposits

For other receivables and deposits, the directors
of the Company make periodic assessment on the
recoverability of other receivables and deposits
based on historical settlement records, past
experience, and also quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportive
forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort. The Directors believe
that there are no significant increase in credit risk
of these amounts since initial recognition and the
Group provided impairment based on 12m ECL.

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures
and ECL for trade receivables.

fs AR B ARE T (4)

B JE WK 7 7

HREMEREFMEE  RAIE
SERBELGEERLE  BEW
Ko A RERE N EE KA
BANBERATRHNAE KA X
FRIEMERNEEMNEEER -
TE HART 4 H A FE W R AN 7 3R 9 B]
WEE - EEZRE BRVER
K B BENEERRR
EEN KRERERHTERTZ
BEANBEREERIRE -

TRFAMILE T E S REGREHE
ERRMBEHEERSX -

(GE 31-60 days Total

0-30 X 31-60 X RE

Trade receivables JEWE 5 5R

As at 31 December 2023 R2023%F 12 A31H

Expected loss rate BHEEX 8.69% -

Gross carrying amount EEBE 1,313,213 - 1,313,213
Loss allowance ARG 114,063 - 114,063
As at 31 December 2022 M2022%12A31H

Expected loss rate BHEEX 30.56% 30.56%

Gross carrying amount REAE 365,562 13,041 378,603
Loss allowance BEEE 111,732 3,985 115,717
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)
HE_T_=F+_A=+—BIEFECANETIITR)

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continuea)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

For trade receivables, the Group has applied the
simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the
loss allowance at lifetime ECL. Except for credit-
impaired balances, the Group determines the
expected credit losses on these items by using a
provision matrix, grouped by aged analysis.

The estimated loss rates are estimated based
on historical observed default rates over the
expected life of the debtors and are adjusted
for forward- looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort.

The movement in the loss allowance in respect of
trade receivables during the year was as follows.

Lifetime ECL
(not credit-
impaired)

RHEMEE
BXR(AEKRE

31. €MI R %)
(b) eREREEBEMBR &)

ERRRNBETE (&)

HREZRWF  AEEXRAE
B EERE IR AR
ARG EZHNALREERE
BEBNEERESR - FRIEER
BRI AEBEERZERERD
N EBTERARTETEELIAA
MIBHEREX -

HEHEREZRBEB AR H
BAESL LBRIINEOREE
WARBE IR A TEE R AR A
B R N AI S R AT RE & A TUE
T -

AERBHREFREEBNE
BIFRAT o

Lifetime

ECL (credit-
impaired)
2HEHEER
Bx

=

As at 1 January 2022

1= AR{E)

(FE ARE)

—H—H 49,634 76,792 126,426
Impairment loss ERERRESE
recognised 73,155 (73,155) -
Exchange realignment [ 2 G 2 (7,072) (3,637) (10,709)
As at 31 December 2022 W-Z -
+-—A=+—H 115,717 - 115,717
Exchange realignment fE R P (1,654) - (1,654)
As at 31 December RZEZ=F
2023 +=—HA=+—H 114,063 - 114,063
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)

BHE—

= —

TEC=HF+ A=+ —HEFECABTIIR)

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continuea)

170

(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

For other receivables and deposits, the directors
of the Group consider the probability of default
is minimal after assessing the counter-parties’
financial background and creditability. The Group
has assessed and concluded that the expected
credit loss rate for these receivables under 12m
ECL method after taken into account the historical
default experience, historical settlement records
as well as the loss upon default in each case and
are adjusted with forward-looking information.
As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group
recognised loss allowance of HK$3,871 and
HK$3,926 respectively, except for credit-impaired
receivables of HK$12,693,335 as at 31 December
2022 were assessed individually.

No additional loss allowance was made on
credit-impaired debtors, except for the effect of
exchange differences.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)
HE-Z-_=F+-A=1T—HLFECETITR)

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continuea) 1. &@MI R

(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) £EtEEEEEMBER (&)
and policies (Continuead)

Credit risk and impairment assessment 15 AR B MR B 5T & (&)
(Continued)

The movement in the loss allowance in respect AEGEEE A E R R ANIZ SR
of other receivables and deposits during the year REREZEBHBERAT

was as follows.

12m ECL Lifetime ECL

(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired)
ZHEHEE 2HEHGEE
BRQRE Bx
ERARE) (ERRE)
As at 1 January 2022 RZE——
—H—H 4,290 13,868,120 13,872,410
Impairment loss BRI EEE
recognised - - -
Exchange realignment PE R (364) (1,174,785) (1,175,149)

As at 31 December 2022 WH-—ZT—-—

+=—HA=+—H 3,926 12,693,335 12,697,261
Impairment loss EERREEE
recognised - - -
Write-off (Note) 7T 55 - (12,595,897) (12,595,897)
Exchange realignment P R (55) (97,438) (97,493)

As at 31 December R-E-=F

2023 +=—BA=+—H 3,871 - 3,871
Note: T
Other receivable amounted to HK$12,595,897 had been overdue H b EUR 12,595,897 BT C i H — ER B R
for a long period and had been written off during the year ended 31 WHRZZEZ=F+ZA=+—HIEFEMH -
December 2023. In the opinion of the Directors, such receivables EEZRE  ZEEWFIBL EEBULEITEE

have no reasonable expectation of recovery.
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“EC=F+ A=+ HLEFEAUETIIR)

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continuea)

172

(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (continueqd)
Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the
Group monitors and maintains a level of cash
and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the
management to finance the Group’s operations
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows.

Liquidity tables

The following tables detail the Group's remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities. The tables have been drawn up based
on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the
Group can be required to pay. The maturity dates
for other non-derivative financial liabilities are
based on the agreed repayment dates.

31. €MI R %)
(b) £RIEMEEBEMEEK &)

RBEERARER

REBERDETARE  KA&E
EENMERRE LRERELAHA
BRRNEEERSIREZIKFAX
RAKB 2 ENBERERE
ME) 2 TR

REE T

TRANAEBEREBEZHT
BHEHEBER  RFRERDIIA
MARERERABRKEER
BESRBRATRZ BRI
ZEMRRBRIB BN EE R ER
ERZ&FHMMETE 2R

Ay = —1
REME

More than
On demand 1 year but Total Carrying
or less than less than undiscounted amount at
1 year 2 years cash flows 31 December
RERSR BA—F ¥HHE +=A=1+-H
—ER BREBEWE Heme ZHEE
2023 —E-=E
Trade payables BHRNER 1,217,017 - 1,217,017 1,217,017
Other payables and rental deposits -4 & 4 B 3%
received 9,351,666 - 9,351,666 9,351,666
Lease liabilities HERR 248,245 - 248,245 248,245
10,816,928 - 10,816,928 10,816,928
2022 —E-CF
Trade payables BHEMER 1,103,193 - 1,103,193 1,103,193
Other payables and rental deposits -t & < BR 3%
received 7,929,645 - 7,929,645 7,929,645
Lease liabilities HEAE 1,294,428 215,738 1,510,166 1,482,818
10,327,266 215,738 10,543,004 10,515,656
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continuea)

(c) Fair value measurement of financial (c)
instruments

31. €MI R %)
ERMIAZAREERE

Itk B R 12 5 A B A 5= 1B n ] B SR
EReMEERSREBENAR

This note provides information about how the
Group determines fair values of various financial

assets and financial liabilities. (ER
Some of the Group's financial instruments are AEERREHAZE ST
measured at fair value for financial reporting BTVRANERE -

puUrposes.

There was no transfer among Level 1, 2 and 3
during the year (2022: Nil).

The fair values of the financial assets included
in the Level 3 categories have been determined
in accordance with generally accepted pricing
models based on a discounted cash flow analysis,
with the most significant inputs being the discount

FAVEBASELFE—  F -
DE=ZH(ZE_—F &) o

BEHEFE=MVZEMEENRR
EBENREVRRASRESTOA
REEBREAEE HPHIEZ
BHENERRRRZZEHFNE
ERBRZIFTIREK -

rate that reflects the credit risk of counterparties.

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value FE=ZRZ2RAAEFEYER
measurements

31 December 2023

Financial assets

at FVTPL

BB U R

AREZEMEE

Opening balance Bi¥I 84 %R 104,515,000
Total loss in profit or loss RERF 2 BEIE (9,442,000)
Closing balance HIR AR 95,073,000

T =FH o MBERERAR 173



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Continued)
e ERME (8)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)
BE-ZT-_=F+-A=+—BLFEETIR)
emIR &

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continuea) 31.

174

(c) Fair value measurement of financial
instruments (Continued)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value
measurements (Continued)

31 December 2022

(c)

TMIAZAAREEE @)

BRI AEFEHEKRE

—E-—F+-R=1+—8H

Financial assets

at FVTPL

BB AR

DABEZEREE

Opening balance HAYIEREE -

Purchases A 84,689,379
Addition due to deemed disposal of an R {EH E B L N T

associate 106,848,000

Disposals & (83,022,516)

Total loss in profit or loss RERF ZBEIE (1,573,866)

Exchange adjustments INEBER ZR A B (2,425,997)

Closing balance LN 104,515,000

Of the total gains or losses for the year included in
profit or loss, a loss of HK$9,442,000 (2022: loss of
HK$1,573,866) relates to financial assets as at fair
value through profit or loss held during the year.
Fair value gains or losses on financial assets as
at fair value through profit or loss are included in
“other gain and losses”.

The Directors consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial
liabilities recognised in the consolidated financial
statements approximate their fair values.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)
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32. OPERATING LEASES

The Group as lessor

Property rental income earned during the year was
HK$3,891,544 (2022: HK$4,511,972). All of the Group'’s
investment properties are held for rental purposes.

Minimum lease payments receivable on leases are as

follows:

32. EEHARH

AEBEHHBEA

RERNRBMZOERSKRAL A
3,891,544 7T (Z B = —4F : 4,511,972
,mc) K‘E@z&é%%%%ﬁf’ﬁﬁ
FAA®

HERWSEEERRNT

Within one year R—FR 3,165,994 1,774,058
In the second year REZF 1,757,862 108,000
In the third year RE=F 330,528 81,000

5,254,384 1,963,058

33. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES
ARISING FROM FINANCING

ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing
activities are those for which cash flows were, or future
cash flows will be, classified in the Group's consolidated
statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing
activities.

3. MEEHEENARYIR

TREAMILTHARMEEFSIBOHAK
SEaENEE - ’F}%fﬁéﬂ;lﬂﬁi
2 -REITIMELNBERE
i//luiﬁfrﬁj?ﬁxfﬁ%muiﬂ—rﬁ$%
EmmalenEgRrRTOBRRRER
%Fimfﬁimuif’

Lease liabilities HEEE
At 1 January Hw—A—H 1,482,818 239,739
Financial cash flow BERE M (1,294,428) (1,319,290)
Non-cash changes R EE
— Interest expense —F B H 59,855 96,737
- New lease entered —HEIAMEE - 2,430,841
- Others —Efh - 34,791
At 31 December R+=—A=+—H 248,245 1,482,818
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R ZF+ A=+ HALEFE CGABTIIR)
RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
("MPFE") Scheme under rules and regulations of MPF
Schemes Ordinance for all qualifying employees
in Hong Kong. The assets of the schemes are held
separately from those of the Group, in funds under the
control of trustees.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiary in the
Mainland China are members of a state-managed
retirement benefit scheme operated by the government
of the PRC. The subsidiary is required to contribute a
specified percentage of payroll costs to the retirement
benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation
of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit
scheme is to make the specified contributions.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, there were no
forfeited contributions available to offset future
employers’ contributions to the schemes.

The total expense recognised in profit or loss
of HK$1,152,120 (2022: HK$959,721) represents
contributions paid to these plans by the Group at
rates specified in the rules of the plans. There was no
outstanding contribution as at 31 December 2023 and
2022.
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35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Extension of operating period of Xiamen
Plaza

Pursuant to an agreement entered into by Yan Hei
and Railway Department on 1 October 1985 for co-
operation on the construction and operation of Xiamen
Plaza and as supplemented and amended subsequently
on 18 December 1987 and 21 January 1992 (the “CJV
Agreement”), the operating period for Xiamen Plaza will
end on 11 December 2016. On 6 June 2005 and 20 July
2005, the Company announced that, Yan Hei entered
into an extension agreement with Railway Department,
and Fujian Enterprises (Holdings) Company Limited
(“Fujian Enterprises”) (as a guarantor) on 9 May 2005
(“Extension Agreement”), in which, amongst others,
the operation period of Xiamen Plaza will be extended
for an additional 10 years up to 31 December 2025
and a change in the terms of the CJV Agreement in
respect of the annual amounts to be distributed by Yan
Hei to Railway Department. Pursuant to the terms of
the Extension Agreement, Yan Hei has agreed to pay
annual distributions to Railway Department during the
operating period of Xiamen Plaza up to year 2025 as set
out below:

2005 to 2006 . US$70,000 per year
2007 t0 2011 - US$100,000 per year
2012 to 2025 - US$200,000 per year

35.

MBtALTZZH
fiE = RO 2 A&

BECEABEAZATR—NANR
F+A—HIUUGEERZERKLS
ZBEZERXRBEBORNZ HE
(EBER— AN \tEtF+=ZA+N\AB
RK—hWNhZF—AZ+—H@xkiE
D (TEERZE]D  RBEZLEHBER
—E-RFE+_A+—HBHELE-R=
ffﬁi/\ﬁ/\ﬁ&_YYﬁEtﬂ
Z+H - ARBEEM CEEEER
&iﬁfﬁ(%.)ﬁﬁﬁ AI([EHEE])
EERNER-_ZEERFRANE
AVEREWR:E ((EEHRZ]) - BIEA
ErEIKEHBER_E_AF+=
A=Z+—B&ER - EEWHZEH(Hs
BE)BIINLERBEEELEZKEE
B+FE2-"T-_HAF+-_A=+—H"
TEREREFTFHCEDRTEER
ZHEAEBEER  BEBEERD
BIEF O CEEREREELEHHE

BEE TS _RAFINORTHEHER:

HEgmsHmT

—TETRER HEE70,000E T
—ETRF

—EELFE 4 100,000 7T
—E——4F

—E-—FF &4 200,000 7
—E-1F
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TEC=HF+ A=+ —HEFECABTIIR)

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

Extension of operating period of Xiamen
Plaza (continuea)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
commitments for future minimum lease payments
under the Extension Agreement which fall due as
follows:

35. MBkALTZXH (@)

iERFE 2 EEH &)

REERREER  AEERELER
ek 2 KRB KB KARRWT

Within one year —F R 1,560,000 1,560,000
In the second to fifth years inclusive M4 &= AF K 1,560,000 3,120,000
3,120,000 4,680,000

In addition, Fujian Enterprises irrevocably undertakes to
Railway Department that it will guarantee performance
by Yan Hei of its obligations under the CJV Agreement
(as amended and extended).

Railway Department is beneficially owned by the
State Railway Department. To the best knowledge,
information and belief of the directors of the Company,
having made all reasonable enquiries, Railway
Department is considered as an independent third
party, it has no effective interest in the operations of
Xiamen Plaza.

Fujian Enterprises is a trading conglomerate
incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability, and
under administration of Fujian Provincial State-owned
Asset Administration Commission of the PRC. Both
Fujian Enterprises and the Company are ultimately
owned by Fujian provincial government of the PRC.
There are no common directors among Fujian
Enterprises and any member of the Group.
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35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

Compensation of key management
personnel

The Directors of the Company are identified as
key management personnel of the Group and the
remuneration of key management during the reporting
period is set out in Note 13.

The remuneration of Directors is determined by
the Remuneration Committee having regard to the
performance of individuals and market trend.

Office rental and building management
fee of Fujian Holdings Limited company’s
office

Office rental and management fee were paid to
Fujian Properties Limited (“Fujian Properties”) for the
Company’s office at Unit 3306-08, 33rd Floor, West
Tower, Shun Tak Centre, 200 Connaught Road Central,
Hong Kong for a term of 3 years from 11 March 2019
to 10 March 2022. The rental agreement was renewed
in 2022 for a term of 2 years from 11 March 2022 to 10
March 2024. Both Fujian Properties and the Company
are ultimately owned by Fujian Huamin Industrial (Group)
Company Limited (“Huamin Industrial”). There is no
common directors among Fujian Properties and any
member of the Group.

35. MBkALTZXH (@)

TEEBASZHE

ARREER/AEBTZEREKE -
WENHRE AN L3 -

EXHMORES @H%A@ P E 5 E
AKRBETHBEMEE

REZRERLFABRLENESE
RMXERE

RARMEEYEER AR ([EEY
XD BEREBTHEFR200RERE
FROD P R 3342 3306 & 3308 5 B AL 2 it
REHELRERERY3IF B2
—hW&F=ZA+—HE2-_Z-_-_%=A
THIE - ZHEERBER T4
B2 H-_E-__F=-_A+—HZE
ZEZAF=RATH -ERYWEMK
AAEHBEERNEX (RE)ARA
A(EREX]) K EF - ERYME
MAEBENKE 2HWSEHFNES -

Interest expense on lease liabilities  H & & &7 & 59,855 96,737
Lease liabilities HEAE 1,234,573 1,222,553
Building management fee paid ENCHEERSE 163,608 163,608

1,458,036 1,482,898
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35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 3BL5. @BALTZRSR ®
(Continued)
Office rental and building management REZRERAGAMNAZENHES
fee of Fujian Holdings Limited company’s RYEEEE &)
office (continueaq)
Other than the office rental listed above, the group also A ERIERMBRAZTRES LI A
entered into the following related party transactions SEMEBE S RE S ERREOK
with related parties on terms mutually agreed by both TETUATEB RS -

parties during the year.

Name of related party Nature of transaction
BRES B RHME
Fujian Properties Expense relating to
short-term leases
EREYE RHHERENER 180,000 90,000
Lokford Limited (Note) Expense relating to
short-term leases
LRABBRAA REHEREBENER 192,000 96,000
Note: BEE -
Lokford Limited is controlled by Huamin Industrial. LRERARIBEREEME -
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36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 36. &2 T M # kR & & s &
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

Non-current assets FNRBEE
Property, plant and equipment EIN S 89,752 112,190
Right-of-Use assets. EHBEE 291,700 1,458,507
Investment properties wamxE 54,800,000 55,300,000
Investment in subsidiaries RMBRRZIKE 208,070,229 216,197,988
Financial assets at fair value FRBRERANEEEEZ
through profit or loss PREE 95,073,000 104,515,000
358,324,681 377,583,685
Current assets ' RBEE
Trade and other receivables g 5 N A W AR K 356,647 357,846
Cash and bank balances R & RIRTTAEER 12,241,645 3,545,208
12,598,292 3,903,054
Current liabilities REAE
Trade and other payables 2 5 NE A BR K 1,487,026 1,469,202
Lease liabilities i58E 248,245 1,234,573
1,735,271 2,703,775
Net current assets REBEEZRE 10,863,021 1,199,279
Total assets less current liabilities #BEERABEE 369,187,702 378,782,964
Capital and reserves BEXR A L
Equity attributable to owners of AR At AN #m
the Company
Share capital AR 898,839,029 898,839,029
Reserves [ (529,651,327)  (520,338,546)
Total equity RAERAEE 369,187,702 378,500,483
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Lease liabilities HERE - 248,245
Deferred tax liabilities EXETIERE - 34,236
- 282,481
369,187,702 378,782,964
The Company's statement of financial position was EFelN T -_NFEF=A=-+/\HBE
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of ? HE ZZ2 7 NAIB Bk
/

Directors on 28 March 2024 and was signed on its

behalf by:

Lin Nuchao
Mz
Director

EF

Sl 45 48 B e 5%

Yang Liyu
B E
Director
=

T_FH « REERARALH
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36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 36. A AFIMB KRR #EwE 2
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

(Continued)
Movement in the Company’s reserves EATREEE
Accumulated
losses
ZiTE#R
At 1 January 2022 RZE-_—_F—H—H (548,680,822)
Profit for the year ANEE 5 28,342,276
Other comprehensive income REEHMBEEA
for the year -
Total comprehensive income RFEEEEBRAREE
for the year 28,342,276
At 31 December 2022 and BT —-—
at 1 January 2023 +ZA=+—HK
—E-=%—F—H (520,338,546)
Loss for the year REEBE (9,312,781)
Other comprehensive income REEHMPEEA
for the year -
Total comprehensive expense for the year AFEERES LR (9,312,781)
At 31 December 2023 BE-_ZT-_=%
+=—A=+-—H (529,651,327)
37. COMPARATIVE FIGURES 37. LB F
Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to AETHEBEFEEHNHE UFER
conform with the current period’s presentation. HZ2®AN -
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Particulars of Property Interests
For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)
HE_T_=F+_A=+—BIEFECANETIITR)

Particulars of investment property interests held by the A&EBR T - —F+ - A=+—HHNHE

Group at 31 December 2022 are as follows: *ﬁ‘Z?xﬁ%%Eﬁ e BT
Gross Group'’s
Leasehold floor area Year of attributable
Investment properties expiry (square feet) completion interest
HMEEHES rEH
REWME HYERBH (FFR) & B 17 EiL R
Hong Kong
B8
Commercial
[k ZE S
Shop Nos. 1,3and 4 2047 10,464 1981 50%

on Ground Floor together
with open yard adjoining
thereto and the whole of
First and Second Floors,
Sun Ming Court,

Nos. 84-90

Castle Peak Road,

Sham Shui Po, Kowloon
TLEEFRKES —EEEF 10,464 —hN\—%F 50%
&1L 78 84-90 5%

¥R

T 3MA5%

JE & K2 A &
ZRIUAR—1E
k-ERE

units A, Cand D on 2047 8,340 1967 100%
21st Floor, Wing On House,

71 Des Voeux Road Central,

Hong Kong

BB —EAEF 8,340 — Nt F 100%
IR

EEHBER715%

KXELZEBKE

21EA-CKD=E
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Particulars of Property Interests (Continued)
MERIEFE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023 (in HK Dollars)
BE-ZT-_=F+-A=+—BLFEETIR)

Gross Group's

Leasehold floor area Year of attributable

Investment properties expiry (square feet) completion interest

BIZEESE rEE

REWE AN ERB (EHR) & B 17 FE 4 R 2=
Others

Hith
Motor cycle parking space 2047 - 1975 100%

Nos. 54, 55, 56, 57 and 58 of

Yuet Ming Building,

No. 52 Yuet Wah Street,

Kwun Tong, Kowloon

NEEEE —EEEF - —hthF 100%
A EH525%

A&

8554555657 %

58 5% & B B )AL
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